Effective Dissemination

A Systematic Review of Implementation Strategies for the AOD Field

Petra Bywood, Belinda Lunnay, Ann Roche

Effective Dissemination

A Systematic Review of Implementation Strategies for the AOD Field

Petra Bywood, Belinda Lunnay, Ann Roche



Effective Dissemination

A Systematic Review of Implementation Strategies for the AOD Field

Petra Bywood, Belinda Lunnay, Ann Roche

This report is the first part of a 3-part series.

Part One: Effective Dissemination: A Systematic Review of Implementation Strategies for the AOD Field

Part Two: Effective Dissemination: An Examination of the Costs of Implementation Strategies for the AOD Field

Part Three: Effective Dissemination: An Examination of the Theories and Models of Change for Research Dissemination

Reports can be downloaded from the NCETA website or hard copies are available on request.



Publication Details

Bywood, P.T., Lunnay, B. & Roche, A. M. (2008). Effective dissemination: A systematic review of implementation strategies for the AOD field. National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, Adelaide.

ISBN

1876897 147

2008

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced without prior written permission from the National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, available from: Level 3B Mark Oliphant building, Science Park, Bedford Park, South Australia 5042, Australia.

Any enquiries about or comments on this publication should be directed to:

Professor Ann Roche National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) Flinders University GPO Box 2100 Adelaide, South Australia 5001, Australia.

Published by National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction www.nceta.flinders.edu.au

Design and Layout

Inprint Design (08) 8201 3223 www.inprint.com.au

Project team (NCETA)

Dr Petra Bywood Ms Belinda Lunnay	Senior Research Officer Research Assistant
Professor Ann Roche	Director
Reference group	
Professor Steve Allsop	Director National Drug Research Institute (NDRI) Curtin University of Technology Perth
Associate Professor Libby Kalucy	Co-director Primary Health Care Research and Information Service (PHCRIS) Flinders University Adelaide
Ms Marian Shanahan	Health Economist National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre (NDARC) University of New South Wales Sydney
Ms Donna Bull	Consumer representative Alcohol and other Drugs Council of Australia (ADCA)

Related Publications

Bywood PT, Lunnay B and Roche AM.(2008) Strategies for facilitating change in AOD professional practice: A systematic review of the effectiveness of reminders and feedback. Drug and Alcohol Review, *in press*.

Bywood PT, Lunnay B and Roche AM.(2008) Effectiveness of opinion leaders for getting research into practice in the alcohol and other drugs field: Results from a systematic literature review. Drugs, Education, Prevention and Policy, *in press*.

Bywood PT. (2006) Judging the research: Tools for best practice. *Of Substance*, 4 (3): 28-29.



Table of Contents

1.	Executive Summary	1
2.	Rationale for the Review	9
3.	Introduction	11
	3.1. Burden of disease and prevalence of AOD problems	11
	3.2. Management and treatment of AOD-related problems	11
	3.3. Dissemination and implementation of innovations	13
4.	Objectives and Research Questions	15
	4.1. Primary objectives	15
	4.2. Research questions	15
5.	Methods	17
	5.1. Inclusion criteria	19
	5.2. Search Strategy	20
	5.3. Search terms	22
	5.4. Critical appraisal	22
	5.5. Data extraction and synthesis of evidence	23
	5.6. Statistical and methodological considerations	23
	5.7. Evidence base	25
	5.8. Methodological Quality	26
6.	Results – Summary of Evidence	27
	6.1. Stage 1: Existing systematic reviews	27
	6.2. Stage 2: Additional studies	28
7.	Professional Interventions	31
	7.1. Educational Materials	31
	7.2. Local Consensus Processes	34
	7.3. Educational Meetings (Continuing Medical Education)	36
	7.4. Educational Outreach Visits (Academic Detailing)	41
	7.5. Local Opinion Leaders (including Product Champions)	44
	7.6. Patient-Mediated Interventions	46
	7.7. Prompts and Reminders (including Decision Support)	48
	7.8. Audit and Feedback	53
	7.9. Financial Incentives	57
	7.10. Electronic Educational Sources	59
8.	Organisational Interventions	63
	8.1. Record and Office Systems	63
	8.2. Multi-Disciplinary Collaborative Approaches (Integrated care)	67
	8.3. Alternative Care Approaches	70
	8.4. Continuous Quality Improvement	72
9.	Other Interventions	75
	9.1. Mailouts	75
	9.2. Multi-faceted Interventions	76
10.	References	81
	Appendix A Checklists	89
	Appendix B Data Tables	93
	on the second	h

vii



1. Executive Summary

Introduction

Innovations, such as treatment interventions, programs and therapies, may be costly to develop and evaluate and there is increasing political and financial pressure to ensure that effective and cost-effective health care and professional services are available where needed. However, even when practitioners are aware of the evidence for best practice and are willing to change their behaviour, actually making the required changes in the context of long established patterns of behaviour can be difficult, particularly if the organisational environment is not conducive to change. Moreover, innovations are not self-executing. Even simple programs that require only small changes may benefit from an effective implementation strategy.

The National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) undertook a systematic literature review of the most commonly used strategies designed to increase the uptake of innovations into professional practice. Analyses were undertaken to evaluate their effectiveness and to determine their relevance and applicability for use in the alcohol and other drugs (AOD) field. By evaluating and synthesising the evidence from a wide range of sources, NCETA aimed to identify the key factors underlying successful dissemination strategies and develop a framework for dissemination and implementation of innovations in the AOD field.

Methods

A rigorous and systematic search of a wide range of electronic databases, journals, websites and bibliographies was undertaken, resulting in 4,650 citations. From these, a total of 651 potentially relevant articles were collected and examined. Pre-determined selection criteria were applied and the total evidence base for this review was 25 existing systematic reviews and 85 additional primary studies. Studies were critically appraised according to the strength of the evidence (level of evidence, quality of evidence and statistical precision), size of the effect and relevance of the evidence (NHMRC, 2000).

Sixteen dissemination and implementation strategies were evaluated. These are listed in Table 1.

The effectiveness of dissemination interventions were assessed in terms of:

- 1. Process outcomes: changes in behaviour or practice, and compliance with recommended guidelines
- 2. Patient outcomes: the impact of an intervention on patients' or clients' health status, functional ability, management of their problem and quality of life.

For each of the 16 dissemination strategies examined, a brief description, summary of the evidence on their effectiveness, key success factors, and relevance to the AOD field is provided (see Chapters 7-9).

Table 1. Dissemination and implementation strategies

	Professional interventions: to change knowledge / behaviour of individual nealth care professionals
	1. Educational materials
	2. Local consensus processes
	3. Educational meetings
	4. Educational outreach (academic detailing)
	5. Local opinion leaders
	6. Patient-mediated interventions
	7. Prompts and reminders
	8. Audit and feedback
	9. Financial incentives
	10. Electronic educational sources
	Drganisational interventions: to change the setting or systems in which health care professionals work
	11. Record and office systems
	12. Multi-disciplinary collaborative approaches
	13. Alternative care approaches
	14. Continuous quality improvement
C	Other interventions
	15. Mass media
	16. Multi-faceted interventions

Results

Overall, there was a paucity of evidence specific to the AOD field. Therefore, most evidence is drawn from the general health and medical fields. Available evidence was typically of average quality, with most studies prone to some degree of bias. Findings from the better quality studies indicated that some strategies may provide small improvements in professional practice, including preventive care, treatment, disease management and rehabilitation or palliative care.

Table 2 provides a summary of the 16 strategies assessed and their effectiveness for improving practitioners' behaviour and patients' outcomes in different clinical areas. Strategies that demonstrated more robust evidence of effectiveness, particularly in some clinical areas, are highlighted.

2

Strategy	Clinical areas	Process outcomes	Patient outcomes
Professional interventions			
1. Educational materials	Disease management	NS	NS
	Prescribing	+	NA
	Preventive care	NS	NA
2. Local consensus processes	Disease management	+	+
	Preventive care	+	NA
3. Educational meetings	Disease/pain management	+	+
	Prescribing/test ordering	+	NA
	Preventive care	++	+
	Counselling/communication	++	NA
	Diagnosis	NS	NS
4. Educational outreach visits	Disease/pain management	+	NS
	Prescribing/test ordering	++	NS
	Preventive care	+	+
5. Local opinion leaders	Adherence to guidelines	+	NS
	Prescribing	NS	NS
	Referrals	+	NA
6. Patient-mediated interventions	Disease management	NS	+
	Prescribing	+	NA
	Preventive care	+	NS
7. Prompts and reminders	Disease/pain management	++	+
	Prescribing/test ordering	++	+
	Preventive care	+++	NS
	Diagnosis	+	NS
	Adherence to guidelines	+	NS
8. Audit and feedback	Disease management	++	+
	Prescribing/test ordering	++	NA
	Preventive care	++	NA
	Adherence to guidelines	+	NS
9. Financial incentives	Preventive care	NS	NS
	General medicine	NS	NS
10. Electronic educational resources	Preventive care	+	NA
Organisational interventions			
11. Record and office systems	Preventive care	+	NA
12. Multi-disciplinary collaborations	Disease management	+	+
13. Alternative care providers	Disease management	+	+
14. Continuous quality improvement	Disease management	+	+
Other interventions			
15. Mailouts and mass media	Referral	NS	NA
16. Multi-faceted interventions	Disease/pain management	+	NS
	Prescribing/test ordering	+	NA
	Preventive care	++	+
	Diagnosis	NS	NA
	Counselling	+	NA

Table 2. Summary of effectiveness of all strategies across a range of clinical areas

+ indicates minimal effect in few outcomes; ++ indicates small improvement in most outcomes; +++ indicates robust improvement in most outcomes; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant. indicates more effective strategies From the available evidence, strategies found to be effective for changing the behaviour of individual health care professionals (professional interventions) were:

- Educational meetings
- Educational outreach
- · Prompts and reminders
- Audit and feedback.

Educational materials alone were not shown to be very effective for improving professional practice. However, their effect was enhanced when delivered in conjunction with other more effective strategies.

Opinion leaders have shown little evidence of effectiveness in changing practitioner behaviour. However, of the few studies undertaken to evaluate the effectiveness of opinion leaders, study quality was generally poor to average.

Compared to the literature evaluating the effectiveness of professional interventions, there were few available studies evaluating organisational strategies. However, results indicated that change at the organisational level is facilitated if implementation strategies consider the following factors:

- Clarity of purpose of a program or innovation
- Limitations of time and resources within an organisation
- Existing workloads and expectations
- · Staff cohesion, communication and openness to change
- Workplace culture.

Even if staff are aware of the need to change and accept that an innovation will fulfil their needs, the organisational culture may moderate the effectiveness of strategies used to facilitate uptake.

Multi-faceted interventions may also be useful across a broad range of AOD-related areas of practice. However, due to the heterogeneity of studies that comprised different combinations of interventions in diverse settings, it was not possible to identify which particular combination was most effective. Evidence showed that using more strategies was not necessary to improve practice; just a small number of well-chosen strategies targeted to the behaviour and tailored to the setting.

The strategies that were more consistently effective in areas that may be relevant for the AOD field are listed in Table 3:

Effective dissemination strategies	Clinical area (examples of AOD-related activities)	
Educational meetings (interactive)	Preventive care • Advice on smoking cessation • Advice on AOD use in pregnancy • Advice on risky drinking • Advice on risky drinking • Alcohol and / or drug screening • AOD contraindications with medications Treatment • Pharmacotherapy • Brief interventions • Motivational interviewing • Cognitive behavioural therapy • Referral to specialist	
Educational outreach visits	Preventive care Treatment Management and rehabilitation • Pharmacotherapy monitoring • Management of depression • Management of AOD-related illness • Management of relapse	
Prompts and reminders	Preventive care Treatment Management and rehabilitation	
Audit and feedback	Preventive care Management and rehabilitation	
Multi-faceted interventions	Management and rehabilitation	

Table 3. Summary of effective strategies for AOD-related activities in different clinical areas

Key findings

Of the 16 dissemination strategies evaluated in this review, the four most successful strategies that have shown benefits across different clinical areas were:

- 1. Interactive educational meetings
- 2. Educational outreach visits
- 3. Prompts and reminders
- 4. Audit and feedback.

Successful uptake of innovations into practice may be influenced by the characteristics of effective dissemination strategies and contextual factors that may facilitate or inhibit the implementation process. Knowing the key elements of successful implementation strategies means that time and resources will not be wasted on elements that do not enhance the implementation process. While the available evidence must be interpreted with caution, overall results indicate that the most successful implementation strategies include the following features:

- Clear and succinct message, with simple, focussed objectives that require small practical changes
- Reliable and credible source, with accurate, evidence-based information
- · Interactive format that is appealing, persuasive and encourages participation
- · Tailored information that is personalised and modified to the local setting
- · Relevance of information to the practitioner and their client needs
- · Clear identification of roles and activities
- Systems or procedures that are accessible and easy to use, with little effort required to comply
- · Assessment of, and focus on barriers to change
- Address changes at multiple levels, including the individual practitioner behaviour, organisational structure and culture, and health system policy
- Organisational changes that require practitioners to respond or take action (e.g., automatic prompts and obligatory responses)
- · Reinforced messages, with additional materials and support
- Sustainability of strategy over a prolonged period.

Contextual factors that may enhance the effectiveness of strategies included:

- · Identifying the need for change
- Making the target audience aware of the need to change and motivating them to change
- Providing adequate resources and staffing to integrate changes into existing systems
- Evaluating and monitoring the fidelity of an innovation over time to ensure that all staff are "with the program".

6

While few studies assessed the impact of dissemination strategies on client outcomes, those that did showed little or no benefit to clients' health, functional status, quality of life or satisfaction with treatment or service received. However, since studies were typically conducted over relatively short time periods, longer follow-up and reinforcement of changes may be necessary to detect sustained improvements at the level of the client.

In conclusion:

- 1. All strategies examined were effective to some extent
- 2. Some strategies appeared to be more effective than others in bringing about changes in practitioners' behaviour
- 3. No single strategy was effective in all situations.

Findings from this review highlight the need for the careful selection of dissemination strategies to ensure the best match with content area and target audience or behaviour. It also underscores the need for further and better quality research in the area of research dissemination in general, with the inclusion of suitable control groups. Given the lack of studies conducted in the AOD field, or pertaining to AOD-related issues, it is essential that dissemination and implementation strategies used in this area be evaluated appropriately where possible.

Evidence on costs of implementation strategies and the theoretical basis for using such strategies are addressed in two additional reports:

- 1. Effective dissemination: An examination of the costs of implementation strategies for the AOD field
- 2. Effective dissemination: An examination of the theories and models of change for research dissemination.



2. Lationale for the Leview

Substantial resources, both financial and human, have been invested into research and development of innovations, such as interventions, programs, procedures, or guidelines to reduce harms associated with alcohol and other drug (AOD) use. As a result, much is known about which innovations are effective. However, despite evidence of effectiveness of good quality interventions and programs, often little use is made of them to achieve important outcomes for clients with AOD-related problems. That is, effective interventions and programs are not self-executing and require additional dedicated effort to facilitate their implementation. This has led to the development of a broad range of dissemination and implementation strategies to introduce good quality research into practice.

However, the selection of strategies to encourage uptake and implementation of innovations is rarely based on rigorous evaluation of the effectiveness of different approaches, but rather on a variety of factors, including motivational, organisational and fiscal pressures. Grol (1997) suggests that *"evidence-based medicine should be complemented by evidence-based implementation"* (Grol, 1997). That is, the same strength of evidence should be used for determining which implementation strategies to use to get innovations adopted into practice as is used for determining which innovations / interventions to use to address clients' needs.

To achieve evidence-based implementation, the National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA) sought to identify and evaluate the effectiveness of dissemination and implementation strategies through the systematic literature review process, which aims to:

- Condense and integrate empirically-supported evidence gathered from a wide range of sources
- Minimise bias and the effects of chance, which are known shortcomings of non-systematic, narrative reviews
- Generate inferences that provide a basis for decision-making (Khan, Ter Riet, Glanville, Sowden, & Kleijnen, 2001).

This review focused on identifying and appraising dissemination strategies designed to increase the uptake and implementation of innovations by the alcohol and other drug (AOD) workforce. This project examined strategies designed to change professional and organisational practice at different phases of the research-to-practice process. In addition, this project sought to identify the key success factors of effective dissemination strategies that enable the innovations to be implemented.



3. Introduction

Evidence-based health care aims to deliver the best, most current evidence from research and apply it judiciously across the continuum of care, from prevention to palliation. However, one of the most consistent findings across all areas of health and medical research is the inevitable gap between evidence-based knowledge and the application of research findings in practice. This is due largely to the time lag between advances in clinical research and the dissemination of information that may improve the quality of health care. The terms "research-practice gap" or "failure of success" are commonly used to describe this trend (Backer, 2000; Robbins, Bachrach, & Szapocznik, 2002).

Although research may indicate that the use of specific innovations has the potential to provide significant benefits to patients or clients, the uptake and implementation of these innovations by practitioners is frequently limited. Even simple innovations require some degree of individual or organisational change stimulated by a dedicated implementation strategy. That is, information is a necessary but insufficient lever to induce change in professional practice or processes.

A key to the efficient adoption of research innovations into practice is determining:

"what works for whom, in what circumstances, and in what respects" (Pawson, 2006, p 25).

3.1. Burden of disease and prevalence of AOD problems

Problems associated with the use of alcohol and other drugs (AOD), and the well-established comorbidity with mental illnesses (Kessler, 2004), impact on individuals' health and the broader social environment, making a substantial contribution to morbidity and mortality across all age groups in Australia. The report, *Statistics on drug use in Australia 2006* (AIHW, 2007), showed that while smoking rates have declined over the period 1991 to 2004, drinking patterns have remained relatively unchanged over the last fifteen years. Use of various illicit drugs continues at worrying levels with substantial increases in some instances (as in the case of methamphetamine) and some recorded decreases (as in the case of cannabis). In 2003, approximately 8% of the burden of disease was attributable to the use of tobacco, 3% to alcohol use and 2% to illicit drug use (AIHW, 2007).

The impact of substance-related problems on individual health includes the development of cancers, heart disease, infectious diseases, road and workplace fatalities / injuries and danger to the health of infants born to mothers affected by substance-related problems. In the social environment, suicide, road fatalities and injuries (passengers, pedestrians, occupants of other vehicles), assaults, domestic violence and unemployment are potential consequences of alcohol and / or drug-related problems (Collins & Lapsley, 1996; NHMRC, 2001).

3.2. Management and treatment of AOD-related problems

A wide range of research-based innovations, such as treatment interventions, tools (e.g., those used for screening), programs and guidelines, have been developed to minimise harms related to AOD use. These innovations may be applied across the continuum of health care, including preventive health, treatment of acute or chronic dependence, substance use management and rehabilitation of clients with AOD problems and / or associated mental illnesses. Box 1 lists examples of AOD-related activities across the continuum of care that may benefit from effective dissemination of innovations.

Box 1. AOD-related activities

Level of Care	Examples in AOD field
Preventive care	Advice on smoking cessation
	Advice on alcohol or drug use in pregnant women
	Advice on risks of alcohol or drug use (e.g., risky and high risk drinking)
	Alcohol or drug screening
	Contraindications of alcohol use with other medication
Treatment	Prescribing of pharmacotherapies or therapeutic drugs for treatment of dependence (e.g., methadone, nicotine replacement therapy)
	Briefinterventions
	Motivational interviewing
	Cognitive behavioural therapy
Management	Maintenance and management of clients on pharmacotherapies (e.g., outcome monitoring for opioid substitution treatment)
	Management of depression and other psychological conditions associated with use of AOD
	Management of chronic illness related to use of AOD (e.g., hepatitis C, liver cirrhosis, HIV)
Rehabilitation	Management of relapse in clients with AOD dependence
Palliative care	Treatment for clients with terminal illness related to use of AOD (e.g., cancer)

Effective innovations have the potential to minimise the deleterious effects of harmful AOD use. Although a number of successful interventions have been identified and, in some cases empirically validated, their adoption into clinical practice has often been limited. For example, brief interventions used as a secondary prevention strategy for problem drinkers, smokers and in some instances, illicit drug users, are generally effective. However, while brief intervention, which has also demonstrated cost-effectiveness (Effective Health Care Bulletin, 1993; Wutzke, Shiell, Gomel, & Conigrave, 2001), led to 10-16% reduction in alcohol use in intervention groups compared to no-intervention control groups (Moyer, Finney, Swearingen, & Vergun, 2002), its uptake into practice has been slow (Roche & Freeman, 2004). In contrast, regardless of evidence that school-based drug education interventions have little or no long-term effect on reducing or preventing drug and alcohol use in young people, they continue to be used extensively (Foxcroft, 2005; Kaner et al., 2007; White & Pitts, 1998).

Despite substantial investment of resources into the development, validation and evaluation of effective innovations (across all areas of research), once distributed, they frequently languish unused due to lack of investment into helping potential users understand, adopt and implement the innovation. That is, dissemination of validated innovations or best practice may not result in sustained changes at the individual, organisational, or community levels unless efforts are made to support and facilitate the uptake of the innovation.

3.3. Dissemination and implementation of innovations

3.3.1. Definitions and terms

For the purposes of this review, innovations are the treatments, programs, preventive care and other activities aimed at clients; whereas dissemination or implementation strategies are the efforts used to facilitate adoption of innovations into practice and are aimed at the level of the practitioner or organisation. While the term "intervention" is used to describe some clinical actions aimed at clients (e.g., brief intervention), in this review it refers primarily to the specific implementation interventions (strategies) evaluated in the studies.

Dissemination and implementation are two separate, yet related processes that represent the end-point goal of successful adoption of an innovation into practice. Dissemination is the process of informing others of an innovation, whereas implementation follows the decision to adopt an innovation and refers to how the innovation is put into practice (Gotham, 2004).

Information dissemination and implementation, knowledge transfer, knowledge translation, information transfer, technology transfer and diffusion of innovation are all terms used to describe the mechanisms needed to transmute research findings into effective changes in health practice or policy. Dissemination strategies are defined in this report as any strategy used to facilitate the dissemination and implementation of innovations, such as programs, tools, interventions, or guidelines, through a planned or systematic process. They include not only the distribution of innovations, but also the activities that occur between the development of an innovation and its application in an appropriate setting. Dissemination is an active process that involves a cascade of events, which are not necessarily linear in nature, and a collection of stakeholders, such as researchers, healthcare providers, program evaluators, administrators, frontline workers, organisations and public policy makers.

3.3.2. Research - to - practice gap

Research on dissemination strategies spans diverse fields from agriculture to manufacturing and medicine and includes both 'hard' technologies, such as specialised equipment or computer programs, and 'soft' technologies, such as educational techniques or training workshops (Schoenwald & Hoagwood, 2001). One of the most common tools for improving the quality of health care is clinical practice guidelines (CPGs). While the development of disease-specific CPGs is well-established, strategies for disseminating information and implementing change in health care practice have been applied inconsistently and studies indicate that the extent to which CPGs are incorporated into clinical practice is disappointing (Karuza et al., 1995). For example, gaps between the development of evidence-based best practice, such as CPGs, and the actual use of such guidelines has led to the underuse, overuse, or misuse of health care services (Chassin & Galvin, 1998). In a review of 48 studies on quality of care in the US, less than 50% of patients received the recommended care. Moreover, in 20-30% of cases, the care given ranged from ineffective to potentially detrimental (Schuster, McGlynn, & Brook, 1998).

The underlying reasons for the gulf between formulating best practice and implementing best practice have been debated at length. Uptake and implementation of innovations typically require changes in professional practice that may occur at several different levels – patient / client, health care provider, health care team, health care organisation, or the wider environment (e.g., public policy changes). Barriers to uptake may be related to knowledge, existing culture or belief system of a group, routine practices, available resources, or individual characteristics of the providers, end-users and the innovation to be implemented.

There are three key elements to consider when addressing the research – to – practice gap. They are:

- Attributes of the evidence supporting a change in practice: While evaluation of such attributes is beyond the scope of this review, evidence supporting the use of dissemination strategies is drawn from studies that used dissemination strategies to implement a wide range of innovations. Such innovations vary in complexity from practice that is relatively easy to change, has clearly defined benefits and is wellaccepted by practitioners, to practice that requires more effort to change behaviour and / or organisational systems and has less robust evidence base to support the change. In the latter case, practitioners may feel less willing to comply with changes that they are not convinced will be beneficial. Thus, the attributes of the innovation that is being implemented may impact on the results of studies evaluating the dissemination strategies used to facilitate implementation.
- 2. Barriers and facilitators to changing practice: Contextual factors including costs, availability of resources (human and financial) and the prevailing culture within a workplace may also impact on the capacity and commitment to change. While barriers and facilitators are discussed in the context of the evidence, a comprehensive and systematic examination of the barriers and facilitators to change was beyond the scope of this review.
- 3. Effectiveness of dissemination and implementation strategies.

3.3.3. Dissemination of AOD-related materials, programs and services

The dissemination challenge in the AOD field is complicated further by a combination of characteristics that distinguish the AOD workforce from other healthcare workers (Skinner, Freeman, Shoobridge, & Roche, 2003). Frontline workers in the AOD field come from a broad range of disciplines and backgrounds, including medicine, social work, psychology, teaching and the criminal justice system. As a result, their educational qualifications, training in AOD issues, and understanding or appreciation of research varies considerably. In some sections of the AOD workforce, other factors, such as the rapid turnover of staff, poor pay, and overall low status, may impact on their capacity and motivation to adopt new research concepts and implement innovations. Consequently, effective dissemination strategies must bridge the conceptual and cultural distance between the research centre and the AOD workforce. This may require tailoring dissemination strategies for the very disparate target audiences that make up the AOD workforce.

4. Objectives and Lesearch Questions

4.1. Primary objectives

- To undertake a systematic literature review of the effectiveness of different dissemination and implementation strategies that are used in, or relevant to, the AOD field (i.e., dissemination of innovations used by the AOD workforce).
- To identify key success factors / components of the dissemination strategies that influence uptake and implementation.
- To develop a framework for dissemination strategies relevant to the AOD field.

4.2. Research questions

The primary research question was:

• Which dissemination and implementation strategies are most likely to be effective in encouraging uptake of innovations by workers in the AOD field?

Secondary research questions were:

- Which strategies have been used to influence changes in the work practices of health care professionals, allied health care workers, or frontline workers in the AOD field?
- Have these strategies been successful in changing individual behaviour and workplace practices?
- What are the key factors underlying the successful uptake and implementation of dissemination strategies?
- · Which dissemination strategies are likely to be relevant to the AOD field?



5. Methods

Research on the effectiveness of dissemination strategies and the barriers to, or facilitators of, dissemination and implementation strategies is extensive. A scoping search revealed two important features in the literature:

- Systematic reviews and studies evaluating dissemination strategies specifically in an AOD setting or pertaining to AOD-related issues were sparse
- The literature evaluating dissemination strategies in the general medical field was abundant.

Therefore, this project was conducted in two stages:

Stage 1: A descriptive evaluation of *existing systematic literature reviews* of dissemination research in medical and health literature.

The scoping search revealed a number of existing systematic reviews that were used to inform this project. Although the focus of some reviews varied from that of this study (e.g., broad or specific strategies; targeted behaviours; characteristics of the target groups; barriers to implementation), studies that were included in those existing reviews were also deemed to be relevant to this project.

Since several existing reviews contained many of the same studies, another systematic review of essentially the same body of research was unwarranted. Therefore, to avoid unnecessary duplication of effort, existing systematic reviews were critically appraised and an overview of the findings from the highest quality reviews is presented. In particular, effective dissemination and implementation strategies pertaining to workers in the AOD field were examined.

Stage 2: A systematic search and evaluation of research on dissemination strategies relevant to the AOD field.

Literature searches were extended to include relevant *additional studies* that were not covered by existing systematic reviews and studies that focused specifically on AOD–related problems or were set in an AOD context. Given that AOD-related problems frequently co-occur with mental health problems, search terms were expanded to include the mental health literature.

For this report, dissemination interventions were allocated to categories that have been described previously by the Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) review group taxonomy (EPOC, 2002). For interpretive purposes, these categories have been separated into 16 professional, organisational and 'other' strategies (see Table 4).

Table 4. List of interventions for dissemination and implementation (modified from EPOC taxonomy) $^{\rm a}$

Type of strategy	Description	
1. Professional Intervention	s - oriented to changes in professional practice	
Educational materials	Distribution of published / printed recommendations for care, including clinical practice guidelines, audiovisual materials and electronic publications. Materials are delivered personally or through mass mailings.	
Local consensus processes	Inclusion of participating providers in discussion to ensure that they agree that the chosen clinical problem is important and the approach to managing the problem is appropriate. E.g., modification of clinical practice guidelines to local setting.	
Educational meetings (continuing medical	Healthcare providers participate in conferences, lectures, workshops or traineeships.	
education)	<i>Didactic</i> – minimal participant interactions (lectures, seminars) <i>Interactive</i> – participation with discussion or practice (workshops)	
Educational outreach visits (academic detailing)	Use of a trained person who meets with providers in their practice setting to give information with the intent of changing the provider's practice.	
Local opinion leaders (includes product champions)	Use of providers nominated by their colleagues as 'educationally influential'. The investigators explicitly state that their colleagues identified the opinion leaders.	
Patient-mediated interventions	New clinical information (not previously available) collected directly from patients and given to the provider.	
Prompts and reminders (including decision support)	Patient- or encounter-specific information, provided verbally, on paper, or on electronically, which is designed to prompt a health professional to recall information. This usually occurs through general education, in medical records or by interactions with peers, reminding them to perform or avoid some action to aid individual patient care. Computer-aided decision support and drugs dosage are included.	
Audit and feedback	Any summary of clinical performance of healthcare over a specified period. The summary may also include recommendations for clinical action. The information may be obtained from medical records, computerised databases or observations from patients.	
Financial incentives	Any payment system that rewards health care providers for specified clinical actions. Examples include fee-for-service, target payments, and capitation.	
Electronic educational sources	Healthcare providers use electronic, internet, ,or on-line databases to access information relevant to all levels of health care for patients.	
2. Organisational interventi	ons - oriented to changes in organisational practice	
Record and office systems	Any structured or unstructured system used for storage and exchange of information. Examples include electronic medical records, care plans, flow charts.	
Multi-disciplinary collaborative approaches (integrated care)	Use of complementary inter-professional collaborations (nurses, physicians, psychologists, pharmacists, dieticians) to plan care for patients. Examples include integrated care, collaborative care, continuity of care.	
Alternative care approaches	Use of alternative health professionals, such as nurse practitioners, or alternative settings, such as specialist clinics, to deliver specialised program of care. Examples include revision of professional roles; chronic care clinics; and therapeutic communities.	
Continuous quality improvement	Any iterative process for improving the quality of health care that involves repeated cycles of "plan-do-check-act".	
3. Other interventions		
Mass media	1. varied use of communication that reaches great numbers of people including television, radio, newspapers, posters, leaflets and booklets, alone or in conjunction with other interventions.	
	2. targeted at the population level.	
Multi-faceted interventions	Use of more than one strategy in combination or sequentially.	

^a This table has been modified from the EPOC taxonomy (EPOC, 2002). Some strategies, which were described by EPOC, were not included here as no studies or existing reviews met the inclusion criteria for evaluation.

5.1. Inclusion criteria

Studies were included in the review if they satisfied predetermined inclusion criteria (Table 5) and provided relevant information addressing the research questions. Uncertainties about inclusion status were resolved by group consensus.

Selection criteria	Inclusion criteria
Target audience	Health care organisations or groups of health care professionals that implement strategies to deliver health services. These health care organisations include hospitals, clinics, rehabilitation centres, or groups of staff working together as a team (doctors, nurses, mental health workers), social workers, psychologists, counsellors, youth workers, crisis care workers, ambulance officers, pharmacists, public health workers, general welfare workers, police, school counsellors, teachers, correctional services officers, drug treatment providers).
Intervention	Dissemination and implementation strategies to induce change in professional practice or process (see Table 4). Information is required on the method of dissemination, the process of implementation, the target group adopting the innovation, the materials used in the intervention, and the client group targeted for improved health outcomes. Studies evaluating the effectiveness of the individual innovations (e.g., brief interventions, cognitive behavioural therapy) being disseminated are excluded.
Comparator	"Usual" or standard dissemination strategies, including no intervention or passive dissemination strategies (e.g., mailout of clinical practice guidelines or standard training session).
Outcomes	Effectiveness:
	<i>Process outcomes:</i> - Any objective measures of utilisation of innovation – assessment of participation (change in practice or process, including surrogate outcomes (e.g., audit of records / charts, +/- feedback); measures of compliance with innovation (fidelity to intervention); assessment of participant satisfaction; assessment of efficiency (change in productivity of organisation).
	If objective measures are lacking – subjective measures, such as self-report questionnaires may be included if they include longer-term follow-up evaluation (e.g., >3 months after intervention).
	<i>Client outcomes:</i> Any objective measures of impact of implementing the innovation on clients – patient functional ability or health status, number of hospitalisations, patient / client ability to manage their disease / drug problem, patient / client quality of life, satisfaction with intervention.
Study design	<i>Limited to comparative studies:</i> systematic reviews of controlled studies; randomised controlled trials; quasi-experimental controlled studies (e.g., cohort studies), controlled before-and-after studies, interrupted time series with at least 3 measures before and 3 after implementation.
Study duration	A study period of at least 3 months is preferred to demonstrate a sustainable change. If unavailable, a shorter study period will be considered.
Language	Restrict to English language publications, unless the study provides a higher level of evidence.
Baseline performance	Baseline measurements or control group performance must be included when assessing effectiveness so that potential "ceiling effects" may be determined.

Table 5. Study selection criteria

5.2. Search Strategy

The medical and health literature was searched to identify:

- relevant systematic reviews on dissemination strategies used to improve the uptake and implementation of innovations across all areas of health care (Stage 1).
- relevant recent research (not included in existing systematic literature reviews) that evaluated the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness¹ of dissemination strategies in the general and medical fields, including the AOD and mental health fields (Stage 2).

The search period was 1966 to March 2005. Table 6 lists the bibliographic databases that were used for these searches. Table 7 lists other potentially relevant sources of literature that were canvassed, including grey literature.

Table 6. Bibliographic databases

Electronic database	Time period
AustHealth	1997 – March 2005
Australian Medical Index	1996 – March 2005
Australian Public Affairs Information Service (APAIS) - Health (Informit)	1990 – March 2005
Cinahl	1977 – March 2005
Cochrane Library – including, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), the Health Technology Assessment Database, the NHS Economic Evaluation Database	1966 – March 2005
Current Contents	1993 – March 2005
Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) register	1995 – March 2005
Health Services/technology assessment text (HSTAT)	www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/bv.fcgi?rid=hstat
National Coordinating Centre for Health Technology Assessment	www.hta.nhsweb.nhs.uk/
PubMed and Medline	1966 – March 2005
PapersFirst	1993 – March 2005
PsycInfo	1983 – March 2005
Web of Science – Science Citation Index Expanded	1995 – March 2005

¹ Cost considerations are included in a separate associated report.

Table 7. Other sources of information

Specialty Websites	Website address
National	
Alcohol and other Drugs Council of Australia (ADCA)	www.adca.org.au/resource/
Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health, Northern Territory	www.crcah.org.au
Drug and Alcohol Services of South Australia (DASSA)	www.dassa.sa.gov.au/site/page.cfm
Menzies School of Health Research, Darwin, Northern Territory	www.menzies.edu.au/
National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre (NDARC), Sydney	ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ndarc.nsf
National Drug Research Institute (NDRI), Perth	www.curtin.edu.au/curtin/centre/ncrpda/
National Institute of Clinical Studies (NICS), Melbourne	www.nicsl.com.au
Primary Health Care Research and Information Service (Australia)	www.phcris.org.au/resources/research/ dissemination_frameset.html
International	
Addiction Technology Transfer Center (ATTC), Missouri, USA	www.nattc.org/resPubs/techTransfer.html
Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF), Canada	www.chsrf.ca/
Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Canada	www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/8505.html
Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, (CRD), York, UK	www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/
Getting Research into Policy and Practice (GRIPP), UK	www.jsiuk-gripp-resources.net/gripp/do/ viewPages?pageID=1
Health Services Research Unit - University of Aberdeen (Scotland)	www.abdn.ac.uk/hsru/epp/index.shtml
Knowledge Integration and Network Expertise (Germany)	www.tim.rwth-aachen.de/forschung/kinx2/index.php
National Center for the Dissemination of Disability Research (NCDDR), Texas, USA	www.ncddr.org/
National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), USA	www.nida.nih.gov/
North East Addiction Technology Transfer Network (NeATTC), Pittsburgh, USA	www.neattc.org/index2.html
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), USA	www.samhsa.gov/index.aspx
Specialty Journals	Location
Addiction	Library or electronic access
Alcohol and Alcoholism	Library or electronic access
Drug and Alcohol Review	Library or electronic access
Health Education Research	Library or electronic access
Health Services Research	Library or electronic access
Journal of Community Psychology	Library or electronic access
Journal of Continuing Education for Health Professionals	Library or electronic access
Journal of Drug Issues	Library or electronic access
Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment	Library or electronic access
Preventive Medicine	Library or electronic access
Social Science and Medicine	Library or electronic access

5.3. Search terms

Electronic databases were searched using a combination of MeSH headings and text words, including the following: *Dissemination* – information dissemination, diffusion of innovation, technology transfer, knowledge transfer, knowledge translation, implementation, continuing medical education, reminders, prompts, opinion leaders, academic detailing, educational outreach, feedback, decision support; *AOD and mental health* – substance-related disorders, addictive behaviour, substance abuse, substance use, addiction, dependence, alcohol abuse, mental health service; *Study population* – health personnel, professional practice, social work, police, doctor, nurse, physician, clinician, health worker, social worker, counsellor, teacher; and *Study design* – randomised controlled trial, comparative study, cohort study, multicenter study, random allocation, meta-analysis, review.

5.4. Critical appraisal

The evidence reported in studies that met the inclusion criteria were assessed according to the dimensions of evidence defined by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC, 2000). These dimensions of evidence (Table 8) contain three domains:

- Strength of the evidence, which includes the level of evidence, quality of evidence and statistical precision
- · Size of the effect
- · Relevance of the evidence.

Table 8. Dimensions of evidence

Type of evidence	Definition
Strength of the evidence	
Level of evidence	The study design used, as an indicator of the degree to which bias has been eliminated by design.
I	Evidence obtained from a systematic review of all relevant randomised controlled trials.
II	Evidence obtained from at least one properly-designed randomised controlled trial.
III-1	Evidence obtained from well-designed quasi-randomised controlled trials (alternate allocation or some other method).
III-2	Evidence obtained from comparative studies (includ8ing systematic reviews of such studies) with concurrent controls and allocation not randomised, cohort studies, case-control studies, or interrupted time series with a control group.
III-3	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with historical control, two or more single arm studies, or interrupted time series without a parallel control group.
IV	Evidence obtained from case series, either post-test or pre-test / post-test.
Quality of evidence	The methods used by investigators to minimise bias within a study design.
Statistical precision	The p-value or, alternatively, the precision of the estimate of the effect. It reflects the degree of certainty about the existence of a true effect.
Size of the effect	The distance of the study estimate from the "null" value and the inclusion of only clinically important effects in the confidence interval.
Relevance of evidence	The usefulness of the evidence in clinical practice, particularly the appropriateness of the outcome measures used.

Methodological components, such as concealment of allocation, blinding and completeness of data, have been shown to impact on treatment effect sizes (Moher et al., 1998; Schulz, Chalmers, Hayes, & Altman, 1995) and are included in the checklists, which are provided in Appendix A. These checklists were used to assess the quality of systematic reviews (Khan et al., 2001), comparative studies (EPOC, 2002) including randomised and concurrently controlled trials, controlled before-and-after studies and interrupted time series, and cohort studies (Downs & Black, 1998).

5.5. Data extraction and synthesis of evidence

Reference citations from all literature sources were collated into an Endnote 10.0 library and duplicates were removed. If it was clear from citation information that studies did not meet the inclusion criteria, they were excluded, without retrieval. All other studies were retrieved for full-text assessment. Additional studies were collected by pearling² the reference lists of articles that met the selection criteria. These additional relevant studies were critically appraised and all studies that satisfied the inclusion criteria formed the evidence base.

Using tables developed *a priori*, data for each of the relevant outcomes were extracted from the included studies by two researchers (PB and BL) and checked by each researcher for face validity. Tables of data from included studies for each of the 16 groups of dissemination interventions are provided in Appendix B.

5.6. Statistical and methodological considerations

All studies were examined for potential unit of analysis errors. Unit of analysis errors occur when the unit of allocation is the health care organisation, or group, and the unit of analysis is the individual client, or patient, as if there were no clustering by organisation or provider. This type of error overestimates the power of the study unless the clustering effect is adjusted for. Although the point estimate is not affected by a unit of analysis error, making it possible to examine the size of an effect, it is not appropriate to determine its statistical significance as it results in spuriously low p-values or artificially narrow confidence intervals (Grimshaw et al., 2003), thereby potentially overestimating the effectiveness of an intervention.

A key factor in determining the effectiveness of particular strategies is to ensure that baseline scores between intervention and control groups are similar. Where they are not similar, it is important that such baseline differences be adjusted for, using appropriate statistical techniques. Thus, the final "post-intervention" measure reflects "real" changes, rather than differences that may have been present at baseline. Where baseline measures in intervention and control groups indicate that the usual procedures may be adequate (e.g., high percentage of participants already comply with best practice guidelines, demonstrating a "ceiling effect"), then the intervention used has little scope to demonstrate improvement. Studies that did not collect baseline measures were excluded. A decision tree regarding baseline measures was used by researchers when extracting data (see Figure 1).

² Pearling involves searching the reference lists of studies that were included for assessment to identify additional relevant studies that were not located through the initial search strategy. Potentially relevant additional studies were then subjected to the selection criteria and critical appraisal procedures.



Figure 1. Decision tree for managing baseline data

Where baseline and follow-up data were reported for both intervention and control groups, a within-groups change score and between-groups relative change was calculated.

Follow-up score – baseline score = change score Change score (intervention group) / change score (control group) = relative change

If the same data were reported in more than one published paper, only results from the most comprehensive or most recent article were included. Members of the reference group were contacted and requested to provide information on additional published or unpublished reports that were not identified in the literature searches.

The heterogeneity in settings, interventions, populations and outcome measures of the included studies, and the frequency of potential unit of analysis errors precluded conducting a formal meta-analysis. Vote-counting methods (Table 9), which have been used in several systematic reviews to determine the effectiveness of strategies, were not used in this review. This approach has several weaknesses for interpreting research findings. It is an inefficient use of statistical information, which fails to consider the effect size or the precision of the estimate of the effect, and ignores some negative and inconclusive results.

Table 9. Vote-counting methods

Description of vote-counting methods	Limitations
Add positive and negative comparisons across included studies	Ignores some negative and inconclusive results
Add the number of comparisons with statistically	Fails to consider effect size
significant effects	Fails to consider the precision of the estimate
Positive = statistically significant change in majority of outcomes measured (intervention is better than control)	Potential for publication bias as studies with unit of analysis errors are generally excluded
Negative = statistically significant change in the opposite direction (control is better than intervention)	
Inconclusive = no significant change or no overall positive findings	

Source: (Gill et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2004)

An alternative approach was used, whereby results were synthesised descriptively. All studies that were included and assessed for effectiveness were given a quality rating according to their efforts to minimise bias, as described in the EPOC checklist (EPOC, 2002) (Appendix A). Studies were described as:

- Good (i.e., good protection against bias) if more than five criteria (out of a total of seven criteria) were 'DONE'
- Average if 4-5 criteria were 'DONE'
- · Poor if less than four criteria were 'DONE'.

Standard statistical principles were used to determine statistical precision. Where possible, the effect size associated with outcomes in the included studies was assessed qualitatively. Effect sizes were described as small (\leq 5% improvement in practice); modest (>5% and \leq 10%); moderate (>10% and \leq 20%); and large (>20%).

5.7. Evidence base

The initial search, which resulted in 6,100 citations published between 1966 and March 2005, was reduced to 4,650 following the removal of duplicates. Over 80% of citations were excluded during an initial screening of titles and abstracts.

The main reasons for article exclusion of articles included:

- Article type narrative reviews, case reports, editorials, letters, or discussion / opinion papers
- Inappropriate study design no controls, no baseline measures
- Inadequate data no relevant outcomes reported (may be due to poor reporting of results or lack of adequate comparator)
- Inappropriate interventions evaluation of individual interventions or treatments, such as psychopharmacotherapy (i.e., not dissemination strategy)
- Multiple reports duplication of data in several articles.

A total of 651 full-text articles, including those from database searches, handsearching journals and pearling were retrieved for closer scrutiny. The total evidence base for this review comprised 25 systematic reviews and 85 studies. Data were not extracted for several studies (Mazmanian, Johnson, Zhang, Boothby, & Yeatts, 2001; Onion & Bartzokas, 1998; White et al., 2004) as baseline data were either not reported, baseline scores were not reported as similar, or differences in baseline data were not adjusted for, making it difficult to determine whether reported differences between groups were due to the intervention.

5.8. Methodological Quality

All studies included in this review were rated for methodological quality (good, average, poor) according to the appropriate checklist criteria (Appendix A). There was substantial variability in methodological quality of the available evidence base across all strategies examined. Poor reporting of methods was a common flaw in many studies, making it difficult to accurately assess study quality. That is, it was often unclear whether established methodological criteria (EPOC, 2002) had been employed. In many studies, interventions were poorly described, making it difficult to compare across studies and to identify common features that may have contributed to a strategy's success.

Overall, the risk of bias was low in only 20-25% of studies (good quality), with adequate randomisation, concealment of allocation, blinded objective outcomes, and good follow-up of participants. Approximately 15-20% had high risk of bias (poor quality), with moderate risk in the remaining 60-65% (average quality).

There were potential unit of analysis errors (potentially resulting in an overestimation of effect size) in cluster randomised controlled trials (RCTs) in 22% to 64% of the studies included in systematic reviews, and there was potential for contamination in several studies where patients were the unit of allocation. For example, studies included in one good systematic review (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a) had inadequate concealment of allocation (72%), unblinded assessment of outcomes (50%), unadjusted baseline differences (33%) and potential unit of analysis errors (33%). Other limitations in study quality included low statistical power due to small sample size and the presence of a possible 'ceiling effect' in some studies.

Studies of health care providers that relied on self-selection of participants were likely to be comprised of a sample of highly motivated participants, with more positive attitudes toward the innovation and greater skills and knowledge in the targeted area of practice (Bekkering et al., 2005; Forsetlund et al., 2003; Foy et al., 2004; Searle, Grover, Santin, & Weideman, 2002). Such characteristics imply a greater 'readiness to change' professional behaviour and may partly explain the apparent ceiling effect reported in some studies.

Studies with relatively short follow-up periods (≤6 months) may have difficulty in detecting changes in behaviour that may take time to emerge (Searle et al., 2002). Conversely, for studies that only reported effects at 3-6 months follow-up, sustainability of the effect could not be determined. In some studies, generalisability to settings that differ from the study populations may be limited due to the particular exclusion / inclusion criteria, and differences in health care systems between countries and jurisdictions (e.g., financial incentives).

6. Lesults - Summary of Evidence

This chapter provides a brief description of the evidence that was gathered from existing systematic literature reviews and additional primary research that was not included in existing reviews.

Strategies to increase the uptake of new research may be approached from different perspectives. These include:

- Changing the knowledge, attitudes or behaviour of health care professionals (professional interventions)
- Changing the environment in which health care professionals work, such as the health care system or practice setting (**organisational interventions**)
- Combination of both perspectives to either tailor strategies to a specific target behaviour, audience, or condition, or to apply a "scatter-gun" approach to reach a broader audience (other interventions).

Any one of a combination of these approaches has been utilised in a large variety of settings. The following chapters (7-9) provide more detailed evidence on the key findings from an evaluation of the effectiveness of 16 dissemination interventions:

- Professional interventions (Chapter 7)
- Organisational interventions (Chapter 8)
- Other interventions (Chapter 9).

Each intervention and the evidence of its effectiveness is outlined in chapters 7-9 in the following order: 1) a brief description of the intervention, with an overview of the number of existing systematic reviews and additional studies that have evaluated its effectiveness; 2) a brief summary of the evidence of effectiveness of the intervention; 3) key success factors of the intervention; and 4) the relevance of the findings to the AOD field. Where possible, evidence from the AOD setting has been presented. However, where none is available, the potential for a strategy's application in the AOD setting is discussed. For example, management of AOD-related problems has useful parallels with models of chronic disease and thus, successful strategies used to implement innovations for heart disease, diabetes, arthritis and depression may be transferable to the AOD context.

6.1. Stage 1: Existing systematic reviews

Twenty-five existing systematic literature reviews were located. Where it was clear that an earlier review had been updated, only the updated version is presented in this assessment. Some studies were included and evaluated in more than one review and approaches to assessment differed between reviews (see Table 10).

Table 10. Approache	s to assessment in ex	xisting systematic reviews
---------------------	-----------------------	----------------------------

Approach	Reference
Reviews that focussed on <i>one specific</i> dissemination strategy, but included a broad range of conditions and target behaviours	(Balas et al., 2000; Currell & Urquhart, 2003; Garg et al., 2005; Giuffrida et al., 2000; Hunt, Haynes, Hanna, & Smith, 1998; Jamtvedt, Young, Kristoffersen, Thomson O'Brien, & Oxman, 2003; Shiffman, Liaw, Brandt, & Corb, 1999; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000b)
Reviews that focussed on a <i>broad range</i> of dissemination strategies applied to more specific diseases or targeted behaviours	(Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2004; Anderson, Laurant, Kaner, Wensing, & Grol, 2004; Gilbody, Whitty, Grimshaw, & Thomas, 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Gosden et al., 2000; Harvey, Glenny, Kirk, & Summerbell, 2002; Hulscher, Wensing, van Der Weijden, & Grol, 2001; Norris et al., 2002; Renders et al., 2001; Weingarten et al., 2002)
Reviews that focussed on specific strategies for targeted behaviours or conditions	(Bennett & Glasziou, 2003; Lancaster, Silagy, & Fowler, 2000; Tu & Davis, 2002; Walton, Harvey, Dovey, & Freemantle, 2001)
Reviews that focussed on broad strategies for multiple behaviours; specific conditions or targeted populations	(Beilby & Silagy, 1997; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Thomas, McColl, Cullum, Rousseau, & Soutter, 1999)

There was little consistency in the way the strategies were grouped in existing systematic reviews. For example, *professional interventions* included distribution of educational materials, educational meetings and seminars or training workshops in all reviews, while others also included combinations of educational outreach, audit and feedback, reminders, opinion leaders, and local consensus processes. Similarly, some reviews contrasted and compared *didactic* and *interactive* strategies, yet the types of interactive strategies varied between reviews.

6.2. Stage 2: Additional studies

Where possible, strategies evaluated in the additional studies were grouped according to the EPOC taxonomy described in Table 4. In many cases, studies (and reviews) have included strategies that could fit into a number of categories. Results are presented under the dissemination strategy category that most closely relates to the stated aim of the study. Cross-references between strategies have been added throughout this report, where possible.

Eighty-five additional studies were identified that met the selection criteria. These were critically appraised and sorted into groups (Table 11). The following sections report on the effectiveness of the 16 strategies listed in Table 11 and described more fully in Table 4.
Strategy	Number of studies	References
Professional interventions		/
Educational materials	1	(Dormuth et al., 2004)
Local consensus processes	3	(Baker et al., 2003; Butzlaff et al., 2004; Silagy et al., 2002)
Educational meetings	16	(Delvaux et al., 2004; Fallowfield et al., 2002; Fallowfield, Jenkins, Farewell, & Solis-Trapala, 2003; Glazier, Badley, Lineker, Wilkins, & Bell, 2005; Katz, Muehlenbruch, Brown, Fiore, & Baker, 2004; Kelly et al., 2000b; King et al., 2002; Mazmanian et al., 2001; Miller, Yahne, Moyers, Martinez, & Pirritano, 2004; Pill, Stott, Rollnick, & Rees, 1998; Premaratne et al., 1999; Razavi et al., 2003; Santoso, Suryawati, & Prawaitasari, 1996; Suggs et al., 1998; Young et al., 1998; Young & Ward, 2002)
Educational outreach visits	13	(Bernal-Delgado, Galeote-Mayor, Pradas-Arnal, & Peiro-Moreno, 2002; Cranney, Barton, & Walley, 1999; Crotty et al., 2004; Dey et al., 2004; Finkelstein et al., 2001; Goldstein et al., 2003; Hall, Eccles, Barton, Steen, & Campbell, 2001; Majumdar et al., 2003; New et al., 2004; Solomon et al., 2001; Watson, Gunnell, Peters, Brookes, & Sharp, 2001; Watson et al., 2002; Weller et al., 2003)
Local opinion leaders	2	(Finkelstein et al., 2005; Gifford et al., 1999)
Patient-mediated interventions ³	1	(Thapar et al., 2002)
Prompts and reminders	12	(Bahrami et al., 2004; Frances, Alperin, Adler, & Grady, 2001; Goldberg, Mullen, Ries, Psaty, & Ruch, 1991; Goldberg et al., 2000; McMullin et al., 2004; Murtaugh, Pezzin, McDonald, Feldman, & Peng, 2005; Ramsay, Eccles, Grimshaw, & Steen, 2003; Sanders & Satyvavolu, 2002; Shaw, Samuels, Larusso, & Bernstein, 2000; Thapar et al., 2002; Tierney et al., 2005; Toth- Pal, Nilsson, & Furhoff, 2004)
Audit and feedback	3	(Eccles et al., 2001; Kiefe et al., 2001; McCartney, MacDowell, & Thorogood, 2001)
Financial incentives	1	(Hillman et al., 1998)
Electronic educational sources	1	(Di Noia, Schwinn, Dastur, & Schinke, 2003)
Organisational interventions		
Record and office systems	5	(Boekeloo et al., 2003; Boekeloo et al., 2004; Dietrich et al., 1992; Kinsinger, Harris, Qaquish, Strecher, & Kaluzny, 1998; McBride et al., 2000; Ockene et al., 1999)
Multi-disciplinary collaborative approach	1	(Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team, 1994)
Alternative care approach	2	(Campbell et al., 1998; Sikka et al., 1999)
Continuous quality improvement	4	(Feifer & Ornstein, 2004; Irvine Doran et al., 2002; Rantz et al., 2001; Solberg et al., 2000)
Other interventions		
Mass media	1	(Matowe et al., 2002)
Multi-faceted interventions	19	(Bekkering et al., 2005; Cooke, Mattick, & Walsh, 2001; Flottorp, Havelsrud, & Oxman, 2003; Forsetlund et al., 2003; Foy et al., 2004; Frijling et al., 2003; Frijling et al., 2002; Heller, D'Este, Lim, O'Connell, & Powell, 2001; Joseph et al., 2004; Langham et al., 2002; Lemelin, Hogg, & Baskerville, 2001; Margolis et al., 2004; Nilsson et al., 2001; Philbin et al., 2000; Sanci et al., 2000; Schectman, Schroth, Verme, & Voss, 2003; Searle et al., 2002; Waldorff, Almind, Makela, Moller, & Waldemar, 2003; Wright et al., 2003; Young, D'Este, & Ward, 2002)
Total	85	

Table 11. Summary of additional primary research

³ Patient-mediated interventions have been included in this category as this strategy aims to indirectly influence practitioners to change their behaviour.



7. Professional Interventions

Professional interventions refer to strategies oriented directly toward increasing knowledge and changing the attitudes and behaviour of professionals. Those included here are:

- Educational materials
- Local consensus processes
- · Educational meetings
- · Educational outreach visits
- · Local opinion leaders
- · Patient-mediated interventions
- · Prompts and reminders
- · Audit and feedback
- · Financial incentives
- Electronic educational resources.

7.1. Educational Materials

Educational materials, in printed or electronic format, are published recommendations for clinical care or other information that is provided either personally, electronically or via mass mailings. They are presented in a variety of formats including bulletins, summaries, information posters and guidelines. Such resources are an integral part of other educational interventions, such as continuing medical education (CME) workshops or seminars. Educational materials typically accompany other dissemination strategies; for example, as part of a 'usual care' control group. This section examines studies that have assessed specifically the impact of disseminating educational materials alone.

Six systematic reviews of 2-18 studies (Gilbody et al., 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Grol & Grimshaw, 2003; Harvey et al., 2002; Hulscher et al., 2001; Tu & Davis, 2002) (Table 12) and one cluster RCT (Dormuth et al., 2004) (Table 13) assessed the effectiveness of educational materials.

 Table 12. Effectiveness of distribution of educational materials - Systematic

 reviews summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Client outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Tu & Davis, 2002)	Level I: poor quality SR 4 RCTs ^d	NS	NS
Disease management	(Gilbody et al., 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 22 average quality controlled studies	NS	NS
Prescribing	(Gill et al., 1999)	Level II: good quality SR 7 average – good quality controlled studies	+ in 3/7 studies	NA
Prevention (5)	(Grimshaw et	Level II: good quality SR	+ in 7/18	NS in 1
Prescribing (4)	al., 2004)	18 poor quality controlled studies	studies § Not	study
Disease management (6)			sustained	
Adherence to guidelines (3)				
Disease management	(Harvey et al., 2002)	Level II: good quality SR 2 poor quality controlled studies	NS	NS
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 3 poor-average quality controlled studies	NS	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; ^d quality not assessed; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 13. Effectiveness of distribution of educational materials - Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Prescribing	(Dormuth et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality cluster RCT	+	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.1.1. How effective is distribution of educational materials?

One well-cited systematic review of 11 studies, which examined the distribution of educational materials, including clinical practice guidelines (CPGs), audio-visual materials, and electronic publications, reported that passive distribution of educational materials had no effect on improving professional practice (Freemantle et al., 1997). This review has since been withdrawn for updating and results have yet to be published.

More recently, a good quality systematic review re-examined the primary research using an explicit analytical framework, rather than the vote-counting approach described in Table 9 (Grimshaw et al., 2004). Despite overall weak methodological quality across the majority of

included studies, significant improvements were observed in the process of care, with most reporting small-moderate effects at best. However, with few head-to-head comparisons in good quality well-designed studies, the statistical significance of these improvements is not robust and subsequent follow-up measures taken in some studies resulted in decay effects (Grimshaw et al., 2004).

One additional good quality cluster RCT (Dormuth et al., 2004) assessed the effect of regular distribution of printed educational materials in the form of a series of "therapeutic letters' on physicians" prescribing behaviour (process outcomes) (Table 13 and Table 41, Appendix B). The impact of disseminating a series of 12 letters over a 2-year period was evaluated. A single letter distributed to physicians had no statistically significant effect on prescribing behaviour, whereas the combined effect of 12 letters was statistically robust (p<0.001). In contrast to the limited effectiveness demonstrated in the studies included in existing systematic reviews, findings from this RCT (Dormuth et al., 2004) suggest that regular repetition of key messages may weaken the barriers to changing behaviour. However, given the limited follow-up period (3-months) in most studies and lack of patient outcome data, neither the sustainability nor the effect on patient health outcomes can be predicted from this strategy when used alone.

7.1.2. Key success factors of educational materials

While the distribution of educational materials alone had limited impact on changing practitioners' behaviour, evidence from the available research suggested that educational material was more likely to be used by the target audience when:

- The content was relevant to the practitioner and derived from a trustworthy and credible source
- · The information was clear, concise and persuasive
- · The format was appealing and easy to read
- The message was repeated (reinforcement).

For example, improvement in practitioners' prescribing was achieved using a series of concise, colourful 2-4 page bulletins, which were developed using input from relevant specialist working groups and comprised an easy-to-read question-answer format to provide clear messages (Dormuth et al., 2004). Messages contained in the letters targeted therapeutic issues that were identified as problematic by the working groups.

The problem or clinical activity targeted by an intervention may also impact on the effectiveness of a strategy. For example, while distributing educational material was found to result in improvements in prescribing behaviour (Dormuth et al., 2004; Gill et al., 1999), there was limited or no impact on other areas of practice, such as management of depression (Gilbody et al., 2003), or hypertension (Tu & Davis, 2002). It is possible that less complex activities associated with prescribing practice are more amenable to change via this mechanism compared to more demanding behaviours required in chronic disease management.

7.1.3. Relevance to the AOD field

There was little evidence to support the use of educational materials *alone* to induce sustained changes in professional practice. Nevertheless, the value of distributing educational materials to the AOD field should not be underestimated and almost every dissemination strategy incorporates some form of educational materials. While distribution of educational materials alone was the least effective of a variety of education-based professional interventions designed to change doctors' prescribing behaviour, 43% (3/7) of studies yielded a positive effect (Gill et al., 1999). Moreover, given that educational materials are easy to distribute in a wide variety of settings, and the production and implementation costs are relatively low compared to other more interactive and / or resource-intensive strategies, they should not be dismissed as ineffective.

7.2. Local Consensus Processes

Local consensus processes involved "the inclusion of participating providers in discussion to ensure that they agreed that the clinical problem was important and that the approach to managing the problem was appropriate" (EPOC, 2002). The most common, well-accepted and well-studied example of a dissemination and implementation strategy developed via local consensus processes is clinical practice guidelines (CPGs)⁴.

CPGs are defined as "systematically developed statements to assist practitioner decisions about appropriate health care for specific clinical circumstances" (Field & Lohr, 1990). However, 'systems' used to develop statements vary widely and frequently rely on expert opinion and established practice patterns. More 'systematic' methods include the use of structured consensus statements by Delphi⁵ or similar techniques (nominal group technique, iterated consensus rating) that facilitate development of consensus of opinion among a group of experts (Lomas, 1991). Evidence-based medicine, which emphasises clinical decision-making based on thorough evaluation of available research evidence, is often lacking in the development of CPGs. The basic protocol for the development of CPGs involves the following steps:

- · Clear definition of the clinical problem
- A comprehensive review of the available evidence
- · Summary of the extracted data
- · Presentation of the data as outcome contingencies for decision-making
- Clinical recommendations for practice (Canadian Taskforce on Preventative Health Care (CTFPHC), 1999).

Many organised health care bodies (e.g., Diabetes Australia, Haemophilia Foundation of Australia, Royal College of Surgeons), general health care agencies (e.g., National Health and Medical Research Council, National Health Priorities Action Council), and specific drug and alcohol services (e.g., Drugs and Alcohol Services South Australia, Australian National Council on Drugs) develop and disseminate guidelines for specific disorders, problems and procedures. Although successful implementation of CPGs into practice has been shown to improve medical practice by improving the quality of care, decreasing inappropriate and ineffective practice, reducing overuse of health services, and lowering costs of delivering health services (Grimshaw et al., 1995), studies indicate that the extent to which practitioners incorporate CPGs into their clinical practice is often minimal (Karuza et al., 1995). The aim of disseminating CPGs is to increase awareness, understanding, and acceptance of a specific guideline and change the relevant clinical behaviours.

Adequate dissemination is a prerequisite for successful implementation of CPGs and simple distribution does not guarantee their uptake and use. In order to turn knowledge into practice, other implementation strategies have been developed and used to disseminate and implement CPGS.

Where additional tools or strategies have been used to enhance compliance with CPGs, such as opinion leaders (Gifford et al., 1999) or feedback (Eccles et al., 2001) the effectiveness of the strategies has been evaluated separately in subsequent sections of this report. Recent investigations have been undertaken into whether altering the format, or process of development, of standard, paper-based guidelines may increase the likelihood of successful dissemination and implementation.

⁴ Where CPGs were distributed in standard format, they have been included in the 'Educational Materials' section. Where they have been modified using local consensus processes and compared with standard guidelines, they have been evaluated in this section.

⁵ The Delphi technique uses a systematic approach to develop criteria for the most appropriate medical procedures. Knowledge from the medical literature is combined with a systematic collation of multi-disciplinary expert opinion.

Two good quality randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (Baker et al., 2003; Butzlaff et al., 2004) and one poor quality RCT (Silagy et al., 2002), met the inclusion criteria for assessment of local consensus processes. Studies assessed whether modification of standard, paper-based CPGs increased practitioners' adherence to guideline recommendations (Table 14).

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Primary health care provision	(Butzlaff et al., 2004)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NA
Disease prevention / management	(Baker et al., 2003)	Level II: Cluster RCT Good quality	±§	±
	(Silagy et al., 2002)	Level II: Cluster RCT Poor quality	±	NA

Table 14. Effectiveness of local consensus processes – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.2.1. How effective are local consensus processes?

The most common method of disseminating CPGs is via mass mailing to professional groups, even though evidence indicates that this is a less successful strategy for motivating behaviour change (Grimshaw et al., 2004).

Overall, evidence from the better quality studies showed no statistically significant improvement in compliance with, or knowledge of, CPG recommendations when CPGs were modified. That is, neither a concise 'prioritised' format (with or without feedback) (Baker et al., 2003), nor an electronic version of CPGs (Butzlaff et al., 2004) was more effective in changing practitioners' knowledge or behaviour compared to a full, paper version of CPGs. Baker et al. (2003) suggest that, although a more concise version of CPGs may have reduced the time physicians spent reading CPGs, it did not improve compliance with the CPG recommendations. Further, the inclusion of feedback had no additional benefit in achieving practitioners' adherence to CPGs (Table 14 and Table 42, Appendix B) (see section 7.8. Audit and Feedback for more detail).

In terms of improving patient outcomes, use of more concise CPGs resulted in overall better control of symptoms for angina, but the effects on symptoms for asthma were mixed in one study (Baker et al., 2003) (Table 14 and Table 43, Appendix B). Patient satisfaction with treatments for these conditions was unchanged by modifying CPGs. Patient satisfaction with medication for angina treatment was significantly reduced in groups where practitioners received review criteria, a concise version of CPGs with prioritised key recommendations for the majority of patients.

7.2.2. Key success factors of local consensus processes

Based on the available evidence, modifying CPGs to suit the local environment, or to present them in an alternative format, failed to significantly improve practitioners' adherence to CPG recommendations or impact significantly on patient health. From the practitioners' perspective, although a brief version of CPGs reduced reading time, it did not induce more practitioners to use them.

7.2.3. Relevance to the AOD field

All available studies were conducted in the primary health care setting with general practitioners as study participants. Studies tested the effectiveness of locally adapted CPGs versus standard national CPGs. The overall lack of effect and absence of testing in the AOD field make it difficult to predict how effective locally adapted CPGs may be for AOD professionals working in nonclinical settings. It is possible that CPGs, which are developed in consultation with the end-users in the AOD field, may be more acceptable if additional strategies were used to promote their uptake. Participatory action research techniques ⁶ could be used to assess this hypothesis.

7.3. Educational Meetings (Continuing Medical Education)

Continuing Medical Education (CME) consists of educational activities that aim to maintain, develop, or increase the knowledge, skills, and professional performance of practitioners to provide services for patients, the public, or the profession (Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education). Examples of CME include educational conferences, meetings, seminars, workshops, lectures and symposia. CME formats, including distribution of educational materials, varied across studies in intensity (frequency and duration of sessions), complexity (didactic / interactive), and content (targeting specific disease, behaviour, or group). Typically, educational interventions were incorporated in most single interventions to some degree and were always included in multi-faceted interventions (see section 9.2. for more detail).

The evidence base for specifically evaluating the effectiveness of CME comprised eight systematic reviews of 3-47 studies (Gilbody et al., 2003; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Hulscher et al., 2001; Lancaster et al., 2000; Renders et al., 2001; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001; Tu & Davis, 2002; Weingarten et al., 2002) (Table 15) and 16 primary studies (Delvaux et al., 2004; Fallowfield et al., 2002; Fallowfield et al., 2003; Glazier et al., 2005; Katz et al., 2004; Kelly et al., 2000b; King et al., 2002; Mazmanian et al., 2001; Miller et al., 2004; Onion & Bartzokas, 1998; Pill et al., 1998; Premaratne et al., 1999; Razavi et al., 2003; Santoso et al., 1996; Suggs et al., 1998; White et al., 2004; Young et al., 1998; Young & Ward, 2002) (Table 16).

⁶ Participatory Action Research involves iterative cycles of interaction between the researcher and target audience to identify and address problems, initiate new research and evaluate outcomes.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Tu & Davis, 2002)	Level I: poor quality SR 5 RCTs ^d	NS	NS
Disease management	(Gilbody et al., 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 6 poor-average quality controlled studies	NS	NS
Disease management (2) Diagnosis (1)	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 3 poor-average quality controlled studies	NS §	NS
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 5 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ in 4/5 studies §	NA
Preventive care Prescribing Disease management	(Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 32 poor- average quality controlled studies	+ in 24/32 studies §	+ in 3/8 studies §
Disease management	(Renders et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 13 poor-average quality controlled studies	± overall + in 5/13 studies §	± overall + in 5/13 studies §
Disease management Adherence to guidelines	(Weingarten et al., 2002)	Level II: average quality SR 47 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ in 12/24 studies §	+ in 12/32 studies §
Prevention	(Lancaster et al., 2000)	Level II: poor quality SR 10 average-good quality RCTs	+ in 9/10 studies	NS in 6/8 studies

Table 15. Educational meetings – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life;^d Study quality not assessed; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Drug prescribing / test-ordering / referral	(Santoso et al., 1996)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
	(Suggs et al., 1998)	Level III-3: CBA design Average quality	±	NA
Preventive care	(Katz et al., 2004)	Level II: Cluster RCT Good quality	+	±
	(Kelly et al., 2000b)	Level II: Cluster RCT Poor quality	+	NA
	(Young et al., 1998; Young & Ward, 2002)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
Counselling / communication skills	(Miller et al., 2004)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Good quality	+	NA
	(Fallowfield et al., 2003)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	+	NA
	(Razavi et al., 2003)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	NS	±
Disease / pain management	(Pill et al., 1998)	Level II: RCT Good quality	± not sustained	± not sustained
	(King et al., 2002)	Level II: Cluster RCT Average quality	NS	NS
	(Premaratne et al., 1999)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NS
	(Fallowfield et al., 2002)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
	(Delvaux et al., 2004)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	NS	±
	(Glazier et al., 2005)	Level III-3: CBA design Average quality	±	NA
General practice	(Mazmanian et al., 2001)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average / poor quality	±	NA

Table 16. Effectiveness of educational meetings (CME) – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial. Data for two studies were not extracted as baseline scores were not reported or adjusted for (Onion & Bartzokas, 1998; White et al., 2004), therefore relative change could not be determined.

7.3.1. How effective are educational meetings (CME)?

Overall, the better quality studies included in systematic reviews showed small to moderate effects of CME, particularly where baseline scores were low (Hulscher et al., 2001; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001). Similar results were reported in more recent primary studies. For example, using regression analysis to model and determine the magnitude of the relationship between variables, one quasi-RCT revealed that practitioners benefited most from an educational intervention if they had poorer knowledge or skills at baseline (Delvaux et al., 2004) and those attaining a high score pre-intervention also scored highly post-intervention (White et al., 2004)⁷.

Compared to no-intervention controls, 75% of studies included in one systematic review (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001) reported improvement in professional practice and 38% showed improvement in patient outcomes. Thomson O'Brien et al. (2001) also reported that educational strategies containing interactive elements showed small to moderate improvements while those that were primarily didactic had no significant effect.

Hulscher et al. (2001) reported mixed effects in studies that used group sessions, with improvements ranging between 11% and 194%. By comparison, studies that used individual sessions showed small to moderate effect sizes, with improvements varying between 7% and 21%. These results were consistent with findings from primary research (Santoso et al., 1996). Table 44 and Table 45 (Appendix B) provide results for process and patient outcomes, respectively.

Educational meetings produced improvements in drug prescribing (Santoso et al., 1996; Suggs et al., 1998; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001), preventive care (Hulscher et al., 2001; Katz et al., 2004; Kelly et al., 2000b; Lancaster et al., 2000) and disease management (Renders et al., 2001; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2001; Weingarten et al., 2002). In addition, health care providers' counselling and communication skills (Miller et al., 2004) were improved significantly with CME (Table 16 and Table 44, Appendix B).

One study showed that including an additional element (telephone consultation) significantly increased the effectiveness of the intervention (Kelly, Sogolow, & Neumann, 2000a). In that study, it was found that a larger proportion of AIDs Service Organisations offered a research-based intervention to clients when their training workshop was followed up with a telephone consultation.

Of the few studies that measured patient effects, there was significant improvement in smoking cessation in one study (Katz et al., 2004), whereas others showed mixed effects, with small improvements in some outcomes, or no significant changes compared to controls (Table 45, Appendix B).

The presence of potential ceiling effects resulting from practitioners' self-selecting to participate in the educational intervention was a limiting factor in many studies. Study practitioners who volunteered to participate typically displayed above average levels of care or enthusiasm to improve, leaving little scope for further development or improved practice change (White et al., 2004).

The short follow-up period across most studies made it difficult to determine the sustainability of an intervention's effect. Post-intervention measures taken immediately following implementation of an intervention may merely assess immediate recall of knowledge as opposed to sustained learning / attainment of knowledge, and thus be less likely to reflect long-term behaviour change. A longer follow-up period may be needed to determine retention of additional skills and knowledge and sustained behaviour change. For example, a follow-up study that measured outcomes 12 months post-intervention revealed evidence of sustained improvement in communication skills (Fallowfield et al., 2003).

⁷ Data for this study were not provided in the tables as baseline scores were not adjusted for, making it difficult to determine true differences between groups.

7.3.2. Key success factors of educational meetings (CME)

The highly variable results shown in the available studies examining the effectiveness of educational meetings may reflect the heterogeneity of the studies, particularly in the intensity and complexity of interventions, the mode of delivery, and the characteristics of the setting and target behaviour.

Intensity of interventions ranged from a single 10-15 minute session to a 1-2 day workshop, to multiple hour-long sessions over an extended period. Similarly, the intervention delivery mode varied from passive, didactic formats of lectures and seminars to highly interactive group discussions and workshops.

Evidence from the better quality studies indicates that educational meetings were more effective when they contained the following elements:

- More interactive (less didactic) or personalised format (e.g., small groups, face-to-face sessions)
- Simple (less complex) content, which requires smaller magnitude of change (e.g., drug dosage and prescribing vs multiple recommendations with complex clinical decision-making)
- More focused on a specific problem (tailored or personalised rather than generic)
- Additional interventions (e.g., follow-up telephone consultation) or incentives (e.g., feedback on performance, CME points⁸)
- · Motivated practitioners (self-selected practitioners may be more motivated to change).

As noted in section 7.1.2. above (see educational materials), the content / materials presented in CME should be appealing and readily-digestible, derived from a credible source, and contain content relevant to the health care provider.

A central tenet of effective training (and other forms of professional development gained through educational meetings) is health care providers' capacity to apply newly developed knowledge and skills to their current practice. Educational interventions that require only modest time, financial or staff resource commitments may be more likely to influence the implementation of best practice by health care providers working in a 'patient-rich, time-poor' environment.

It is important to note that the duration of effect, or decay over time has not been adequately assessed to determine the sustainability of change attributed to the use of CME.

7.3.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Educational meetings were effective in both treatment and preventive care in AOD-related health care settings. A tutorial plus feedback delivered in a community setting improved practitioners' adoption of guidelines for smoking cessation and resulted in improvements in the delivery of smoking cessation advice and nicotine replacement therapy (process outcomes) and higher abstinence among smokers (patient outcomes) (Katz et al., 2004). Similarly, a distance learning module used in a family practice (clinic) setting, improved the delivery of smoking cessation advice to patients (Young & Ward, 2002). Distance learning may be an effective option for health care providers who deliver AOD-related care in rural and remote locations.

Workshops were also found to be an effective strategy. For example, workshops enhanced with a range of additional strategies, including feedback and coaching sessions, increased health care providers' proficiency in motivational interviewing techniques for managing the care of patients / clients with AOD-related issues (Miller et al., 2004).

⁸ CME points encourage health care professionals to provide better care for patients according to the current standards of their profession. Most health care professionals are required to satisfy criteria for CME points to retain registration in their practice.

7.4. Educational Outreach Visits (Academic Detailing)

Educational outreach, also termed academic detailing, involves enlisting a change agent, such as a trained health educator or specialist, to visit health care providers in their own setting and deliver evidence-based information sessions about a well-defined intervention or clinical practice guideline. Outreach sessions vary considerably across different interventions. Typically, physicians or pharmacists, who have undertaken training in communication and behaviour modification techniques, provide a brief face-to-face education and feedback session with the purpose of motivating improvements in practice. Outreach visits may also involve reduction of administrative barriers by streamlining procedures in the office setting or using practice-enabling techniques, such as role-play to develop specific skills.

Five systematic reviews containing 1-18 studies (Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2004; Gilbody et al., 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a; Tu & Davis, 2002) (Table 17), and 13 primary studies (Bernal-Delgado et al., 2002; Cranney et al., 1999; Crotty et al., 2004; Dey et al., 2004; Finkelstein et al., 2001; Goldstein et al., 2003; Hall et al., 2001; Majumdar et al., 2003; New et al., 2004; Solomon et al., 2001; Watson et al., 2001; Watson et al., 2002; Weller et al., 2003) (Table 18) assessed the effectiveness of outreach visits.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Tu & Davis, 2002)	Level I: poor quality SR 1 RCT ^d	NS	NS
Disease management	(Gilbody et al., 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 3 poor-average quality controlled studies	+	NS
Prescribing	(Gill et al., 1999)	Level II: good quality SR 4 average-good quality RCTs	+ in 2/4 studies §	NA
Prescribing (13) Preventive care (3) Disease management (2)	(Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a)	Level I: good quality SR 18 poor-average quality RCTs	+ in 16/18 studies §	NA
Preventive care	(Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2004; Anderson et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 8 average quality controlled studies	+ Studies with outreach were significantly more effective in changing practitioners' behaviour compared to those without an outreach intervention	+

Table 17. Effectiveness of educational outreach visits – Systematic reviews summary	Table 17. Effectiveness	of educational outreach	n visits – Systematic r	reviews summary
---	-------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; ^d quality not assessed; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Drug prescribing / test-ordering	(Watson et al., 2001; Watson et al., 2002)	Level II: cluster RCT Good quality	NS	NA
	(Weller et al., 2003)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+ short-term only	NA
	(Finkelstein et al., 2001)	Level III-1: Quasi RCT Average quality	+	NA
	(Hall et al., 2001)	Level II: RCT Average quality	NS	NA
	(Solomon et al., 2001)	Level III-1: Quasi RCT Average / poor quality	±	NA
Preventive care	(Crotty et al., 2004)	Level II: RCT Good / average quality	NS	NS
	(Goldstein et al., 2003)	Level III-1: Quasi experimental Average quality	NS	NS
Disease / pain management	(Cranney et al., 1999)	Level II: Cluster RCT Good quality	+	NA
	(Dey et al., 2004)	Level II: RCT Good quality	NS	NA
	(Majumdar et al., 2003)	Level III-3: CBA design Good quality	±	±

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; CBA = controlled before and after study; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.4.1. Effectiveness of educational outreach visits

In general, educational outreach visits were effective for improving professional practice in a range of different settings. Overall effect sizes were moderate-large, with 24-50% improvement (p<0.05) reported in studies that demonstrated benefit (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a).

Evidence from both systematic reviews and primary research indicated that educational outreach visits produced improvements in practitioner behaviour (process outcomes) in prescribing / test-ordering, delivery of preventive care and disease management (Cranney et al., 1999; Finkelstein et al., 2001; Gilbody et al., 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Solomon et al., 2001; Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000a; Weller et al., 2003). Table 46 and Table 47 (Appendix B) provide data for process and patient outcomes, respectively.

In contrast, two RCTs reported no statistically significant improvement in appropriateness of prescribing when used in a community pharmacy setting (Hall et al., 2001; Watson et al., 2002). However, a possible ceiling effect may have masked potential improvements in these studies. Similarly, educational outreach visits did not significantly improve preventive care (falls reduction and stroke prevention) or pain management in two studies (Crotty et al., 2004; Dey et al., 2004).

Few studies have assessed the impact of outreach visits on patient outcomes, and those that did generally failed to provide clinical benefit. However, one study of a travelling diabetes management program (Majumdar et al., 2003) showed that outreach visits to rural regions (US) improved patients' blood pressure as well as their satisfaction with the care provided, but did not significantly improve patients' cholesterol or blood sugar levels.

The sustainability of the intervention effect was uncertain due to limited follow-up periods in the studies. For example, the improvement in test-ordering rates that was evident 6-months post-intervention (Weller et al., 2003) was not sustained at 12-months follow-up, suggesting a decay effect of the intervention. Other primary studies that demonstrated positive effects of outreach visits on prescribing behaviour (Finkelstein et al., 2001; Solomon et al., 2001) failed to report the period of follow-up.

Data were not extracted for two studies (Bernal-Delgado et al., 2002; New et al., 2004) as baseline data were not reported or not adjusted for.

7.4.2. Key success factors of educational outreach visits

Although educational outreach visits varied across studies, several attributes were identified that may increase their likelihood of success, including:

- Interactive format, with active participation by practitioners, particularly for more complex topic areas
- · Use of specialist educators with credibility in the topic area
- Use of additional strategies, such as feedback or follow-up support (Cranney et al., 1999; Finkelstein et al., 2001; Solomon et al., 2001; Weller et al., 2003)
- · Targeting a defined group of professionals
- · Having clear educational and behavioural objectives
- · Assessing and addressing barriers to change
- · Identifying and repeating essential messages
- · Positively reinforcing messages in follow-up visits.

In addition, materials provided to the target audience should contain clear, simple messages, and include concise, graphic educational material (see section 7.1.2., Educational Materials).

7.4.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Evidence from one study that examined the effectiveness of outreach visits in an AOD setting showed that outreach visits had no influence on practitioners' counselling for smoking cessation (as reported by patients) (p=0.057) and minimal effect on patient quit rates (p=0.008) (Goldstein et al., 2003). However, results may have been influenced by a strong secular trend in smoking cessation rates shown in the control group due to a number of factors that occurred during the study period. These factors, which are likely to have motivated physicians to change their behaviour, include academic detailing of physicians by pharmaceutical companies marketing nicotine patches, annual assessment of smoking cessation counselling rates in control practices, and self-nomination of participants, who are likely to be more motivated to change behaviour.

Educational outreach visits, which were effective for drug prescribing, test ordering and disease management, may be useful in the AOD field for a range of AOD-related activities, including encouraging practitioners to:

- · Prescribe pharmacotherapies appropriately
- Provide AOD education and counselling
- Screen for AOD use or depression
- Monitor pharmacotherapy treatment
- Manage AOD-related illness and depression.

7.5. Local Opinion Leaders (including Product Champions)

Local opinion leaders, including 'product champions' and 'peer leaders' are health professionals identified by their colleagues in the community as 'educationally influential'. Hiss et al. (1978) defined the opinion leader as one who:

- 1) is recognised by his / her own community as an expert in their field (expertise)
- 2) is more likely than others to facilitate flow of new information (current knowledge)
- 3) has well developed interpersonal skills.

The rationale behind the use of opinion leaders as an educational strategy is that new information will be integrated more efficiently into practice if a respected peer trains a practitioner, particularly when the opinion leader has been selected by the practitioner.

One good quality systematic review (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000b) of 8 studies (Table 19), and two good quality RCTs (Finkelstein et al., 2005; Gifford et al., 1999) (Table 20) assessed the effectiveness of local opinion leaders or product champions (peer leaders) to change practice behaviour.

Table 19. Effectiveness of local opinion leaders – Systematic reviews summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Adherence to guidelines	(Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000b)	Level I: good quality SR 8 poor-average quality RCTs	+ in 2/8 studies §	NS

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 20. Effectiveness of opinion leaders – Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Referral	(Gifford et al., 1999)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NA
Medication dispensing	(Finkelstein et al., 2005)	Level II: Cluster RCT Good quality	NS	NS

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.5.1. Effectiveness of opinion leaders

Overall the evidence was mixed. Effectiveness of opinion leaders varied from not significant to small-modest effects in some process outcomes in the better quality studies. Patient outcomes were similar in both control and intervention groups. Thomson O'Brien et al. (2000) reported some improvement in at least one outcome in most studies, but statistically significant improvement in only two (of eight) trials, with small-modest effect sizes (i.e., <10% improvement in adherence to recommended practice). Two studies in Thomson O'Brien et al. (2000) reported that opinion leaders were more effective than audit and feedback at changing practice.

While use of opinion leaders had no significant impact on practitioners' adherence to asthma guidelines (Finkelstein et al., 2005), there was improved adherence to three of six guideline recommendations for managing dementia (Gifford et al., 1999; Holloway, Gifford, Frankel, & Vickrey, 1999), where the guidelines related to procedural or referral clinical actions (Table 48, Appendix B). In contrast, there was no effect on adherence to recommendations that pertained to testing, diagnosis or treatment. However, it is worth noting that adherence to two of the recommendations that showed no statistically significant change, were high at baseline indicating a potential ceiling effect that was likely to limit any scope for further improvement.

Overall, patient outcomes were not significantly improved with the use of local opinion leaders (Table 49, Appendix B).

Most studies lacked information on how opinion leaders were identified and selected (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000b), making it difficult to determine whether they were appropriate and comparable across studies. By comparison, one good quality RCT (Holloway et al., 1999) provided comprehensive details of the recruitment process for 12 local opinion leaders used as part of a multifaceted educational program to improve practitioners' adoption of practice guidelines (Gifford et al., 1999). An overview of the opinion leader's active involvement in the intervention, including membership on an expert advisory panel, review of the practice guidelines being implemented, and involvement in educational seminars was provided. Logistic regression was used to adjust for differences between opinion leaders in different geographical regions (Table 48, Appendix B). Evidence from Gifford et al. (1999) indicates some potential for benefit derived from using opinion leaders to change professional practice, notably in procedural and referral areas of clinical practice; while opinion leaders did not improve medication dispensing (Finkelstein et al., 2005) (Table 20).

7.5.2. Key success factors of local opinion leaders

Since the evidence assessed here is sparse and shows equivocal results, it is difficult to determine which factors may increase the likelihood of this strategy's success. Most studies lacked detail of the characteristics, recruitment methods and role of opinion leaders (Thomson O'Brien et al., 2000b). However, Gifford et al. (1999) outlined various aspects of using opinion leaders which may increase their effectiveness. These include:

- Process of identification and selection of opinion leaders. Opinion leaders are more likely to be effective, respected peer educators if the population of clinicians whom they are to serve selects them.
- Role and activities of the opinion leaders. Involving the opinion leader, as a recognised trusted source of information, in the review and development of the innovation (e.g., training) to be disseminated may ensure sustained commitment from the opinion leader, and therefore a greater likelihood of success from use of the strategy.

7.5.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Evidence that opinion leaders may change professional practice was shown in some clinical actions (such as referral) that may be relevant to practitioners in the AOD field.

One study undertaken in the AOD field that explored the characteristics of opinion leaders in substance abuse treatment agencies was useful for descriptive purposes, but did not meet the inclusion criteria for evaluation of effectiveness (Moore et al., 2004). Moore et al. (2004) reported that peer co-workers were identified as "a key source of information related to

treatment approaches for co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders and for substance use treatment in general". Information sourced from peers was used more frequently and valued more highly than other sources of information, such as books, websites and external staff / consultants. Compared to their colleagues, peer co-workers identified as opinion leaders had:

- Significantly more work experience in a specific field (e.g., mental health)
- More postgraduate education
- More confidence and willingness to work with problem clients (e.g., comorbidities)
- · Greater knowledge of diagnosis and treatment of clients with comorbidities.

Importantly, Moore et al. (2004) reported that more than 50% of opinion leaders were not formal supervisors and, as such, represented an underutilised credible resource within treatment agencies.

7.6. Patient-Mediated Interventions

Patient-mediated, or patient-directed, interventions involve any information given to or received from patients, which is intended to influence professional practice. Examples of patient-mediated interventions include patient education concerning a specific disease or condition, or patient-specific preventive care information in the form of leaflets, brochures, reminder letters, postcards and telephone calls (e.g., appointments or screening tests).

Three average-good quality systematic reviews of 7-16 studies (Gill et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Weingarten et al., 2002) assessed the effectiveness of patient-mediated interventions (Table 21). One additional primary study (Thapar et al., 2002) evaluated the effectiveness of a patient-held reminder card for epilepsy management (Table 22).

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care & prescribing (5) Disease management (2)	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 7 average quality studies	+ in 4/7 studies §	NS
Prescribing	(Gill et al., 1999)	Level II: good quality SR 8 average-good quality RCTs	+ in 5/8 studies §	NA
Disease management	(Weingarten et al., 2002)	Level II: average quality SR 16 average quality controlled studies	NA	+ in 6/16 studies Small effect size

Table 21. Effectiveness of patient-mediated interventions – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 22. Effectiveness of patient-mediated interventions – Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Thapar et al., 2002)	Level II: good quality RCT	NS	±

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.6.1. How effective are patient-mediated interventions?

All studies contained in existing reviews observed improvements in the process of care, with moderate-large effects in cluster RCTs (21%, [95% confidence intervals 10.0, 25.4]) in one SR (Grimshaw et al., 2004); and 63% of studies in the other showing statistically significant improvements (Gill et al., 1999). In particular, patient-mediated interventions were effective for improving screening and vaccination rates. However, all cluster RCTs had potential unit of analysis errors, which may overestimate effects.

Results from an additional RCT showed that practitioner behaviour was not influenced when patients held a reminder card for management of epilepsy care. Overall, patient outcomes were mixed, with non-significant or small effects on disease control.

Data extracted from Thapar et al. (2002) are provided in Table 50 and Table 51 (Appendix B).

7.6.2. Key success factors of patient mediated interventions

There were few evaluations of patient-directed interventions that met the selection criteria and all cluster RCTs contained potential unit of analysis errors. Therefore, evidence on the effectiveness of this strategy is not robust. However, factors that may contribute to effectiveness include:

- Obligatory response practitioners cannot ignore a patient's direct request or question about their treatment, thereby compelling the practitioner to take action or justify why action is not needed
- Simple content small change required
- · Relevant and patient-specific.

7.6.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Patient-mediated interventions may be effective for delivering preventive care services in the AOD field and for prescribing medication (e.g., depression and AOD-related disorders or pharmacotherapy). AOD-related information disseminated to clients may encourage them to discuss the information with their practitioner where it pertains to their circumstances.

7.7. Prompts and Reminders (including Decision Support)

A *reminder* (computerised or manual) is any intervention that provides an evidence-based summary of key clinical information to aid decision-making and to *prompt* the health care professional or practitioner to perform a clinical action or to record key information for effective client / patient management. Examples include concurrent or inter-visit reminders to health care professionals about recommended actions, including screening, chronic disease management, counselling or other preventive services, appropriate laboratory tests or enhanced administrative support (e.g., paper-based reminder messages attached to reports or in medical records, computerised decision support prompts incorporated in patient electronic records). Every visit to a practitioner is viewed as an opportunity to promote good health maintenance, such as immunising a child (Shaw et al., 2000) or performing a mammography when the records indicate they are due (Goldberg et al., 2000).

Decision support systems are included in this intervention group as they serve a similar function by providing practitioners with key clinical information on which evidence-based decisions may be based. Decision support systems, which are often based on protocols or CPGs, may be computerised or manual, and are aimed at assisting the health care provider to make health-related decisions. The growing sophistication of computer hardware and software enables the information technology field to play a key role in decision-making for health care providers, including:

- Matching evidence-based medical knowledge accessed from large databases to patient-specific information stored in electronic medical records
- Performing complex evaluations
- · Calculating drug dosages
- Generating reminders for a variety of preventive health care messages.

Eleven systematic reviews of 2-100 studies (Balas et al., 2000; Bennett & Glasziou, 2003; Garg et al., 2005; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Harvey et al., 2002; Hulscher et al., 2001; Hunt et al., 1998; Shiffman et al., 1999; Tu & Davis, 2002; Walton et al., 2001; Weingarten et al., 2002) (Table 23) and 12 additional primary studies (Bahrami et al., 2004; Frances et al., 2001; Goldberg et al., 1991; Goldberg et al., 2000; McMullin et al., 2004; Murtaugh et al., 2005; Ramsay et al., 2003; Sanders & Satyvavolu, 2002; Shaw et al., 2000; Thapar et al., 2002; Tierney et al., 2005; Toth-Pal et al., 2004) (Table 24) evaluated the effectiveness of prompts, reminders and decision support.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Prescribing	(Walton et al., 2001)	Level I: good quality SR 15 average-good quality RCTs	+ in 5/15 studies §	+ in 5/13 studies §
Preventive care	(Balas et al., 2000)	Level I: average quality SR 33 average quality RCTs	+ in 26/33 studies §	NA
Prescribing	(Bennett & Glasziou, 2003)	Level I: average quality SR 17 good quality RCTs	+ in 7/17 studies §	NA
Disease management	(Tu & Davis, 2002)	Level I: poor quality SR 3 RCTs ^d	+ in 3/3 studies §	
Preventive care (21)	(Garg et al.,	Level II: good quality SR	+ in 58/100 studies §	+ in 9/38 studies §
Prescribing (29)	2005)	100 average – good quality controlled studies	Preventive care: 16/21	Preventive Care: 0/1
Disease			Prescribing: 15/24	Prescribing: 4/5
management (40)			Disease mgt: 23/37	Disease mgt: 5/27
Diagnosis (10)			Diagnosis: 4/10	Diagnosis: 0/5
Preventive care (17)	(Grimshaw	Level II: good quality	+ in 24/38 studies §	NS (4)
Prescribing (5) Disease management (15) Diagnosis (1)	et al., 2004)	SR 38 average quality controlled studies	Moderate effect size	
Disease management	(Harvey et al., 2002)	Level II: good quality SR 2 average quality duster RCTs	+ in 2/2 §	+ in 1/2 §
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 11 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ in 9/11 studies §	NA
Preventive care (19) Prescribing (15) Disease management (26) Diagnosis (5)	(Hunt et al., 1998)	Level II: good quality SR 68 average-good quality controlled studies	+ in 43/65 studies § Preventive care: 14/19 Prescribing: 9/15 Disease mgt: 19/26 Diagnosis: 1/5	+ in 6/14 studies §
Disease management	(Weingarten et al., 2002)	Level II: average quality SR 19 average quality controlled studies	+ in 6/10 studies § Moderate effect size	+ in 6/14 studies § Small effect size
Preventive care (7) Disease management (13)	(Shiffman et al., 1999)	Level II: poor quality SR 25 average quality controlled studies	+ in 15/25 studies §	+ in 3/8 studies §

Table 23. Effectiveness of	prompts and reminders -	- Systematic reviews summary
----------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------------

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; ^d quality not assessed; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Shaw et al., 2000)	Level II: RCT Good quality	NS	NA
	(Goldberg et al., 1991)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	+ alcoholism screening rates	NS
	(Goldberg et al., 2000)	Level III-2 Good quality	+ mammogram NS - faecal occult blood; cholesterol	NA
	(Toth-Pal et al., 2004)	Level III-2: non-RCT Poor quality	+ screening rates (e.g., diabetes, hypertension)	NA
Disease management	(Frances et al., 2001)	Level II: RCT Average quality	NS	NA
	(Thapar et al., 2002)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	±
	(Goldberg et al., 1991)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
	(Murtaugh et al., 2005)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
Adherence to guidelines	(Bahrami et al., 2004)	Level II: RCT Good quality	NS	NS
	(Ramsay et al., 2003)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+	NS
	(Tierney et al., 2005)	Level II: RCT Poor quality	NS	NS
Drug dosing / prescribing	(Frances et al., 2001)	Level II: RCT Average quality	NS	NS
and medication management	(Sanders & Satyvavolu, 2002)	Level II: RCT Average quality	NS	NS
	(McMullin et al., 2004)	Level III-2: Cohort study Average quality	±	NA

Table 24. Effectiveness of	prompts and reminders -	Primary roo	search summary
Table 24. Ellectivelless of	prompts and reminuers -	Filling res	search summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.7.1. How effective are prompts and reminders?

In general, results from the best available evidence showed mixed effects for prompts and reminders for both process and patient measures (Table 52 and Table 53, Appendix B). Among the different research areas, reminders were most effective for preventive care across a variety of clinical settings. In other areas, results were mixed (e.g., prescribing, disease management and adherence to guidelines), with improvement in some outcomes and no significant difference compared to controls in others.

Most good quality studies in the existing reviews showed significant improvement in process outcomes in several research areas. Reminders were most effective for delivering key messages for:

- Preventive care, with approximately 75% of studies demonstrating significant improvement (Balas et al., 2000; Garg et al., 2005; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Hulscher et al., 2001; Hunt et al., 1998)
- Drug dosing and prescribing, with 35-60% of studies showing improvement (Bennett & Glasziou, 2003; Garg et al., 2005; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Hunt et al., 1998; Walton et al., 2001)
- Disease management, with over 70% of studies showing improvement (Balas et al., 2000; Garg et al., 2005; Hunt et al., 1998).

In contrast, less than 20% of studies demonstrated improvements in diagnostic practice (Garg et al., 2005; Hunt et al., 1998).

Effect size varied across studies, with most reporting moderate to large effects for process outcomes in drug dosing, prescribing, referrals, preventive care and knowledge of practice guidelines, while patient outcomes showed mixed or non-significant effects.

Few studies measured patient outcomes, such as improved health status or patient compliance with medication and medical advice. Of the studies that did, only 13% documented significant improvements (Garg et al., 2005).

The better quality additional primary studies revealed statistically significant improvement in radiology referrals by GPs (i.e., referrals reduced) with the use of educational reminder messages (this effect was sustained at the same level from inception throughout the intervention period) (Ramsay et al., 2003). Similarly, the quality of care for patients with epilepsy improved when a reminder card was completed by the practitioner (Thapar et al., 2002). In contrast, prompts and reminders had no significant effect on practitioner behaviour in administering routine preventive procedures, such as vaccinations, and no effect on improving knowledge of (as opposed to adherence to) clinical guidelines (Shaw et al., 2000).

Improvements in practitioner adherence to practice guidelines and disease management were found for some outcomes, but not consistently across clinical settings. For example, uncomfortable or inconvenient procedures, such as sigmoidoscopy, were performed at lower rates compared to those which were less invasive (Balas et al., 2000). A decision support system in the form of a computer aided learning (CAL) package was unsuccessful in improving compliance with a dental treatment guideline, despite being specifically developed for the target group (Bahrami et al., 2004). Further, the CAL package was no more successful than a simple mailout of the guideline with opportunity to attend an education course. However, as pre-intervention guideline compliance was high (ceiling effect), this result should be interpreted with caution.

Although most prompts were delivered prior to decision-making, those generated directly following a clinical decision also demonstrated some effect (Ramsay et al., 2003). In addition, different modes for generating or presenting prompts (tagged medical records or computer display) were equally effective in improving practice (Balas et al., 2000). Therefore, the effectiveness of prompts and reminders was not dependent on narrow time frames or specific modalities.

Decision support systems may also have a positive effect on practitioners' assessment of a health issue and identification of appropriate management for the identified health risk or condition, such as alcohol screening instruments to improve rates of patient referral to counselling (Goldberg et al., 1991).

Data were not extracted for one poor quality RCT (Tierney et al., 2005) as, although baseline scores were taken, they were not reported as being similar or adjusted for, making it difficult to ascertain the true effect of the intervention.

7.7.2. Key success factors of prompts and reminders (including decision support)

The studies that provided the evidence base for prompts and reminders were highly heterogeneous, both in quality and content (e.g., population, setting, design). However, several elements emerged that may enhance the strategy's success, including:

- Ease of use. Strategies should be incorporated into existing systems and response to a prompt (accept or reject suggested course of action) should involve minimal input from the practitioner or patient (McMullin et al., 2004).
- Clear and simple messages. Providers complied more readily with simple prompts for drug prescribing / dosing and preventive care services compared to more complex clinical decision-making for disease management or diagnosis. Educational reminder messages may be an easy-to-deliver response to information overload.
- Relevant to practitioner's needs. Context-specific prompts can shift practice directions to more evidence-based care (Shiffman et al., 1999). Limitations of settings should be taken into account (e.g., time, resources, space, organisational infrastructure).
- Credibility and accuracy of information. Recommendations should be evidence-based and practical, so practitioners are persuaded to comply.
- Automatic reminders. When the choice to see the message is eliminated, practitioners are more likely to respond (Garg et al., 2005; McMullin et al., 2004).
- Obligatory response. Acknowledgement of prompts may increase the likelihood of action (Hunt et al., 1998). Unsolicited reminders may ease workloads by directing the provider to priority tasks (McMullin et al., 2004; Murtaugh et al., 2005).
- Use of additional tools assisted provider uptake. Decision support systems were more effective in the presence of additional tools, such as feedback on performance, and educational materials.

Whether improvements in care have a direct effect on improved health status of patients is uncertain as the few studies that measured the impact on patients showed mixed or no significant effects (Table 53, Appendix B).

7.7.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Prompts and reminders, which were effective for improving patient care in a range of areas in the clinical setting, may be useful for delivering appropriate preventive care and treatment for clients with AOD-related problems.

Potential AOD treatment and management areas that may benefit from the use of reminders include:

- Appropriate prescribing of pharmacotherapies (e.g., NRT, methadone) to eligible clients
 during routine appointments
- Advice on risks of AOD use during pregnancy (e.g., smoking cessation, alcohol and risks of Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disoder)
- Monitoring of AOD-related problems (e.g., opioid substitution therapy, screening for depression; measuring severity of dependence)
- Appropriate use of brief interventions for eligible clients
- Referral to specialist treatment (e.g., counselling)
- · Advice on relapse prevention, coping skills
- Treatment for dependence
- Treatment for conditions / complications associated with harmful AOD use (Hep C, HIV)
- Management and treatment of comorbidity (e.g., depression, anxiety disorders).

Problem areas that may be less amenable to the influence of reminders are those that tend to be more sensitive or embarrassing, or ones that deal with more contentious issues in AOD-related care (Balas et al., 2000), such as issues related to domestic violence or sexually transmitted diseases.

7.8. Audit and Feedback

Audit and feedback is "any summary of clinical performance of health care over a specified period, with or without recommendations for clinical action. The information may have been obtained from medical records, computerised databases, patients or by observation" (Oxman, Thomson, Davis, & Haynes, 1995). Practitioners receive reports of their performance that is compared to a benchmark standard of care stipulated by CPGs and / or to the mean performance of a peer group (Kiefe et al., 2001). Thus, audit and feedback works on the premise that practitioners will reflect on their past performance, recognise shortfalls in their practice and change their behaviour for future practice.

In contrast to prompts and reminders, which are delivered before, or at the time a clinical decision is made, feedback is delivered *after* decisions have been made. Thus, an evaluation of the consequences of decisions entails aggregating information on performance in order to change future decision-making (Bennett & Glasziou, 2003). Feedback may be:

- Passive Unsolicited information is provided, without the expectation that action will follow
- Active Clinicians are actively engaged in the particular practice under review (Mugford, Banfield, & O'Hanlon, 1991).

The rationale for audit and feedback is that health professionals, who may not be aware that their behaviour is not optimal, are more likely to change their behaviour if feedback shows that their clinical practice deviates from that of their peers or the recommended guidelines. Feedback involves providing individual practitioners with a report of their own specific professional practice, such as prescribing behaviour. A profile of their performance is presented, including a description of the discrepancies between their actual performance and that recommended by "gold standard" guidelines or compared to their peers.

Seven good to poor quality systematic reviews of 7-85 studies (Beilby & Silagy, 1997; Bennett & Glasziou, 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Hulscher et al., 2001; Jamtvedt et al., 2003; Weingarten et al., 2002) (Table 25) and three additional primary studies (Eccles et al., 2001; Kiefe et al., 2001; McCartney et al., 2001) (Table 26) evaluated the effectiveness of audit and feedback.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care (16) Prescribing (18) Disease management (30) Test ordering (10) Adherence to guidelines (11)	(Jamtvedt et al., 2003)	Level I: good quality SR 85 poor-good quality RCTs	Compliance with desired practice ranged from 9% absolute decrease to 71% absolute increase in performance ^d §	NS
Prescribing	(Bennett & Glasziou, 2003)	Level I: average quality SR 7 average quality RCTs	+ in 1/7 studies §	NA
Prescribing and test ordering	(Beilby & Silagy, 1997)	Level I: poor quality SR 3 RCTs ^e	+	NA
Prescribing	(Gill et al., 1999)	Level II: good quality SR 33 average-good quality controlled studies	+ in 17/33 studies	NA
Preventive care (3) Test ordering (3) Disease management (4)	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 10 average quality controlled studies	+ in 6/10 studies § Modest effect size	NS (1)
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 11 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ in 2/3 studies §	NA
Disease management	(Weingarten et al., 2002)	Level II: average quality SR 32 average quality controlled studies	+ in 9/16 studies § Moderate effect size	+ in 9/23 studies § Small effect size

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; ^d Increase in practitioner performance pertains to better compliance with recommended practice; decrease in performance is less compliance with recommended practice; ^e Study quality not assessed; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 26.	Effectiveness	of audit and	feedback – Prima	ry research summary
	Elicotiveliess	or addit arra		a y rosouron summury

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Prescribing / referral	(McCartney et al., 2001)	Level III-1: Average quality quasi-RCT	+ appropriate prescribing ± inappropriate prescribing	NA
Adherence to guidelines	(Eccles et al., 2001)	Level II: Good quality Cluster RCT	NS	NA
Disease management	(Kiefe et al., 2001)	Level III-1: Average quality quasi-cluster RCT	±	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.8.1. How effective is audit and feedback?

Process outcomes were significantly improved with the use of feedback in 14-60% of studies, whereas the impact on patients' control of their disease was non-significant or small in the few studies that measured patient outcomes. Relevant studies were mostly included in two systematic reviews (Grimshaw et al., 2004; Jamtvedt et al., 2003). Grimshaw et al. (2004) reported small to moderate effects of 1-16% improvement in professional practice in 10 studies, whereas Jamtvedt et al. (2003) examined 85 studies (5 studies were common to both reviews) and found highly variable results ranging from 9% reduction in performance to 71% improvement in practice.

The better quality studies in Jamtvedt et al. (2003) showed significant improvements in process outcomes, such as delivery of preventive care, prescribing behaviour and level of hygiene in practice. In contrast, relatively small improvements were apparent in the few studies that measured patient outcomes, such as patients' control of their disease (Weingarten et al., 2002). Jamtvedt et al. (2003) also reported that audit and feedback was most effective in conditions where the baseline adherence to recommended practice was low. An update of the Jamtvedt et al. review, comprising 118 studies, is now available (Jamtvedt, Young, Kristoffersen, O'Brien, & Oxman, 2006). Some of the studies added to the updated review are included in the additional primary studies in the present review. Results from the update confirm the association of low baseline performance with greater improvement, and showed an additional finding that higher 'intensity' of feedback was associated with greater effectiveness. Intensity of feedback was categorised in terms of:

- The recipient
- The format
- The source
- The frequency
- The duration
- The content of feedback.

These categories were then combined to describe "intensive", "moderately intensive" and "nonintensive" feedback types. For example, "intensive" feedback comprised individual recipients and verbal format; or prolonged feedback, with a senior colleague as the source of feedback. In contrast, "non-intensive" feedback comprised group recipients with a less experienced colleague as the source of feedback; or written format without personal incentives (e.g., simple costs or numbers of tests).

One good quality cluster RCT (Eccles et al., 2001) and two average quality quasi-RCTs (Kiefe et al., 2001; McCartney et al., 2001) investigated the effect of audit and feedback on changing practitioners' clinical performance. Results from these additional studies indicated mixed effects for audit and feedback interventions on the behaviour of health professionals (process outcomes). Two studies showed significant improvement in practice, with modest effect size (Kiefe et al., 2001; McCartney et al., 2001) (Table 54). Both studies combined audit and feedback with additional elements, such as distribution of benchmark data to improve practitioners' care for patients with diabetes mellitus (Kiefe et al., 2001), or educational material plus support for practitioners auditing patients to improve their hormone replacement therapy prescribing to women with a history of hysterectomy (McCartney et al., 2001).

No significant improvement in practice was demonstrated with the standard audit and feedback strategy. However, due to the limited follow-up time (3-4 months) in both studies, sustainability of the benefits of an *enhanced* feedback intervention is unknown. It is also worth noting that study subjects (Kiefe et al., 2001) were recruited from a population of physicians participating

in the Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement (ACQI) project – an intensive quality improvement program that informed physicians of their individual performance compared to that of their peers. Study physicians may have performed higher than their counterparts not involved in the ACQI intervention, due to a heightened awareness of their performance. In contrast, Eccles et al. (2001) reported that an initial positive effect (compliance with guidelines) was eliminated once sources of random variation were added in data analysis.

7.8.2. Key success factors of audit and feedback

While there was variability between studies in the format, content, timing and source of the feedback provided and in the complexity of the behaviour targeted for change, none of these factors explained the variation in relative effects across studies. However, analyses by Jamtvedt et al. (2003) showed that feedback was most effective in circumstances where baseline adherence to recommended practice was low. That is, poorly performing professionals were more likely to change after becoming aware of the need to improve their practice, while those already performing well had little need or scope to change. Therefore, feedback strategies are more likely to be successful in settings where professionals' practice has been identified as inadequate.

Other factors that may increase the effectiveness of audit and feedback include:

- Intensity of feedback. Intensive feedback is more interactive (individual recipients; verbal feedback), uses a credible source (senior colleague), and is delivered over a prolonged period. Non-intensive feedback is delivered to a group by a less credentialled person, in written format, and contains information on costs or data without personal incentives for improvement (Jamtvedt et al., 2006; Jamtvedt et al., 2003).
- Additional strategies. Standard feedback should be enhanced with other interventions (e.g., educational materials, audit support, public health promotion) (Eccles et al., 2001; Kiefe et al., 2001).

It has been suggested that other factors, such as the content, complexity and frequency of feedback, or the motivation of professionals, may impact on the effectiveness of this strategy. For example, if feedback is infrequent, or the interval between action and feedback is too long, it is possible that the feedback becomes disassociated from the initial activity and may fail to influence subsequent actions. In contrast, if the feedback is too frequent and the interval too short, it may become tedious and be ignored. In addition, some practitioners / practices may be more responsive to improvement efforts. Few studies have specifically examined these factors and Jamtvedt et al. (2003) reported no evidence to support or refute the suggestion that these factors contribute to the effectiveness of audit and feedback strategies.

7.8.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Overall, while the evidence was mixed, feedback may be most effective in organisations or groups of professionals where professional practice is poor.

Audit and feedback strategies are feasible in both clinical and non-clinical environments within the AOD field, provided that some objective measure of performance can be recorded for assessment. AOD areas where feedback may be useful are in delivery of preventive care, prescribing and test ordering.

7.9. Financial Incentives

Financial incentives involve some form of payment system, whereby individual practitioners receive remuneration that directly affects their personal disposable income. Financial incentives include:

- Capitation The practitioner receives a payment for the services provided to each registered patient.
- Salary The practitioner receives an annual salary for a specified number of hours per week, irrespective of the services provided or the number of patients attending.
- Fee-for-service (FFS) Practitioners are paid a fee for each item of care provided, such as consultations, immunisations, and prescriptions.
- Target payments Practitioners are remunerated for items of care (as in fee-for-service) only if they reach a certain target level of service (Gosden et al., 2000).

It must be noted that financial incentives depend largely on the health care system that exists in a country. That is, effective financial incentive systems in one country may not be reproduced in another country, which has a different healthcare infrastructure. In addition, other nonfinancial measures, such as CME and mandatory use of practice guidelines, may affect health professionals' incomes and behaviour. The causal relationship between financial and nonfinancial incentives is complex.

Two systematic reviews of 2-4 studies (Giuffrida et al., 2000; Gosden et al., 2000) and one good quality quasi-RCT (Hillman et al., 1998) evaluated the effectiveness of financial incentives (Table 27 and Table 28.)

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Giuffrida et al., 2000)	Level II: good quality SR 1 average quality RCT and 1 average quality ITS	NS	NS
General medicine	(Gosden et al., 2000)	Level II: good quality SR 4 average quality controlled studies	±§ NS over time	± NS over time

Table 27. Effectiveness of financial incentives – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 28. Effectiveness of Financial Incentives – Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Hillman et al., 1998)	Level III-1: Good quality Quasi-RCT	NS	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.9.1. How effective are financial incentives?

Two systematic reviews examined the effectiveness of different financial incentives on professional practice (Giuffrida et al., 2000; Gosden et al., 2000). The use of target payments for professional practice was inconclusive or improvements were non-significant (Giuffrida et al., 2000). Gosden et al. (2000) reported some evidence for higher services under fee-for-service (FFS) compared to capitation or salary; decreased practitioner visits with salary compared to capitation; and increased costs with capitation compared to FFS. Patient outcomes were not assessed in these studies. Practitioners paid by FFS provided higher quality of primary care services compared with capitation or salary, but evidence was not robust or generalisable to different settings. Overall, financial incentives showed some evidence of effectiveness at reducing drug costs, reducing the number of days in hospital, and improving prescribing performance (Giuffrida et al., 2000). Giuffrida et al. (2000) (2 studies) reported overall positive (non-significant) effects of target payments for immunisation.

On the other hand, Gosden et al. (2000) (4 studies) reported significant positive effects of capitation (compared to FFS) in the areas of: prescribing; days spent in hospital; recommended clinician visits; appropriate referrals; diagnostic services; hospitalisations; and emergency visits. However, several outcomes (clinician visits, emergency visits and hospitalisations) were non-significant at 12 months follow-up. There was also evidence of a larger number of services provided under FFS compared to capitation or salary; fewer recommended practitioner visits with salary compared to capitation; and higher administrative costs associated with capitation compared to FFS (Gosden et al., 2000). Importantly, settings, outcome measures and interventions varied substantially between studies that also lacked statistical power and had relatively high baseline rates (Giuffrida et al., 2000).

Evidence from one additional primary study (Hillman et al., 1998) indicated that performancebased financial incentives did not improve practitioners' compliance with cancer screening guidelines in four screening areas: Pap smear test; colorectal screening; mammography and breast examination in a preventive care setting (Table 55, Appendix B).

7.9.2. Key success factors of financial incentives

The available evidence on effectiveness of financial incentives was neither robust nor generalisable to different settings. Overall, studies that assessed the effectiveness of using performance-based financial incentives as a tool for raising practitioners' awareness and compliance with evidence-based preventive practice showed inconclusive or mixed effects.

However, several factors should be taken into consideration, including:

- Magnitude of the financial incentive. The level of reward should be appropriate relative to their overall income, yet must be sustainable by the organisation providing the incentive.
- Concurrent incentives. Competing incentives or disincentives may diminish the impact of a particular financial incentive scheme.
- Mode and frequency of payments. Regular vs one-off payments. Uncoupling the action and consequence may occur if financial incentives are not paid at regular intervals. A financial incentive that is offered until an optimal level of care has been reached or certain practice has been undertaken may bring about progressive behaviour change toward sustainable evidence-based practice, whereas implementing a 'withdrawal from payment until an optimal level of care has been achieved' strategy may serve as a disincentive to change practice.

Further research is required to examine these and other factors in the Australian setting.

7.9.3. Relevance to the AOD field

The transferability and generalisability of results that contain geographic-specific characteristics is problematic. This is particularly the case for financial incentive strategies, which are constrained by the political and legislative infrastructure of a particular health system. Capitation and target-based incentives operate on a limited scale in Australia.

However, some form of strategy involving financial incentives is feasible in both clinical and non-clinical environments provided that some objective measure of performance can be recorded for assessment. Australian health professionals receive some financial incentives as recognition of good performance, for example through programs established by the Australian Government such as the General Practice Immunisation Incentives (GPII) Scheme, the Service Incentive Payments Scheme (SIPS), which is associated with the management of some chronic conditions, and the Practice Incentives Program (PIP), which aid the implementation of national health-related strategies by supporting health professionals to provide quality care (www.hic.gov.au). These programs remain under continual review to ensure they are effective in improving health care outcomes. It is currently premature to make judgements regarding the effect of such programs, yet they may have applicability to the AOD field in future. For example, NSW Health currently administers the Pharmacy Incentive Scheme, which provides payment to pharmacists who provide Methadone / Buprenorphine pharmacotherapy dispensing services.

Within the AOD field, financial resources are typically sparse, making the use of performancebased financial incentives unlikely. Although limited availability of resources for the AOD field may preclude the use of financial incentives to induce behaviour change, other non-financial performance-based incentives, such as recognition of effort and contribution and support for professional development activities (CME) may be appropriate alternatives.

7.10. Electronic Educational Sources

Due to the vast development of communication technologies and modalities, electronic educational sources, such as the Internet, on-line databases and CD-ROMs, are being used increasingly to disseminate information. In comparison to conventional print or paper-based modes of disseminating educational information, electronic sources offer a multitude of advantages such as:

- time (quick access)
- usability (convenient)
- reduced cost for the party disseminating information and the intended user.

For example, the CD-ROM has the advantage of storing large volumes of high quality information in the form of text, graphics and other visual and audio media contained in a compact format that may be readily transferred from researcher / communicator to health care provider. In comparison to telephone, fax and postal services, the Internet, including communication through email and instant messaging, also has advantages, such as providing information in a convenient, unrestricted format that may be instantly exchanged and at low cost (once the system has been established).

Electronic information may be interactive and presented in a format that is visually appealing. It enables the user to navigate independently through the information in their preferred order and pace and to access information relevant to their practice needs.

Not only is the Internet capable of digitalising conventional formats of information dissemination through the conversion of written reports into pdfs, for example, but technologies such as videoconferencing enable face-to-face interactions whilst overcoming the problem of geographic distance.

Telemedicine, which is defined as "the use of telecommunications technology for medical diagnosis and patient care" (Currell, Urquhart, Wainwright, & Lewis, 2001), involves use of telecommunications to deliver medical services to sites distant from the health service provider. It utilises conventional telephone services, computer modems, satellites and other equipment to transmit and receive data.

Potential limitations of using electronic sources to disseminate information are the need for a minimum level of computer literacy for locating and retrieving information and access to a computer.

There were no available systematic reviews evaluating the effectiveness of electronic educational sources.

One primary study met the inclusion criteria for the electronic educational sources category (Table 29 and Table 56, Appendix B). A quasi-RCT (Di Noia et al., 2003) examined the effectiveness of electronic educational sources by comparing the Internet and CD-ROMs to pamphlets as strategies for disseminating drug use prevention programs to social workers in a community setting.

7.10.1. How effective are electronic educational sources?

Evidence from one average quality quasi-RCT showed that, when used in a community-based setting, disseminating prevention program materials via electronic sources including CD-ROMs and the Internet in comparison to pamphlet form provided a short- and long-term (sustained) benefit to practice (Di Noia et al., 2003). At 12-months follow-up, dissemination via the Internet resulted in the greatest improvement in process outcomes including agency workers' perceived self-efficacy for obtaining and recommending prevention programs, and their likelihood of recommending effective prevention programs to clients. Patient outcomes were not assessed.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Di Noia et al., 2003)	Average quality Quasi-RCT	+	NA

Table 29. Effectiveness of electronic educational sources – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

7.10.2. Key success factors of electronic educational sources

The factors that are important to the success of educational materials more generally (see section 7.1.2, Educational materials) are also important to the success of electronic educational sources, with some additional elements, including:

- Accessibility. Information was more accessible via the Internet compared with CD-ROM or pamphlet format.
- Tailored to individuals. Information was tailored to individuals within the broader target group to enhance the relevance and appeal of the content (Di Noia et al., 2003).

7.10.3. Relevance to the AOD field

Di Noia et al. (2003) explored the dissemination of adolescent drug abuse prevention programs to agency workers in community-based settings including policy makers, school personnel and community service providers that influence public attitudes and support for youth-oriented programs. When disseminated via the Internet and CD-ROM, information about effective substance use prevention programs and best

practice had a greater likelihood of increasing agency workers' access to prevention program materials, self-efficacy for identifying and obtaining prevention programs and likelihood of requesting, implementing and recommending prevention programs to clients compared to pamphlets. Although this study was undertaken in the USA, it contains no geographical specificities and the findings are generalisable to the Australian AOD setting.

Given that there was only one study that met the inclusion criteria, the evidence is not robust. However, results suggested that dissemination of best-practice information to AOD workers via electronic sources may be effectively used in preventive care settings. In addition, while dependent on the availability of Internet facilities, this strategy may be particularly useful for those in rural and remote communities in Australia.



8. Organisational Interventions

Organisational interventions refer to interventions that are oriented to change in organisational practices (see Table 4). Interventions included here are:

- Record and / or office systems
- · Multi-disciplinary collaborations (integrated care)
- · Alternative care providers / settings
- · Continuous quality improvement.

Organisational factors impact on individuals' participation and adoption of innovations. Moreover, a recent study has shown that even when staff are aware of the need for change and accept that an innovation will meet their needs, organisational culture moderates the likelihood of adopting the innovation (Simpson, Joe, & Rowan-Szal, 2007).

8.1. Record and Office Systems

Record and office systems store and manage information that may be accessed and used to inform patient care. These systems aim to improve the flow of information within an organisation, and provide comprehensive up-to-date patient details and clear and precise care plans for individual patients. This strategy involves structural changes within an organisation to accommodate the system and procedures, as well as changes in staff behaviour to maintain and operate the system.

"A nursing record system is the record of care planned and / or given to individual patients / clients by qualified nurses, or by other care givers under the direction of a qualified nurse" (Currell & Urquhart, 2003). Used for the storage and exchange of information, nursing record systems vary considerably and include manual or computerised versions, centrally-held or patient-held records, and structured or unstructured systems. While the structured nursing record system involves entering data in a structured format (e.g., care plans and flow charts), with standardised phrasing and unambiguous terminology, the unstructured system allows unrestricted entry of information in freer format.

Record systems may be one component of a multi-faceted office system (e.g., patient flow chart). An office-system is "an organised approach within a medical practice for routinely providing a given service (for example, cancer screening) to patients for whom this service is indicated" (Kinsinger et al., 1998).

Office systems require that practice staff take an organisational level approach and work in a team. As a consequence, the onus for change does not lie with individual health care providers. The key to this strategy is segmenting an activity or health procedure into clearly defined steps, and then developing and implementing a process involving both practitioners and office staff to ensure the steps are performed for every appropriate patient. For example, one office system established the division of responsibilities amongst staff, clearly defined expectations and routines, and provided explanations for the use of medical record flow sheets (Dietrich et al., 1992). Office systems typically comprise various tools such as:

- · flow sheets
- chart prompts
- · patient care algorithms
- · patient education brochures
- · wall posters
- · patient held cards.

These tools are integrated within usual practice procedures and adopted by all practice staff – both practitioners and office staff – to track patient care, prompt appropriate clinical actions, and provide patient education. Ideally, all steps are documented, activities are revised for improvement and the office system is tailored to the needs and work patterns of the individual practice.

Two systematic reviews of 1-8 studies (Currell & Urquhart, 2003; Hulscher et al., 2001) assessed the effectiveness of record systems (Table 30) and five additional studies (Boekeloo et al., 2003; Boekeloo et al., 2004; Dietrich et al., 1992; Kinsinger et al., 1998; McBride et al., 2000; Ockene et al., 1999)⁹ (Table 31) assessed the effectiveness of office systems or office-based interventions.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Currell & Urquhart, 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 8 poor quality controlled studies	NS	NS
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 2 poor-average quality controlled studies	+	NA

Table 30. Effectiveness of record systems – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 31. Effectiveness of office systems – Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Boekeloo et al., 2003; Boekeloo et al., 2004) (adolescent alcohol use)	Level II: RCT Good quality	± improvement in most but not all outcomes	-
	(McBride et al., 2000) (heart disease prevention)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+	NA
	(Kinsinger et al., 1998) (breast cancer screening)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NA
	(Ockene et al., 1999) (nutrition counselling)	Level III-1: Quasi RCT Average quality	NA	+
	(Dietrich et al., 1992) (cancer prevention)	Level III-1: Quasi RCT Good quality	± improvement in most but not all outcomes	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

⁹ Outcomes from one study were reported in two separate papers (Boekeloo et al., 2003, 2004).
8.1.1. How effective are record and / or office systems?

One systematic review (Currell & Urquhart, 2003) evaluated the effectiveness of client-held records (compared with centrally-held) and computerised patient records (compared with manual record keeping). Record systems had no significant effect on nursing practice and patient outcomes, except in the following circumstances:

- Identification of children's pain intensity improved with the use of a paediatric pain management sheet
- Documentation standards improved after implementing two paper-based nursing record systems
- Nurses' recording of care planning increased when a computerised planning system was implemented (but with no significant change to patient outcomes).

One study in an existing systematic review (Hulscher et al., 2001) reported a significant improvement in the delivery of preventive health services after changing the flow of patients by booking appointments at 10 minute intervals. All review results should be considered with caution, however, as included studies were generally of poor to average quality and comprised small sample sizes.

Office systems or office-based interventions evaluated in the five additional primary studies (Boekeloo et al., 2003; Boekeloo et al., 2004; Dietrich et al., 1992; Kinsinger et al., 1998; McBride et al., 2000; Ockene et al., 1999) comprised a wide variety of different components, which made evaluating effectiveness and identifying attributes of effectiveness challenging (Table 57 and Table 58, Appendix B). The process used to facilitate the development and implementation of office systems also differed. All studies were conducted in preventive health care settings.

Office-based interventions had mixed effects for process outcomes, with most studies reporting improvement in some, but not all outcomes. Most studies showed improvements in the delivery of preventive health services, particularly for heart disease (McBride et al., 2000) and three out of five indicators for cancer (Kinsinger et al., 1998; Ockene et al., 1999) (Table 57, Appendix B). There was no additional effect gained in the presence of other strategies, such as educational meetings or materials (Dietrich et al., 1992). However, when two office systems were implemented concurrently and combined with a relevant conference, improvement in practice was greater than either system alone, which were better than controls (conference alone), and the improvement was sustained at 18 months follow-up (McBride et al., 2000).

One study (Boekeloo et al., 2003) demonstrated no statistically significant improvements in patient-provider communication using a 'patient-priming' ¹⁰ program for improving patient-provider communication. However, when combined with provider prompts, young people were more likely to talk to, and ask questions of, their health care provider during checkups than were young people in the control group.

Patient outcomes also showed mixed effects, with improvements in saturated fat intake, weight loss and cholesterol levels in one study when a training program was combined with an office system (Ockene et al., 1999), yet a potentially adverse effect in another, where greater intent to drink and more binge drinking was reported in groups receiving an intervention (Boekeloo et al., 2004) (Table 31 and Table 58, Appendix B).

¹⁰ Patient priming involved patients listening to a 15 minute tape recording about alcohol risk behaviours prior to consultation.

8.1.2. Key success factors of office systems

Record and office systems typically address several potential practice environment barriers to change, such as the need for staff to work as a cohesive team and to develop strategic plans for consistent and thorough patient care. Record and office systems varied substantially across the studies.

- Characteristics of the record or office system. Office-systems are typically multi-faceted and involve the simultaneous implementation of multiple activities. Each component that constitutes the office system appears to add value to different aspects of the overall desired behaviour change. For example, McBride et al. (2000) found different effects for two office systems implemented as part of the same study. One system, which used a quality improvement consultation intervention, set more goals, whereas the other, which used a dedicated prevention coordinator, achieved greater increases in the use of medical record tools and in the documentation of screening and management. Each intervention group demonstrated significant improvement compared to controls, yet in different practice areas.
- Implementation environment. The environment or setting in which office systems are
 implemented may impact on the effectiveness of this strategy. Practice change requires
 a team effort; system changes are needed to foster a supportive office environment that
 is receptive to change and that will improve services. One office system had a modest
 effect on performing breast cancer screening, despite tailoring the system to both breast
 cancer screening and the unique organisational needs of the practice (Kinsinger et al.,
 1998). This study also evaluated the process of development and implementation of the
 office system. Results suggested that complete development and full acceptance of the
 system within a practice was a prerequisite for an effective office system.
- Complexity of behaviours to be changed. When implementing record or office systems, health care organisations set goals for change. The complexity of behaviours to be changed may impact on the success of the intervention. For example, McBride et al. (2000) found that screening goals, particularly smoking screening, were more commonly set by organisations than were management goals. McBride et al. speculated that screening goals may be easier to achieve compared with more complex changes in provider and patient behaviour required for management goals. Similarly, smoking screening is deemed a less complex screening activity compared to cholesterol or cancer screening procedures as far as the level and type of patient-provider interaction required.
- Tailoring system to needs. Office systems can be tailored to the unique and diverse needs of individual practices and health care providers. This is an important factor for establishing motivation for change and maintenance of that change.
- Including additional functionality by combining an office system with other tools (multifaceted). For example, a patient-mediated intervention was more effective when enhanced with provider prompts (Boekeloo et al., 2003).

It should be noted that Kinsinger et al. (1998) examined a number of factors to identify associations with improvement in performance over time. Results showed that change in performance over time was not associated with providers' attitudes to, or beliefs in the effectiveness of the intervention (breast cancer screening), their stated readiness to change, or their perceptions of community standard of practice.

8.1.3. Relevance to the AOD field

While no available studies specifically tested record or office systems in the AOD field, many were conducted in preventive health settings and may be transferable to preventive health care pertaining to AOD issues.

Office systems may be a useful tool to improve health care providers' skills in screening for alcohol and / or other drug (AOD) use. Screening and routine history-taking may assist health care providers to:

- identify an AOD problem
- monitor changes in clients' behaviour or health condition
- · identify the need for early intervention
- establish and implement a care and / or treatment plan depending on the needs of the client.

In an exploratory sub-study of a longitudinal study on young people's alcohol behaviours, Boekeloo et al. (2003) assessed the effect of priming young patients to discuss alcohol with their primary care providers. They also examined whether additional effect was gained by prompting providers to discuss alcohol during a consultation. Alcohol-related discussion topics included: avoiding alcohol; effects of alcohol on decisions; resisting peer pressure to drink; dangers of drinking and driving; avoiding places where teenagers drink; avoiding other teenagers when they are drinking; and the risk of combining drinking and sex. Young patients were 'primed' to discuss alcohol-related topics via a 15-minute audio program created by the investigators. The program addressed communication and confidentiality issues as well as information regarding the risks of excessive alcohol consumption. Evidence suggests that priming alone was not effective in encouraging young people to communicate with their health care provider on alcohol-related matters, but communication improved when priming was reinforced with provider prompts.

8.2. Multi-Disciplinary Collaborative Approaches (Integrated care)

Multi-disciplinary collaborative strategies include any health care approach that involves complementary inter-professional collaboration (clinicians, nurses, pharmacists, social workers, psychologists), working together as a team to care for patients. This includes collaborative team care, continuity of care and case-management, which is frequently used in the management of patients with chronic diseases. The efficiency and quality of health care may depend on the extent to which inter-professional relationships are collaborative.

Three systematic reviews of 1-12 studies (Gilbody et al., 2003; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Harvey et al., 2002; Renders et al., 2001) (Table 32) and one additional primary study (Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team, 1994) (Table 33) evaluated the effectiveness of using a multi-disciplinary, inter-professional collaboration (or integrated care) approach to improve the delivery of health services.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Gilbody et al., 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 12 average quality controlled studies	+	+
Disease management	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 1 average quality RCT	NA	+ §
Disease management	(Renders et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 4 average quality controlled studies	±§	+ §

Table 32. Effectiveness of multi-disciplinary approaches – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; \pm indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 33. Effectiveness of multi-disciplinary interventions (integrated care) – Primary research summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management (diabetes)	(Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team, 1994)	Level III-1: Quasi-RCT Poor quality	±	NS

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

8.2.1. How effective is the multi-disciplinary approach (integrated care)?

As with other dissemination strategies, multi-disciplinary interventions varied substantially in their content, complexity, and targeted behaviours as well as the disciplines involved in the collaboration. Overall, multi-disciplinary team approaches were no more effective at changing professional practice or improving the health status, quality of life or disease-management of patients, than traditional care.

Enhancing the role of one health care professional in the mix¹¹ yielded mixed results, with some studies demonstrating a deterioration in performance (Grimshaw et al., 2004) and others showing no significant improvement or small significant improvement with some roles (e.g., pharmacists and dieticians) (Renders et al., 2001). There was also a wide range of effects on patients, with reduced hospital stay, reduced costs and increased satisfaction with care (Gilbody et al., 2003).

Studies contained in one good quality review revealed positive effects on patient outcomes for multi-disciplinary care in a variety of formats, including combinations with revision of professional roles (i.e., improving the role of the nurse), formal integration of services, changes in medical record systems and patient education (Renders et al., 2001).

Using computer-coordinated 'integrated care' for diabetes care, patients were given more frequent metabolic monitoring and screening for diabetic complications than patients who received conventional care (Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team, 1994) (Table 59, Appendix B). However, overall the integrated care model had no distinct advantage over standard, conventional hospital care. Data were not extracted for process outcomes as

baseline scores were not provided, nor reported as similar or adjusted for using appropriate statistical procedures.

Patient outcomes relating to metabolic control and psychological wellbeing were not significantly different between integrated care and conventional care. Since baseline levels for psychological wellbeing were not reported nor recorded as similar or adjusted for using appropriate statistical procedures, outcome data were not extracted.

8.2.2. Key success factors of multi-disciplinary (integrated care) interventions

Overall, evidence revealed mixed effects for a multi-disciplinary collaborative care approach, with poor study quality and heterogeneity between study interventions, settings, and populations. However, there are some characteristics that may increase the likelihood of success of a collaborative care approach:

- Enhanced with additional strategies. Including patient education with a collaborative care approach for management of depression symptoms improved treatment adherence and patient recovery (Gilbody et al., 2003).
- Coordination of patient appointments with reminders to patient and provider. Computergenerated reminders about due consultations were sent to patients receiving integrated care. In addition, providers received the most recent clinical details (Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team, 1994).

From the patient's perspective, the most commonly perceived advantages of integrated care were (improved) accessibility, time savings, continuity of care, and reduced cost of attending appointments. However, the most commonly perceived disadvantage was reduced quality of care.

8.2.3. Relevance to AOD field

The most relevant evidence for the AOD field is derived from one systematic review on management of depression – a common disorder associated with AOD-related problems. Gilbody et al. (2003) concluded that collaborative care approaches, including case management, were generally effective in improving the management of depression and patients' adherence to medication. However, improvements were only sustained during the period of enhanced care.

Given the high incidence of co-morbidities, and the complexity of AOD-related problems, clients commonly require assistance in a broad range of areas, including health, social services, housing, employment and legal services. Therefore, sound working relationships between these services are important. Good quality studies are needed to test the effectiveness of collaborative approaches between relevant services in the AOD field.

8.3. Alternative Care Approaches

Traditionally, health care services are provided by health professionals in a general practice or hospital setting. A different approach is to introduce an alternative health care provider or setting in which patients receive treatment, recover from treatment, or manage a chronic disease. For example, tasks or consultations usually provided by a practitioner may be undertaken by a nurse practitioner. In diabetes management, it is common practice for a nurse educator to advise patients on lifestyle changes and disease management skills.

Three systematic reviews (Grimshaw et al., 2004; Harvey et al., 2002; Renders et al., 2001) (Table 34) and two additional primary studies (Campbell et al., 1998; Sikka et al., 1999) (Table 35) evaluated the effectiveness of using alternative care approaches to improve health care.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Harvey et al., 2002)	Level II: good quality SR 13 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ in 2/13 studies §	+ in 2/13 studies §
Disease management	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 1 average quality CBA	-	NA
Disease management	(Renders et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 4 average quality controlled studies	+ (1 study)	+ in 2/4 studies §

Table 34. Effectiveness of alternative care approaches – Systematic review summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Table 35. Effectiveness	of alternative care	approach – F	Primary researc	h summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Secondary prevention (heart disease)	(Campbell et al., 1998)	Level II: RCT Average quality	+	NA
Disease management (diabetes)	(Sikka et al., 1999)	Level II: RCT Average quality	+	NA

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

8.3.1. How effective is the alternative care approach?

Evidence revealed mixed effects using an alternative approach to improve patient care. While some studies showed significant improvement in the management of obesity, including greater weight loss in patients treated by a dietician or professional therapist, most studies had small sample sizes, high drop-out rates and limited follow-up (Harvey et al., 2002). Results were similar for the management of diabetes, with small effect sizes in studies where improvements in the intervention group were significantly better than control (Renders et al., 2001).

Nurse-led clinics implemented in general practice improved secondary prevention outcomes, with the exception of smoking cessation (Campbell et al., 1998) and a nurse case manager (as opposed to usual care provided by a primary care physician) improved renal assessment in patients with diabetes (Sikka et al., 1999) (Table 60, Appendix B).

8.3.2. Key success factors of alternative care approach

Evidence suggests that the effectiveness of an alternative care approach may be dependent on several factors:

- Dedicated staff and clinical support for the approach: Sikka et al. (1999) attributed the success of their alternative care intervention to the support and participation of respected clinical staff, which created high comfort and confidence levels in patient safety and program value among general practitioners.
- Behaviour amenable to change: Campbell et al. (1998) noted that some behaviours may be more difficult to change than others. For example, medical treatment may be 'easier' to change than lifestyle components (e.g., smoking cessation in patients with diagnoses of heart disease).

8.3.3. Relevance to AOD field

No studies in the existing systematic reviews or the additional studies specifically assessed the alternative care approach in an AOD setting. Of most relevance is the Campbell et al. (1998) study, which found that nurse-led clinics improved all aspects of secondary prevention except smoking cessation. However, no strong conclusions can be drawn due to the paucity of AOD-related evidence.

There is a range of tasks and procedures, particularly preventive health, screening and monitoring activities, which could be conducted by alternative care providers within an AOD setting. For example, methadone / buprenorphin maintenance treatment for eligible clients is dispensed by authorised pharmacists. Other potential tasks for alternative care providers include: implementing alcohol or other drug screening tools; providing advice on AOD use to pregnant women; and implementing outcome monitoring programs, such as pharmacotherapies dispensed through pharmacies.

8.4. Continuous Quality Improvement

Continuous quality improvement (CQI) usually involves an iterative process of problemsolving and group decision-making that centres on the analysis of organisational systems and work processes, and is designed to achieve improvements in health outcomes. CQI focuses on improving processes that influence the flow of three principal factors – information (paper or electronic records), material (e.g., blood samples sent to a lab for testing), and patients. It is also widely used to implement CPGs (Brown et al., 2000).

CQI models typically entail three phases:

- Diagnostic phase Identify a specific problem and use data analysis, brainstorming, process flowcharts to identify and prioritise the root causes of the problem, such as failure to adhere to recommended practice.
- Remedial phase Identify measurable outcomes (e.g., functional health, quality of life, satisfaction); define and test possible "solution tracks"; and recommend a selected number for implementation.
- Implementation phase Recommendations are put into practice using a series of limited changes. The product of this model then progresses through another cycle of the above phases.

Rapid cycle improvement is a similar format, used primarily in the Institute for Health Care Improvement Breakthrough Series for reducing adverse drug events and medication errors. Changes in the rapid cycle improvement method are tested on a smaller scale, without flowchart processes and extensive measuring. Studies assessing the effectiveness of rapid cycle improvement typically lacked control groups and failed to meet the inclusion criteria for the present review.

One existing systematic review (Gilbody et al., 2003) (Table 36) and four additional primary studies (Feifer & Ornstein, 2004; Irvine Doran et al., 2002; Rantz et al., 2001; Solberg et al., 2000) (Table 37) evaluated continuous quality improvement (CQI).

Table 36. Effectiveness of continuous quality improvement – Systematic reviews summary

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease management	(Gilbody et al., 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 2 average quality controlled studies	+	+ NS at 24 months

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care	(Solberg et al., 2000)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NA
Disease management (cardiovascular and stroke)	(Feifer & Ornstein, 2004)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Average quality	NS	NA
Patient care / management (nursing home care facilities)	(Rantz et al., 2001)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Average quality	±	NA
Disease management and general medicine	(Irvine Doran et al., 2002)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Poor quality	NS	NA

Table 37. Effectiveness of continuous quality improvement – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

8.4.1. How effective is continuous quality improvement?

One systematic review included two studies that evaluated CQI interventions in the management of patients with depression (Gilbody et al., 2003). The CQI interventions were very complex, with educational and organisational components, including clinician education, opinion leaders, patient-specific reminders, revision of professional roles, and multi-disciplinary integration of care. Both studies showed statistically significant improvement in medication adherence (p<0.001) and depression symptoms (p=0.03) at both six and 12 months. By 24 months, the benefit for patient outcomes was no longer evident, although medication adherence persisted (p=0.04).

Data were extracted for only two additional primary studies (Irvine Doran et al., 2002; Rantz et al., 2001) (Table 61, Appendix B). Rantz et al. (2001) tested the effectiveness of two quality improvement interventions and found that simply providing comparative performance feedback was not sufficient to change clinical practice, but when feedback was combined with academic detailing in the form of expert clinical consultation, this resulted in improvement, although not at a statistically significant level.

One good quality RCT (Solberg et al., 2000) provided incomplete data (except in graph format), hence data for this study has not been extracted. Solberg et al. (2000) reported statistically significant improvement in delivering preventive care in only one of seven preventive care services. Data were not extracted from the Feifer and Ornstein (2004) study as baseline scores were not provided, nor reported as similar or adjusted for.

The paucity of good quality empirical studies that evaluated whether CQI is effective in improving the quality of health care limited conclusions that could be drawn regarding the overall effectiveness of this approach.

8.4.2. Key success factors of continuous quality improvement

Solberg et al. (2000) suggest that the limited effect of their CQI intervention may be because the clinics recruited to this study were atypical and possibly resistant to change; the intervention was resource-intensive / time-consuming; CQI was not an appropriate mechanism for making preventive service improvements; and the intervention was not delivered satisfactorily.

Rantz et al. (2001) proposed that CQI was more likely to be effective under the following conditions:

- Clear standards of practice Improvements in practice occurred in areas where the standards are well understood and "staff could grasp the clinical changes needed for better management of these clinical problems" (Rantz et al., 2001, p. 535)
- Limited number and scope of change required "While we can generate a myriad of quality indicator information for teams to examine, they can only focus on one or two areas for improvement at a time...there is a limit to the time and energy of staff that can be harnessed to implement and sustain change" (Rantz et al., 2001, p. 535)
- Adequate staffing and resources to implement change "The problems of staff turnover and too few staff to participate in a quality improvement team also interfere with the number of areas that can be addressed, changed and sustained as an acceptable clinical practice" (Rantz et al., 2001, p. 535).

8.4.3. Relevance to AOD field

CQI interventions are typically time and resource intensive and are not supported by empirical evidence. CQI interventions that seek to alter workplace processes may not be appropriate / feasible in the AOD field that is often under-resourced and experiences high staff turnover. Staff who are retained are frequently under considerable time pressure.

9. Other Interventions

Other strategies that have emerged from the literature include marketing, mass media and multi-faceted strategies. These address the problem of dissemination and implementation by using a more general "scatter-gun" approach (mass media, mass mailouts), combining strategies (multi-faceted) or tailoring the strategy by identifying and breaking down the barriers to implementation.

Other interventions that were evaluated included:

- Mailouts
- Multi-faceted interventions.

9.1. Mailouts

Mass media and mailouts are simple strategies that aim to deliver information to the general public or large groups of people in a specific target audience (e.g., general practitioners, AOD professionals). Television, radio and print media are used for dissemination of information that is of interest to public health in the general population. Other media include listservs, websites and email lists, particularly for disseminating information to target groups.

One primary study evaluated the effectiveness of mailouts to facilitate change in practitioners' behaviour (Matowe et al., 2002) (Table 38).

9.1.1. How effective are mailouts?

Using the same population of general practitioners (GPs) as described previously by Eccles et al. (2001) (audit and feedback and reminder messages on GPs' requests for lumbar spine and knee x-rays), Matowe et al. (2002) reported no significant effect of postal distribution of guidelines on GPs' referral behaviour as determined by time series regressions (Table 62, Appendix B). This is congruent with other evidence that simple, passive dissemination strategies are often less effective for changing behaviour and increasing uptake of evidence (Freemantle et al., 1997; Grimshaw et al., 2004). While significant improvements were observed for reminder messages with this population, audit and feedback and mass mailouts of guidelines had no effect.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Referral (radiography)	(Matowe et al., 2002)	Level III-3: Interrupted time series - no control Good quality	NS	NA

Table 38. Effectiveness of mail outs – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

9.1.2. Key success factors of mailouts

There were insufficient studies with methodological rigour to make a conclusive statement of effect.

9.1.3. Relevance to AOD field

While mailouts to the AOD field are common, there were no available studies that evaluated the effectiveness of this strategy in this area. Moreover, evidence in other health areas was sparse and precluded making firm conclusions about the effectiveness of this strategy.

9.2. Multi-faceted Interventions

Multi-faceted interventions employ two or more strategies (as detailed throughout this report) to address several aspects of health care from a variety of perspectives. Combining strategies is thought to address more of the barriers to change and thus increase the likelihood of influencing a wider group of individuals with different learning styles, values and motivation levels.

Seven systematic reviews of 8-115 studies (Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2004; Currell & Urquhart, 2003; Gill et al., 1999; Grimshaw et al., 2004; Hulscher et al., 2001; Jamtvedt et al., 2003; Renders et al., 2001) (Table 39) and 19 additional primary studies (Bekkering et al., 2005; Cooke et al., 2001; Flottorp et al., 2003; Forsetlund et al., 2003; Foy et al., 2004; Frijling et al., 2003; Frijling et al., 2002; Heller et al., 2001; Joseph et al., 2004; Langham et al., 2002; Lemelin et al., 2001; Margolis et al., 2004; Nilsson et al., 2001; Philbin et al., 2000; Sanci et al., 2000; Schectman et al., 2003; Searle et al., 2002; Waldorff et al., 2003; Wright et al., 2003; Young et al., 2002) (Table 40) evaluated the effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Preventive care (12) Prescribing / test ordering (8) Disease management (20)	(Jamtvedt et al., 2003)	Level I: good quality SR 40 average quality RCTs	+ in 19/40 studies §	NA
Preventive care	(Anderson & Jane-Llopis, 2004; Anderson et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 16 average quality controlled studies	+ studies using multi-faceted interventions were more effective in changing practitioners' behaviour compared to those with single interventions	+
Preventive care	(Currell & Urquhart, 2003)	Level II: good quality SR 8 poor quality controlled studies	NS	NS
Prescribing	(Gill et al., 1999)	Level II: good quality SR 22 average quality controlled studies	+ in 11/22 studies §	NA
Preventive care (34) Prescribing/test ordering (43) Disease/pain management (27) Counselling (2) Diagnosis (1) Organisational change (8)	(Grimshaw et al., 2004)	Level II: good quality SR 115 average quality controlled studies	+ in 54/115 studies §	+ in 8/25 studies §
Preventive care	(Hulscher et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 25 poor-average quality controlled studies	+ Small-moderate effect size	NA
Disease management	(Renders et al., 2001)	Level II: good quality SR 20 poor-average quality controlled studies	±§	±§

Table 39. Effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions – Systematic reviews summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SR = systematic review.

Research area	References	Level and quality of evidence ^a	Process outcomes ^b	Patient outcomes ^c
Disease prevention / management	<i>Diabetes:</i> (Frijling et al., 2002)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+ in 3/7 outcomes	NS
	<i>Heart disease:</i> (Frijling et al., 2003)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+ in 5/12 outcomes	NA
	<i>Heart disease:</i> (Langham et al., 2002)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+	NS
	<i>Heart disease:</i> (Philbin et al., 2000)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Good quality	NS	NS
	<i>Heart disease:</i> (Heller et al., 2001)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Good quality	NS	NA
	Asthma and angina: (Wright et al., 2003)	Level III-2: Non- randomised study Average quality	NS §	NA
Preventive health care	<i>Smoking cessation:</i> (Young et al., 2002)	Level II: cluster RCT Good quality	+ in 2/13 outcomes	NA
	(Lemelin et al., 2001)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Good quality	+	NA
	<i>Adolescent health:</i> (Sanci et al., 2000)	Level II-1: quasi-RCT Good quality	+	+
	<i>Smoking cessation:</i> (Cooke et al., 2001)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Average quality	NS	NA
	<i>Smoking cessation:</i> (Joseph et al., 2004) ^d	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Average quality	+ in 2/7 outcomes	NS
	<i>Paediatrics:</i> (Margolis et al., 2004)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+	NA
Evidence-based public health practice	(Forsetlund et al., 2003)	Level II: RCT Good quality	±	NA
Pain management	<i>Lower back pain:</i> (Bekkering et al., 2005)	Level II: cluster RCT Average quality	+ §	NA
	<i>Lower back pain:</i> (Schectman et al., 2003)	Level II: RCT Good quality	+	NA
Referral for / performance of	<i>Gynaecology:</i> (Searle et al., 2002)	Level II: RCT Average quality	NS	NA
surgical procedure	<i>Gynaecology (abortion):</i> (Foy et al., 2004)	Level II: cluster RCT Poor quality	NS §	NA
Prescribing	<i>Infection:</i> (Flottorp et al., 2003)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Poor quality	+	NA
	Hypertension, peptic ulcer/dyspepsia & depression: (Nilsson et al., 2001)	Level III-1: quasi-RCT Poor quality	+ in 1/8 outcomes	NA
Diagnostic evaluations	<i>Dementia:</i> (Waldorff et al., 2003)	Level III-3: CBA design Average quality	NS	NA

Table 40. Effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions – Primary research summary

^a Quality of primary studies is determined by EPOC (2002) criteria; ^b process outcomes = measures of implementation of an intervention, such as assessment of participation, compliance and efficiency; ^c Client outcomes = measures of impact on clients' or patients' health, such as health status, length of hospitalisation, and quality of life; ^d Data were not extracted for Cooke et al (2001) as baseline and post-intervention scores for relevant outcomes were not provided; + indicates intervention was significantly more effective than control or usual care; ± indicates mixed effects (significant change in some, but not all outcome measures); § = potential unit of analysis errors in cluster RCTs; CBA = controlled before and after study; NA = not assessed; NS = not significant; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

9.2.1. How effective are multi-faceted interventions?

Studies varied widely not only in their settings, quality and targeted behaviours, but also in the type and number of components combined in the intervention. This high degree of variability between studies made synthesis and interpretation of results difficult.

One of the most well-cited reviews (Wensing, van der Weijden, & Grol, 1998), which has been updated more recently (Grimshaw et al., 2004), suggests that "some, but not all multi-faceted interventions are effective in inducing change in general practice". However, there was no evidence to suggest that there are any additive effects when strategies are applied concurrently. For example, Grimshaw et al. (2004) evaluated 117 multi-faceted intervention studies with 136 comparisons against controls (no intervention). With up to 11 strategies combined in one intervention, analysis showed no evidence of increased effectiveness with increased numbers of strategies per intervention.

The additional primary studies combined two to seven different strategies (Table 63 and Table 64, Appendix B). They typically involved a mix of professional (including educational) interventions and were occasionally complemented with organisational interventions (e.g., office systems). Consistent with findings from Grimshaw et al. (2004), there was no evidence of greater effectiveness in interventions containing more strategies. Moreover, complex multifaceted interventions may be implementing strategies with little evidence of effectiveness.

Overall, there were mixed effects, which probably reflected the heterogeneity of the interventions and the diversity of the targeted behaviours. Thus, it was not possible to isolate the effects of individual strategies. No particular combination of strategies was always effective; and no single common strategy appeared in all the successful multi-faceted interventions. Successful interventions generally demonstrated small to modest improvements in process outcomes, but benefits to patients were negligible in the few studies that measured patient outcomes.

9.2.2. Key success factors of multi-faceted interventions

Due to the heterogeneity of studies that showed some effect, it was difficult to determine which components or combination of components were critical to the success of the intervention.

Several successful studies reported consultation with representatives from the target population, or local consensus processes used in selecting the components of the multi-faceted intervention (Bekkering et al., 2005; Forsetlund et al., 2003; Joseph et al., 2004; Lemelin et al., 2001; Searle et al., 2002; Waldorff et al., 2003). In addition, interventions that addressed specific barriers to change, used a comprehensive plan, and / or used strategies aimed at different levels (professional, team, patient, organisation) showed improvements in outcomes (Joseph et al., 2004; Lemelin et al., 2001; Sanci et al., 2000).

The factors that are most likely to increase the effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions are:

- · tailoring the intervention to the work environment and context
- · using interactive strategies
- providing reinforcement
- including patient educational materials (for improved patient outcomes).

9.2.3. Relevance to AOD field

Two studies were focussed primarily on AOD issues (smoking cessation) (Joseph et al., 2004; Young et al., 2002), while another three included delivering smoking cessation advice as part of a suite of preventive health measures (Langham et al., 2002; Lemelin et al., 2001; Wright et al., 2003). Each intervention aimed to increase health care providers' skills in delivery of smoking cessation services and support during routine consultations, and resulted in an overall moderate effect with improvement in some, but not all, study outcomes. Target populations included physicians, nurses, psychologists and pharmacists. Use of educational outreach and feedback on performance improved practitioners' provision of advice about the use of nicotine replacement therapy in one study (Young et al., 2002). In another study (Joseph et al., 2004), educational outreach, CME, and organisational support improved one (documentation of smoking status) of seven process outcomes, with no effect on smoking cessation rates among smokers.

Given the high degree of variability within the AOD workforce and the complexity of AOD issues, a multi-faceted intervention implemented in the AOD field would benefit from consensus or consultation with the local AOD professionals, tailoring for specific targeted populations and behaviours, and support at the organisational and individual level.

10. Leferences

- AIHW. (2007). Statistics on drug use in Australia 2006 (No. PHE 80). Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- Anderson, P., & Jane-Llopis, E. (2004). How can we increase the involvement of primary health care in the treatment of tobacco dependence? A meta-analysis. Addiction, 99(3), 299-312.
- Anderson, P., Laurant, M., Kaner, E., Wensing, M., & Grol, R. (2004). Engaging general practitioners in the management of hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption: results of a meta-analysis. J Stud Alcohol, 65(2), 191-199.
- Backer, T. E. (2000). The failure of success: Challenges of disseminating effective substance abuse prevention programs. Journal of Community Psychology, 28(3), 363-373.
- Bahrami, M., Deery, C., Clarkson, J. E., Pitts, N. B., Johnston, M., Ricketts, I., et al. (2004). Effectiveness of strategies to disseminate and implement clinical guidelines for the management of impacted and unerupted third molars in primary dental care, a cluster randomised controlled trial. Br Dent J, 197(11), 691-696; discussion 688.
- Baker, R., Fraser, R. C., Stone, M., Lambert, P., Stevenson, K., & Shiels, C. (2003). Randomised controlled trial of the impact of guidelines, prioritized review criteria and feedback on implementation of recommendations for angina and asthma. Br J Gen Pract, 53(489), 284-291.
- Balas, E. A., Weingarten, S., Garb, C. T., Blumenthal, D., Boren, S. A., & Brown, G. D. (2000). Improving preventive care by prompting physicians. Arch Intern Med, 160(3), 301-308.
- Beilby, J. J., & Silagy, C. A. (1997). Trials of providing costing information to general practitioners: a systematic review. Med J Aust, 167(2), 89-92.
- Bekkering, G. E., Hendriks, H. J., van Tulder, M. W., Knol, D. L., Hoeijenbos, M., Oostendorp, R. A., et al. (2005). Effect on the process of care of an active strategy to implement clinical guidelines on physiotherapy for low back pain: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Qual Saf Health Care, 14(2), 107-112.
- Bennett, J. W., & Glasziou, P. P. (2003). Computerised reminders and feedback in medication management: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Med J Aust, 178(5), 217-222.
- Bernal-Delgado, E., Galeote-Mayor, M., Pradas-Arnal, F., & Peiro-Moreno, S. (2002). Evidence based educational outreach visits: effects on prescriptions of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Epidemiol Community Health, 56(9), 653-658.
- Boekeloo, B. O., Bobbin, M. P., Lee, W. I., Worrell, K. D., Hamburger, E. K., & Russek-Cohen, E. (2003). Effect of patient priming and primary care provider prompting on adolescent-provider communication about alcohol. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 157(5), 433-439.
- Boekeloo, B. O., Jerry, J., Lee-Ougo, W. I., Worrell, K. D., Hamburger, E. K., Russek-Cohen, E., et al. (2004). Randomized trial of brief office-based interventions to reduce adolescent alcohol use. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 158(7), 635-642.
- Brown, J. B., Shye, D., McFarland, B. H., Nichols, G. A., Mullooly, J. P., & Johnson, R. E. (2000). Contolled trials of CQI and academic detailing to implement a clinical practice guideline for depression. Jt Comm J Qual Improv., 26(1), 39-54.
- Butzlaff, M., Vollmar, H. C., Floer, B., Koneczny, N., Isfort, J., & Lange, S. (2004). Learning with computerized guidelines in general practice?: A randomized controlled trial. Fam Pract. 21(2), 183-188.
- Campbell, N. C., Ritchie, L. D., Thain, J., Deans, H. G., Rawles, J. M., & Squair, J. L. (1998). Secondary prevention in coronary heart disease: a randomised trial of nurse led clinics in primary care. Heart, 80(5), 447-452.
- Canadian Taskforce on Preventative Health Care (CTFPHC). (1999). Effective Dissemination and Implementation of Canadian Task Force Guidelines on Preventive Health Care: Literature Review and Model Development. London, Ontario: The University of Western Ontario.
- Chassin, M. R., & Galvin, R. W. (1998). The urgent need to improve health care quality. Institute of Medicine National Roundtable on Health Care Quality. Jama, 280(11), 1000-1005.
- Collins, D. J., & Lapsley, H. M. (1996). The social costs of drug abuse in Australia in 1988 and 1992. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.
- Cooke, M., Mattick, R. P., & Walsh, R. A. (2001). Implementation of the 'Fresh Start' smoking cessation programme to 23 antenatal clinics: a randomized controlled trial investigating two methods of dissemination. Drug and Alchol Review. 20, 19-28.
- Cranney, M., Barton, S., & Walley, T. (1999). Addressing barriers to change: an RCT of practice-based education to improve the management of hypertension in the elderly. Br J Gen Pract, 49(444), 522-526.
- Crotty, M., Whitehead, C., Rowett, D., Halbert, J., Weller, D., Finucane, P., et al. (2004). An outreach intervention to implement evidence based practice in residential care: a randomized controlled trial [ISRCTN67855475]. BMC Health Serv Res, 4(1), 6.
- Currell, R., & Urguhart, C. (2003). Nursing record systems: effects on nursing practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(3), CD002099.

- Currell, R., Urquhart, C., Wainwright, P., & Lewis, R. (2001). Telemedicine versus face to face patient care: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Nurs Times*, *97*(35), 35.
- Delvaux, N., Razavi, D., Marchal, S., Bredart, A., Farvacques, C., & Slachmuylder, J. L. (2004). Effects of a 105 hours psychological training program on attitudes, communication skills and occupational stress in oncology: a randomised study. *Br J Cancer, 90*(1), 106-114.
- Dey, P., Simpson, C. W., Collins, S. I., Hodgson, G., Dowrick, C. F., Simison, A. J., et al. (2004). Implementation of RCGP guidelines for acute low back pain: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Br J Gen Pract, 54(498), 33-37.
- Di Noia, J., Schwinn, T. M., Dastur, Z. A., & Schinke, S. P. (2003). The relative efficacy of pamphlets, CD-ROM, and the Internet for disseminating adolescent drug abuse prevention programs: an exploratory study. *Prev Med*, 37(6 Pt 1), 646-653.
- Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team. (1994). Integrated care for diabetes: clinical, psychosocial, and economic evaluation. Diabetes Integrated Care Evaluation Team. *Bmj*, 308(6938), 1208-1212.
- Dietrich, A. J., O'Connor, G. T., Keller, A., Carney, P. A., Levy, D., & Whaley, F. S. (1992). Cancer: improving early detection and prevention. A community practice randomised trial. *Bmj*, 304(6828), 687-691.
- Dormuth, C. R., Maclure, M., Bassett, K., Jauca, C., Whiteside, C., & Wright, J. M. (2004). Effect of periodic letters on evidence-based drug therapy on prescribing behaviour: a randomized trial. *Cmaj*, *171*(9), 1057-1061.
- Downs, S. H., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health, 52(6), 377-384.
- Eccles, M., Steen, N., Grimshaw, J., Thomas, L., McNamee, P., Soutter, J., et al. (2001). Effect of audit and feedback, and reminder messages on primary-care radiology referrals: a randomised trial. *Lancet*, *357*(9266), 1406-1409.
- Effective Health Care Bulletin. (1993). Brief interventions and alcohol use. A bulletin on the effectiveness of health service interventions for decision makers. *Effective Health Care Bulletin, 7*.
- EPOC. (2002, August 4, 2004). Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Review Group (EPOC): The data collection checklist. Retrieved 24th February, 2005, 2005, from www.epoc.uottawa.ca/checklist2002.doc
- Fallowfield, L., Jenkins, V., Farewell, V., Saul, J., Duffy, A., & Eves, R. (2002). Efficacy of a Cancer Research UK communication skills training model for oncologists: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, 359(9307), 650-656.
- Fallowfield, L., Jenkins, V., Farewell, V., & Solis-Trapala, I. (2003). Enduring impact of communication skills training: results of a 12-month follow-up. *Br J Cancer*, *89*(8), 1445-1449.
- Feifer, C., & Ornstein, S. M. (2004). Strategies for increasing adherence to clinical guidelines and improving patient outcomes in small primary care practices. Jt Comm J Qual Saf, 30(8), 432-441.
- Field, M. J., & Lohr, K. N. (1990). Clinical practice guidelines: directions for a new program. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press.
- Finkelstein, J. A., Davis, R. L., Dowell, S. F., Metlay, J. P., Soumerai, S. B., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., et al. (2001). Reducing antibiotic use in children: a randomized trial in 12 practices. *Pediatrics*, 108(1), 1-7.
- Finkelstein, J. A., Lozano, P., Fuhlbrigge, A. L., Carey, V. J., Inui, T. S., Soumerai, S. B., et al. (2005). Practice-level effects of interventions to improve asthma care in primary care settings: the pediatric asthma care patient outcomes research team. *Health Serv Res, 40*(6 Pt 1), 1737-1757.
- Flottorp, S., Havelsrud, K., & Oxman, A. D. (2003). Process evaluation of a cluster randomized trial of tailored interventions to implement guidelines in primary care--why is it so hard to change practice? *Fam Pract, 20*(3), 333-339.
- Forsetlund, L., Bradley, P., Forsen, L., Nordheim, L., Jamtvedt, G., & Bjorndal, A. (2003). Randomised controlled trial of a theoretically grounded tailored intervention to diffuse evidence-based public health practice [ISRCTN23257060]. BMC Med Educ, 3(1), 2.
- Foxcroft, D. (2005). International Center for Alcohol Policies (ICAP)'s latest report on alcohol education: a flawed peer review process. *Addiction, 100*(8), 1066-1068.
- Foy, R., Penney, G. C., Grimshaw, J. M., Ramsay, C. R., Walker, A. E., MacLennan, G., et al. (2004). A randomised controlled trial of a tailored multifaceted strategy to promote implementation of a clinical guideline on induced abortion care. *Bjog*, 111(7), 726-733.
- Frances, C. D., Alperin, P., Adler, J. S., & Grady, D. (2001). Does a fixed physician reminder system improve the care of patients with coronary artery disease? A randomized controlled trial. *West J Med*, *175*(3), 165-166.
- Freemantle, N., Harvey, E., Wolf, F., Grimshaw, J., Grilli, R., & Bero, L. A. (1997). Printed educational materials: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), CD000172.
- Frijling, B., Hulscher, M. E., van Leest, L. A., Braspenning, J. C., van den Hoogen, H., Drenthen, A. J., et al. (2003). Multifaceted support to improve preventive cardiovascular care: a nationwide, controlled trial in general practice. *Br J Gen Pract*, 53(497), 934-941.
- Frijling, B. D., Lobo, C. M., Hulscher, M. E., Akkermans, R. P., Braspenning, J. C., Prins, A., et al. (2002). Multifaceted support to improve clinical decision making in diabetes care: a randomized controlled trial in general practice. *Diabet Med*, 19(10), 836-842.
- Garg, A. X., Adhikari, N. K., McDonald, H., Rosas-Arellano, M. P., Devereaux, P. J., Beyene, J., et al. (2005). Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance

and patient outcomes: a systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 293(10), 1223-1238.

- Gifford, D. R., Holloway, R. G., Frankel, M. R., Albright, C. L., Meyerson, R., Griggs, R. C., et al. (1999). Improving adherence to dementia guidelines through education and opinion leaders. A randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med, 131(4), 237-246.
- Gilbody, S., Whitty, P., Grimshaw, J., & Thomas, R. (2003). Educational and organizational interventions to improve the management of depression in primary care: a systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 289(23), 3145-3151.
- Gill, P. S., Makela, M., Vermeulen, K. M., Freemantle, N., Ryan, G., Bond, C., et al. (1999). Changing doctor prescribing behaviour. *Pharm World Sci, 21*(4), 158-167.
- Giuffrida, A., Gosden, T., Forland, F., Kristiansen, I. S., Sergison, M., Leese, B., et al. (2000). Target payments in primary care: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(3), CD000531.
- Glazier, R. H., Badley, E. M., Lineker, S. C., Wilkins, A. L., & Bell, M. J. (2005). Getting a Grip on Arthritis: an educational intervention for the diagnosis and treatment of arthritis in primary care. *J Rheumatol*, *32*(1), 137-142.
- Goldberg, H., Mullen, M., Ries, R., Psaty, B., & Ruch, B. (1991). Alcohol counseling in a general medicine clinic. A randomized controlled trial of strategies to improve referral and show rates. *Medical Care, 29*(7, Supplement), JS49-56.
- Goldberg, H. I., Neighbor, W. E., Cheadle, A. D., Ramsey, S. D., Diehr, P., & Gore, E. (2000). A controlled time-series trial of clinical reminders: using computerized firm systems to make quality improvement research a routine part of mainstream practice. *Health Serv Res*, 34(7), 1519-1534.
- Goldstein, M. G., Niaura, R., Willey, C., Kazura, A., Rakowski, W., DePue, J., et al. (2003). An academic detailing intervention to disseminate physician-delivered smoking cessation counseling: smoking cessation outcomes of the Physicians Counseling Smokers Project. *Prev Med*, 36(2), 185-196.
- Gosden, T., Forland, F., Kristiansen, I. S., Sutton, M., Leese, B., Giuffrida, A., et al. (2000). Capitation, salary, fee-forservice and mixed systems of payment: effects on the behaviour of primary care physicians. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(3), CD002215.
- Gotham, H. J. (2004). Diffusion of Mental Health and Substance Abuse Treatments: Development, Dissemination, and Implementation. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice, 11*(2), 160-176.
- Grimshaw, J., Freemantle, N., Wallace, S., Russell, I., Hurwitz, B., Watt, I., et al. (1995). Developing and implementing clinical practice guidelines. *Qual Health Care, 4*(1), 55-64.
- Grimshaw, J., McAuley, L. M., Bero, L. A., Grilli, R., Oxman, A. D., Ramsay, C., et al. (2003). Systematic reviews of the effectiveness of quality improvement strategies and programmes. *Qual Saf Health Care, 12*(4), 298-303.
- Grimshaw, J. M., Thomas, R. E., MacLennan, G., Fraser, C., Ramsay, C. R., Vale, L., et al. (2004). Effectiveness and efficiency of guideline dissemination and implementation strategies. *Health Technol Assess, 8*(6), iii-iv, 1-72.
- Grol, R. (1997). Personal paper. Beliefs and evidence in changing clinical practice. Bmj, 315(7105), 418-421.
- Grol, R., & Grimshaw, J. (2003). From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patients' care. Lancet, 362(9391), 1225-1230.
- Hall, L., Eccles, M., Barton, R., Steen, N., & Campbell, M. (2001). Is untargeted outreach visiting in primary care effective? A pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Public Health Med, 23(2), 109-113.
- Harvey, E. L., Glenny, A. M., Kirk, S. F., & Summerbell, C. D. (2002). An updated systematic review of interventions to improve health professionals' management of obesity. Obes Rev, 3(1), 45-55.
- Heller, R. F., D'Este, C., Lim, L. L., O'Connell, R. L., & Powell, H. (2001). Randomised controlled trial to change the hospital management of unstable angina. *Med J Aust, 174*(5), 217-221.
- Hillman, A. L., Ripley, K., Goldfarb, N., Nuamah, I., Weiner, J., & Lusk, E. (1998). Physician financial incentives and feedback: failure to increase cancer screening in Medicaid managed care. Am J Public Health, 88(11), 1699-1701.
- Holloway, R. G., Gifford, D. R., Frankel, M. R., & Vickrey, B. G. (1999). A randomized trial to implement practice recommendations: design and methods of the Dementia Care Study. *Control Clin Trials*, *20*(4), 369-385.
- Hulscher, M. E., Wensing, M., van Der Weijden, T., & Grol, R. (2001). Interventions to implement prevention in primary care. Cochrane Database Syst Rev(1), CD000362.
- Hunt, D. L., Haynes, R. B., Hanna, S. E., & Smith, K. (1998). Effects of computer-based clinical decision support systems on physician performance and patient outcomes: a systematic review. *Jama, 280*(15), 1339-1346.
- Irvine Doran, D. M., Baker, G. R., Murray, M., Bohnen, J., Zahn, C., Sidani, S., et al. (2002). Achieving clinical improvement: an interdisciplinary intervention. *Health Care Management Review*, 27(4), 42-56.
- Jamtvedt, G., Young, J. M., Kristoffersen, D. T., O'Brien, M. A., & Oxman, A. D. (2006). Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;(3):CD000259; PMID: 12917891]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews(2), CD000259.
- Jamtvedt, G., Young, J. M., Kristoffersen, D. T., Thomson O'Brien, M. A., & Oxman, A. D. (2003). Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(3), CD000259.
- Joseph, A. M., Arikian, N. J., An, L. C., Nugent, S. M., Sloan, R. J., & Pieper, C. F. (2004). Results of a randomizecd controlled trial of intervention to implement smoking guidelines in Veterans Affairs medical centers: increased use of medications without cessation benefit. *Med Care, 42*(11), 1100-1110.

- Kaner, E. F., Beyer, F., Dickinson, H. O., Pienaar, E., Campbell, F., Schlesinger, C., et al. (2007). Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(2), CD004148.
- Karuza, J., Calkins, E., Feather, J., Hershey, C. O., Katz, L., & Majeroni, B. (1995). Enhancing physician adoption of practice guidelines. Dissemination of influenza vaccination guideline using a small-group consensus process. *Arch Intern Med*, 155(6), 625-632.
- Katz, D. A., Muehlenbruch, D. R., Brown, R. L., Fiore, M. C., & Baker, T. B. (2004). Effectiveness of implementing the agency for healthcare research and quality smoking cessation clinical practice guideline: a randomized, controlled trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, 96(8), 594-603.
- Kelly, J. A., Sogolow, E. D., & Neumann, M. S. (2000a). Future directions and emerging issues in technology transfer between HIV prevention researchers and community-based service providers. *AIDS Educ Prev*, 12(5 Suppl), 126-141.
- Kelly, J. A., Somlai, A. M., DiFranceisco, W. J., Otto-Salaj, L. L., McAuliffe, T. L., Hackl, K. L., et al. (2000b). Bridging the gap between the science and service of HIV prevention: transferring effective research-based HIV prevention interventions to community AIDS service providers. Am J Public Health, 90(7), 1082-1088.
- Kessler, R. C. (2004). The epidemiology of dual diagnosis. Biol Psychiatry, 56(10), 730-737.
- Khan, K. S., Ter Riet, G., Glanville, J. M., Sowden, A. J., & Kleijnen, J. (2001). Undertaking systematic reviews of research on effectiveness. CRD's guidance for those carrying out or commissioning reviews (No. 4 (second edition)). York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York.
- Kiefe, C. I., Allison, J. J., Williams, O. D., Person, S. D., Weaver, M. T., & Weissman, N. W. (2001). Improving quality improvement using achievable benchmarks for physician feedback: a randomized controlled trial. *Jama*, 285(22), 2871-2879.
- King, M., Davidson, O., Taylor, F., Haines, A., Sharp, D., & Turner, R. (2002). Effectiveness of teaching general practitioners skills in brief cognitive behaviour therapy to treat patients with depression: randomised controlled trial. *Bmj*, 324(7343), 947-950.
- Kinsinger, L. S., Harris, R., Qaquish, B., Strecher, V., & Kaluzny, A. (1998). Using an Office System Intervention to Increase Breast Cancer Screening. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 13, 507-514.
- Lancaster, T., Silagy, C., & Fowler, G. (2000). Training health professionals in smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database* Syst Rev(3), CD000214.
- Langham, J., Tucker, H., Sloan, D., Pettifer, J., Thom, S., & Hemingway, H. (2002). Secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease: a randomised trial of training in information management, evidence-based medicine, both or neither: the PIER trial. *Br J Gen Pract*, *52*(483), 818-824.
- Lemelin, J., Hogg, W., & Baskerville, N. (2001). Evidence to action: a tailored multifaceted approach to changing family physician practice patterns and improving preventive care. *Cmaj, 164*(6), 757-763.
- Lomas, J. (1991). Words without action? The production, dissemination, and impact of consensus recommendations. Annu Rev Public Health, 12, 41-65.
- Majumdar, S. R., Guirguis, L. M., Toth, E. L., Lewanczuk, R. Z., Lee, T. K., & Johnson, J. A. (2003). Controlled trial of a multifaceted intervention for improving quality of care for rural patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 26(11), 3061-3066.
- Margolis, P. A., Lannon, C. M., Stuart, J. M., Fried, B. J., Keyes-Elstein, L., & Moore, D. E., Jr. (2004). Practice based education to improve delivery systems for prevention in primary care: randomised trial. *Bmj, 328*(7436), 388.
- Matowe, L., Ramsay, C. R., Grimshaw, J. M., Gilbert, F. J., Macleod, M. J., & Needham, G. (2002). Effects of mailed dissemination of the Royal College of Radiologists' guidelines on general practitioner referrals for radiography: a time series analysis. *Clin Radiol*, 57(7), 575-578.
- Mazmanian, P. E., Johnson, R. E., Zhang, A., Boothby, J., & Yeatts, E. J. (2001). Effects of a signature on rates of change: a randomized controlled trial involving continuing education and the commitment-to-change model. Acad Med, 76(6), 642-646.
- McBride, P., Underbakke, G., Plane, M. B., Massoth, K., Brown, R. L., Solberg, L. I., et al. (2000). Improving prevention systems in primary care practices: the Health Education and Research Trial (HEART). J Fam Pract, 49(2), 115-125.
- McCartney, P., MacDowell, W., & Thorogood, M. (2001). Feedback in primary care can improve the prescribing of hormone replacement therapy in women with a history of hysterectomy. *British journal of clinical governance, 6*(1), 17-21.
- McMullin, S. T., Lonergan, T. P., Rynearson, C. S., Doerr, T. D., Veregge, P. A., & Scanlan, E. S. (2004). Impact of an evidence-based computerized decision support system on primary care prescription costs. *Ann Fam Med*, 2(5), 494-498.
- Miller, W. R., Yahne, C. E., Moyers, T. B., Martinez, J., & Pirritano, M. (2004). A randomized trial of methods to help clinicians learn motivational interviewing. J Consult Clin Psychol, 72(6), 1050-1062.
- Moher, D., Pham, B., Jones, A., Cook, D. J., Jadad, A. R., Moher, M., et al. (1998). Does quality of reports of randomised trials affect estimates of intervention efficacy reported in meta-analyses? *Lancet*, *352*(9128), 609-613.
- Moore, K. A., Peters, R. H., Hills, H. A., LeVasseur, J. B., Rich, A. R., Hunt, W. M., et al. (2004). Characteristics of opinion leaders in substance abuse treatment agencies. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*, *30*(1), 187-203.

- Moyer, A., Finney, J. W., Swearingen, C. E., & Vergun, P. (2002). Brief interventions for alcohol problems: a metaanalytic review of controlled investigations in treatment-seeking and non-treatment-seeking populations. *Addiction*, 97(3), 279-292.
- Mugford, M., Banfield, P., & O'Hanlon, M. (1991). Effects of feedback of information on clinical practice: a review. Bmj, 303(6799), 398-402.
- Murtaugh, C. M., Pezzin, L. E., McDonald, M. V., Feldman, P. H., & Peng, T. R. (2005). Just-in-time evidence-based e-mail "reminders" in home health care: impact on nurse practices. *Health Serv Res, 40*(3), 849-864.
- New, J. P., Mason, J. M., Freemantle, N., Teasdale, S., Wong, L., Bruce, N. J., et al. (2004). Educational outreach in diabetes to encourage practice nurses to use primary care hypertension and hyperlipidaemia guidelines (EDEN): a randomized controlled trial. *Diabet Med*, 21(6), 599-603.
- NHMRC. (2000). *How to use the evidence: assessment and application of scientific evidence*. Canberra ACT: National Health and Medical Research Council, Commonwealth of Australia.
- NHMRC. (2001). Australian alcohol guidelines: health risks and benefits. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council.
- Nilsson, G., Hjemdahl, P., Hassler, A., Vitols, S., Wallen, N. H., & Krakau, I. (2001). Feedback on prescribing rate combined with problem-oriented pharmacotherapy education as a model to improve prescribing behaviour among general practitioners. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 56(11), 843-848.
- Norris, S. L., Nichols, P. J., Caspersen, C. J., Glasgow, R. E., Engelgau, M. M., Jack, L., et al. (2002). The effectiveness of disease and case management for people with diabetes. A systematic review. *Am J Prev Med*, 22(4 Suppl), 15-38.
- Ockene, I. S., Hebert, J. R., Ockene, J. K., Saperia, G. M., Stanek, E., Nicolosi, R., et al. (1999). Effect of physiciandelivered nutrition counseling training and an office-support program on saturated fat intake, weight, and serum lipid measurements in a hyperlipidemic population: Worcester Area Trial for Counseling in Hyperlipidemia (WATCH). *Arch Intern Med*, 159(7), 725-731.
- Onion, C. W., & Bartzokas, C. A. (1998). Changing attitudes to infection management in primary care: a controlled trial of active versus passive guideline implementation strategies. *Fam Pract*, *15*(2), 99-104.
- Oxman, A. D., Thomson, M. A., Davis, D. A., & Haynes, R. B. (1995). No magic bullets: a systematic review of 102 trials of interventions to improve professional practice. *Cmaj*, 153(10), 1423-1431.
- Pawson, R. (2006). Evidence-based policy: A realist perspective. London: SAGE publicatons.
- Philbin, E. F., Rocco, T. A., Lindenmuth, N. W., Ulrich, K., McCall, M., & Jenkins, P. L. (2000). The results of a randomized trial of a quality improvement intervention in the care of patients with heart failure. The MISCHF Study Investigators. Am J Med, 109(6), 443-449.
- Pill, R., Stott, N. C., Rollnick, S. R., & Rees, M. (1998). A randomized controlled trial of an intervention designed to improve the care given in general practice to Type II diabetic patients: patient outcomes and professional ability to change behaviour. *Fam Pract*, 15(3), 229-235.
- Premaratne, U. N., Sterne, J. A., Marks, G. B., Webb, J. R., Azima, H., & Burney, P. G. (1999). Clustered randomised trial of an intervention to improve the management of asthma: Greenwich asthma study. *Bmj*, 318(7193), 1251-1255.
- Raftery, J. P., Yao, G. L., Murchie, P., Campbell, N. C., & Ritchie, L. D. (2005). Cost effectiveness of nurse led secondary prevention clinics for coronary heart disease in primary care: follow up of a randomised controlled trial. *Bmj*, 330(7493), 707.
- Ramsay, C. R., Eccles, M., Grimshaw, J. M., & Steen, N. (2003). Assessing the long-term effect of educational reminder messages on primary care radiology referrals. *Clin Radiol, 58*(4), 319-321.
- Rantz, M. J., Popejoy, L., Petroski, G. F., Madsen, R. W., Mehr, D. R., Zwygart-Stauffacher, M., et al. (2001). Randomized clinical trial of a quality improvement intervention in nursing homes. *Gerontologist*, 41(4), 525-538.
- Razavi, D., Merckaert, I., Marchal, S., Libert, Y., Conradt, S., Boniver, J., et al. (2003). How to optimize physicians' communication skills in cancer care: results of a randomized study assessing the usefulness of posttraining consolidation workshops. *J Clin Oncol*, 21(16), 3141-3149.
- Renders, C. M., Valk, G. D., Griffin, S., Wagner, E. H., Eijk, J. T., & Assendelft, W. J. (2001). Interventions to improve the management of diabetes mellitus in primary care, outpatient and community settings. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(1), CD001481.
- Robbins, M. S., Bachrach, K., & Szapocznik, J. (2002). Bridging the research-practice gap in adolescent substance abuse treatment: the case of brief strategic family therapy. J Subst Abuse Treat, 23(2), 123-132.
- Roche, A. M., & Freeman, T. (2004). Brief interventions: good in theory but weak in practice. *Drug Alcohol Rev, 23*(1), 11-18.
- Sanci, L. A., Coffey, C. M., Veit, F. C., Carr-Gregg, M., Patton, G. C., Day, N., et al. (2000). Evaluation of the effectiveness of an educational intervention for general practitioners in adolescent health care: randomised controlled trial. *Bmj*, 320(7229), 224-230.
- Sanders, K. M., & Satyvavolu, A. (2002). Improving blood pressure control in diabetes: limitations of a clinical reminder in influencing physician behavior. *J Contin Educ Health Prof, 22*(1), 23-32.

- Santoso, B., Suryawati, S., & Prawaitasari, J. E. (1996). Small group intervention vs formal seminar for improving appropriate drug use. Soc Sci Med, 42(8), 1163-1168.
- Schectman, J. M., Schroth, W. S., Verme, D., & Voss, J. D. (2003). Randomized controlled trial of education and feedback for implementation of guidelines for acute low back pain. J Gen Intern Med, 18(10), 773-780.
- Schoenwald, S. K., & Hoagwood, K. (2001). Effectiveness, transportability, and dissemination of interventions: what matters when? *Psychiatr Serv*, 52(9), 1190-1197.
- Schulz, K. F., Chalmers, I., Hayes, R. J., & Altman, D. G. (1995). Empirical evidence of bias. Dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. Jama, 273(5), 408-412.
- Schuster, M. A., McGlynn, E. A., & Brook, R. H. (1998). How good is the quality of health care in the United States? *Milbank Q*, 76(4), 517-563, 509.
- Searle, J., Grover, S., Santin, A., & Weideman, P. (2002). Randomised trial of an integrated educational strategy to reduce investigation rates in young women with dysfunctional uterine bleeding. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol, 42*(4), 395-400.
- Shaw, J. S., Samuels, R. C., Larusso, E. M., & Bernstein, H. H. (2000). Impact of an encounter-based prompting system on resident vaccine administration performance and immunization knowledge. *Pediatrics*, *105*(4 Pt 2), 978-983.
- Shiffman, R. N., Liaw, Y., Brandt, C. A., & Corb, G. J. (1999). Computer-based guideline implementation systems: a systematic review of functionality and effectiveness. J Am Med Inform Assoc, 6(2), 104-114.
- Sikka, R., Waters, J., Moore, W., Sutton, D. R., Herman, W. H., & Aubert, R. E. (1999). Renal assessment practices and the effect of nurse case management of health maintenance organization patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 22(1), 1-6.
- Silagy, C. A., Weller, D. P., Lapsley, H., Middleton, P., Shelby-James, T., & Fazekas, B. (2002). The effectiveness of local adaptation of nationally produced clinical practice guidelines. *Fam Pract*, 19(3), 223-230.
- Simpson, D. D., Joe, G. W., & Rowan-Szal, G. A. (2007). Linking the elements of change: Program and client responses to innovation. J Subst Abuse Treat, 33(2), 201-209.
- Skinner, N., Freeman, T., Shoobridge, J., & Roche, A. M. (2003). Workforce development and the alcohol and other drugs field: A literature review of key issues for the NGO sector. Adelaide: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction (NCETA), Flinders University.
- Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., Brekke, M. L., Magnan, S., Davidson, G., Calomeni, C. A., et al. (2000). Failure of a continuous quality improvement intervention to increase the delivery of preventive services. A randomized trial. *Eff Clin Pract*, 3(3), 105-115.
- Solomon, D. H., Van Houten, L., Glynn, R. J., Baden, L., Curtis, K., Schrager, H., et al. (2001). Academic detailing to improve use of broad-spectrum antibiotics at an academic medical center. Arch Intern Med, 161(15), 1897-1902.
- Suggs, P. K., Mittelmark, M. B., Krissak, R., Oles, K., Lane, C., & Richards, B. (1998). Efficacy of a self-instruction package when compared with a traditional continuing education offering for nurses. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 18(4), 220-226.
- Thapar, A., Jacoby, A., Richens, A., Russell, I., Roberts, C., Porter, E., et al. (2002). A pragmatic randomised controlled trial of a prompt and reminder card in the care of people with epilepsy. *Br J Gen Pract*, *52*(475), 93-98.
- Thomas, L. H., McColl, E., Cullum, N., Rousseau, N., & Soutter, J. (1999). Clinical guidelines in nursing, midwifery and the therapies: a systematic review. *J Adv Nurs, 30*(1), 40-50.
- Thomson O'Brien, M. A., Freemantle, N., Oxman, A. D., Wolf, F., Davis, D. A., & Herrin, J. (2001). Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), CD003030.
- Thomson O'Brien, M. A., Oxman, A. D., Davis, D. A., Haynes, R. B., Freemantle, N., & Harvey, E. L. (2000a). Educational outreach visits: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), CD000409.
- Thomson O'Brien, M. A., Oxman, A. D., Haynes, R. B., Davis, D. A., Freemantle, N., & Harvey, E. L. (2000b). Local opinion leaders: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), CD000125.
- Tierney, W. M., Overhage, J. M., Murray, M. D., Harris, L. E., Zhou, X. H., Eckert, G. J., et al. (2005). Can computergenerated evidence-based care suggestions enhance evidence-based management of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? A randomized, controlled trial. *Health Serv Res*, 40(2), 477-497.
- Toth-Pal, E., Nilsson, G. H., & Furhoff, A. K. (2004). Clinical effect of computer generated physician reminders in health screening in primary health care--a controlled clinical trial of preventive services among the elderly. *Int J Med Inform,* 73(9-10), 695-703.
- Tu, K., & Davis, D. (2002). Can we alter physician behavior by educational methods? Lessons learned from studies of the management and follow-up of hypertension. *J Contin Educ Health Prof*, 22(1), 11-22.
- Waldorff, F. B., Almind, G., Makela, M., Moller, S., & Waldemar, G. (2003). Implementation of a clinical dementia guideline. A controlled study on the effect of a multifaceted strategy. *Scand J Prim Health Care, 21*(3), 142-147.

- Walton, R. T., Harvey, E., Dovey, S., & Freemantle, N. (2001). Computerised advice on drug dosage to improve prescribing practice. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(1), CD002894.
- Watson, M., Gunnell, D., Peters, T., Brookes, S., & Sharp, D. (2001). Guidelines and educational outreach visits from community pharmacists to improve prescribing in general practice: a randomised controlled trial. J Health Serv Res Policy, 6(4), 207-213.
- Watson, M. C., Bond, C. M., Grimshaw, J. M., Mollison, J., Ludbrook, A., & Walker, A. E. (2002). Educational strategies to promote evidence-based community pharmacy practice: a cluster randomized controlled trial (RCT). *Fam Pract*, 19(5), 529-536.
- Weingarten, S. R., Henning, J. M., Badamgarav, E., Knight, K., Hasselblad, V., Gano, A., Jr., et al. (2002). Interventions used in disease management programmes for patients with chronic illness-which ones work? Meta-analysis of published reports. *Bmj*, 325(7370), 925.
- Weller, D., May, F., Rowett, D., Esterman, A., Pinnock, C., Nicholson, S., et al. (2003). Promoting better use of the PSA test in general practice: randomized controlled trial of educational strategies based on outreach visits and mailout. *Fam Pract, 20*(6), 655-661.
- Wensing, M., van der Weijden, T., & Grol, R. (1998). Implementing guidelines and innovations in general practice: which interventions are effective? *Br J Gen Pract, 48*(427), 991-997.
- White, D., & Pitts, M. (1998). Educating young people about drugs: a systematic review. Addiction, 93(10), 1475-1487.
- White, M., Michaud, G., Pachev, G., Lirenman, D., Kolenc, A., & FitzGerald, J. M. (2004). Randomized trial of problembased versus didactic seminars for disseminating evidence-based guidelines on asthma management to primary care physicians. J Contin Educ Health Prof, 24(4), 237-243.
- Wright, J., Warren, E., Reeves, J., Bibby, J., Harrison, S., Dowswell, G., et al. (2003). Effectiveness of multifaceted implementation of guidelines in primary care. J Health Serv Res Policy., 8(3), 142-148.
- Wutzke, S. E., Shiell, A., Gomel, M. K., & Conigrave, K. M. (2001). Cost effectiveness of brief interventions for reducing alcohol consumption. *Social Science & Medicine*, 52(6), 863-870.
- Young, C., Chart, P., Franssen, E., Tipping, J., Morris, B., & Davis, D. (1998). Effective continuing education for breast disease: A randomized trial comparing home study and workshop formats. *The Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 18*(2), 86-92.
- Young, J. M., D'Este, C., & Ward, J. E. (2002). Improving family physicians' use of evidence-based smoking cessation strategies: a cluster randomization trial. *Prev Med*, 35(6), 572-583.
- Young, J. M., & Ward, J. (2002). Can distance learning improve smoking cessation advice in family practice? A randomized trial. J Contin Educ Health Prof, 22(2), 84-93.

87



appendix a Checklists

Systematic review critical appraisal checklist Source: (Khan et al., 2001)

Title of assessment: Title of systematic review: Author(s): Year: Comparators: Score : /6 1. What is the review's objective? What were the population/participants, interventions, outcomes and study designs?

- 2. What sources were searched to identify primary studies? What sources (eg databases) were searched and were any restrictions by date, language and type of publication used? Were other strategies used to identify research?
- 3. What were the inclusion criteria and how were they applied?
- 4. What criteria were used to assess the quality of primary studies and how were they applied?
- 5. How were the data extracted from the primary studies?
- 6. How were the data synthesised? How were differences between studies investigated? How were the data combined? Was it reasonable to combine the studies? What were the summary results of the review? Do the conclusions flow from the evidence reviewed?

EPOC checklist – assessment of methodological quality

Source: (EPOC, 2002)

Quality criteria for randomised controlled trials (RCTs & CCTs)

Seven standard criteria are used for randomised controlled trials and controlled clinical trials included in EPOC reviews:

a) Concealment of allocation (protection against selection bias)

Score DONE if the unit of allocation was by institution, team or professional and any random process is described explicitly, e.g., the use of random number tables or coin flips; the unit of allocation was by patient or episode of care and there was some form of centralised randomisation scheme, an on-site computer system or sealed opaque envelopes were used. Score NOT CLEAR if the unit of allocation is not described explicitly; the unit of allocation was by patient or episode of care and the authors report using a 'list' or 'table', 'envelopes' or 'sealed envelopes' for allocation. Score NOT DONE if the authors report using alternation such as reference to case record numbers, dates of birth, day of the week or any other such approach (as in CCTs); the unit of allocation was by patient or episode of care and the setting transparent before assignment such as an open list of random numbers or assignments; allocation was altered (by investigators, professionals or patients).

b) Follow-up of professionals (protection against exclusion bias)

Score DONE if outcome measures obtained for 80-100% of subjects randomised. (Do not assume 100% follow up unless stated explicitly.); Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if outcome measures obtained for less than 80% of subjects randomised.

c) Follow-up of patients or episodes of care

Score DONE if outcome measures obtained for 80-100% of subjects randomised or for patients who entered the trial. (Do not assume 100% follow up unless stated explicitly.) Score DONE if there is an objective data collection system; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if outcome measures obtained for less than 80% of subjects randomised or for less than 80% of patients who entered the trial.

d) Blinded assessment of primary outcome(s)* (protection against detection bias)

Score DONE if the authors state explicitly that the primary outcome variables were assessed blindly OR the outcome variables are objective, e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if the outcome(s) were not assessed blindly.

* Primary outcome(s) are those variables that correspond to the primary hypothesis or question as defined by the authors. In the event that some of the primary outcome variables were assessed in a blind fashion and others were not, score each separately and label each outcome variable clearly.

e) Baseline measurement

Score DONE if performance or patient outcomes were measured prior to the intervention, and no substantial differences were present across study groups; Score NOT CLEAR if baseline measures are not reported, or if it is unclear whether baseline measures are substantially different across study groups; Score NOT DONE if there are differences at baseline in main outcome measures likely to undermine the post intervention differences (e.g., are differences between the groups before the intervention similar to those found post intervention).

f) Reliable primary outcome measure(s)*

Score DONE if two or more raters with at least 90% agreement or kappa greater than or equal to 0.8 OR the outcome is obtained from some automated system e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if reliability is not reported for outcome measures that are obtained by chart extraction or collected by an individual; Score NOT DONE if agreement is less than 90% or kappa is less than 0.8.

* In the event that some outcome variables were assessed in a reliable fashion and others were not, score each separately on the back of the form and label each outcome variable clearly.

g) Protection against contamination

Score DONE if allocation was by community, institution or practice and it is unlikely that the control received the intervention; Score NOT CLEAR if professionals were allocated within a clinic or practice and it is possible that communication between experimental and group professionals could have occurred; Score NOT DONE if it is likely that the control group received the intervention (e.g., cross-over trials or if patients rather than professionals were randomised).

Quality criteria for controlled before and after (CBA) designs

Seven standard criteria are used for CBAs included in EPOC reviews:

a) Baseline measurement

Score DONE if performance or patient outcomes were measured prior to the intervention, and no substantial differences were present across study groups (e.g., where multiple pre intervention measures describe similar trends in intervention and control groups); Score NOT CLEAR if baseline measures are not reported, or if it is unclear whether baseline measures are substantially different across study groups; Score NOT DONE if there are differences at baseline in main outcome measures likely to undermine the post intervention differences (e.g., are differences between the groups before the intervention similar to those found post intervention).

b) Characteristics for studies using second site as control

Score DONE if characteristics of study and control providers are reported and similar; Score NOT CLEAR if it is not clear in the paper e.g., characteristics are mentioned in the text but no data are presented; Score NOT DONE if there is no report of characteristics either in the text or a table OR if baseline characteristics are reported and there are differences between study and control providers.

c) Blinded assessment of primary outcome(s)* (protection against detection bias)

Score DONE if the authors state explicitly that the primary outcome variables were assessed blindly OR the outcome variables are objective e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if the outcomes were not assessed blindly.

* Primary outcome(s) are those variables that correspond to the primary hypothesis or question as defined by the authors. In the event that some of the primary outcome variables were assessed in a blind fashion and others were not, score each separately and label each outcome variable clearly.

d) Protection against contamination

Studies using second site as control - Score DONE if allocation was by community, institution, or practice and is unlikely that the control group received the intervention; Score NOT CLEAR if providers were allocated within a clinic or practice and communication between experimental and group providers was likely to occur; Score NOT DONE if it is likely that the control group received the intervention (e.g., cross-over studies or if patients rather than providers were randomised).

e) Reliable primary outcome measure(s)*

Score DONE if two or more raters with at least 90% agreement or kappa greater than or equal to 0.8 OR the outcome is obtained from some automated system e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if reliability is not reported for outcome measures that are obtained by chart extraction or collected by an individual; Score NOT DONE if agreement is less than 90% or kappa is less than 0.8.

* In the event that some outcome variables were assessed in a reliable fashion and others were not, score each separately and label each outcome variable clearly.

f) Follow-up of professionals (protection against exclusion bias)

Score DONE if outcome measures obtained 80-100% subjects allocated to groups. (Do not assume 100% follow-up unless stated explicitly.); Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if outcome measures obtained for less than 80% of patients allocated to groups.

g) Follow-up of patients

Score DONE if outcome measures obtained 80-100% of patients allocated to groups or for patients who entered the study. (Do not assume 100% follow-up unless stated explicitly.); Score NOT CLEAR if not specified in the paper; Score NOT DONE if outcome measures obtained for less than 80% of patients allocated to groups or for less than 80% of patients who entered the study.

Quality criteria for interrupted time series (ITSs)

The following seven standard criteria should be used to assess the methodology quality of ITS designs included in EPOC reviews. Each criterion is scored DONE, NOT CLEAR or NOT DONE. The results of the quality assessment for each study are reported in the Table of Included Studies in RevMan. Examples can be obtained from the EPOC review group co-ordinator.

a) Protection against secular changes

The intervention is independent of other changes. Score DONE if the intervention occurred independently of other changes over time; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if reported that intervention was not independent of other changes in time.

b) Data were analysed appropriately

Score DONE if ARIMA models were used OR time series regression models were used to analyse the data and serial correlation was adjusted/tested for; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if it is clear that neither of the conditions above not met.

Reason for the number of points pre and post intervention given - Score DONE if rationale for the number of points stated (e.g., monthly data for 12 months post-intervention was used because the anticipated effect was expected to decay) OR sample size calculation performed; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if it is clear that neither of the conditions above met.

Shape of the intervention effect was specified - Score DONE if a rational explanation for the shape of intervention effect was given by the author(s); Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if it is clear that the condition above is not met

c) Completeness of data set

Score DONE if data set covers 80-100% of total number of participants or episodes of care in the study; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if data set covers less than 80% of the total number of participants or episodes of care in the study.

d) Reliable primary outcome measure(s)*

Score DONE if two or more raters with at least 90% agreement or kappa greater than or equal to 0.8 OR the outcome is obtained from some automated system e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if reliability is not reported for outcome measures that are obtained by chart extraction or collected by an individual (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if agreement is less than 90% or kappa is less than 0.8.

* In the event that some outcome variables were assessed in a reliable fashion and others were not, score each separately.

e) Protection against detection bias

Intervention unlikely to affect data collection - Score DONE if reported that intervention itself was unlikely to affect data collection (for example, sources and methods of data collection were the same before and after the intervention); Score NOT CLEAR if not reported (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if the intervention itself was likely to affect data collection (for example, any change in source or method of data collection reported).

Blinded assessment of primary outcome(s)* - Score DONE if the authors state explicitly that the primary outcome variables were assessed blindly OR the outcome variables are objective e.g., length of hospital stay, drug levels as assessed by a standardised test; Score NOT CLEAR if not specified (will be treated as NOT DONE if information cannot be obtained from the authors); Score NOT DONE if the outcomes were not assessed blindly.

* Primary outcome(s) are those variables that correspond to the primary hypothesis or question as defined by the authors. In the event that some of the primary outcome variables were assessed in a blind fashion and others were not, score each separately and label each outcome variable clearly.

Appendix & Data Tables

Table 41. Effectiveness of educational materials – Process outcomes

Commute the Number of the number of	Reference	Level and quality of evidence	l arget population	Intervention		Process	outcomes (p	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	oehavioural c	:hange)		
RCI Canada (m-499), at as at as the entroper intervention outinity, created in the <i>therapeutic letters</i> : Centrol Control Control Durg therapy letters Physiciens intervention group) intervention group) intervention group) Intervention group) Intervention group) Dright intervention group) Elefored Afters No Afters Intervention group) Dright Columbia, Columbia, Control 23 25 +8.7 27 45 100 131 1 Canada Control 23 25 +8.7 27 45 1	(Dormuth et	Level II: Cluster	Physicians	Series of evidence-	Physicians' prescribing behav	viour ^a , numb	er of newly t	reated patient	ts ^b prescribe	d the analys	is drug ^c	
provents litervention group) The provention group g	al., 2004)	RCT Quality: good	(n=499), 24 local health	based drug therapy letters mailed to	Analysis drug advocated for in the <i>therapeutic letters</i> :		Control n=241		Dru	g therapy let n=258	ters	Effect measure
Before d Aftere % Before d Aftere Cimetidine 23 25 +8.7 27 45 Metronidazole (amoxicilin) 20 10 -50.0 7 9 Metronidazole (amoxicilin) 20 100 -50.0 7 9 Metronidazole (amoxicilin) 20 114 50 -42.9 7 7 9 ASA/buprofen/haproxen 116 121 +4.3 100 131 9 Isosotide dinitrate 7 4 -42.9 7 7 7 Inhaled corticosteriods 13 4 -692 16 17 17 Inhaled corticosteriods 13 4 -692 16 17 17 Long-acting benzodiazepines 191 161 161 165 11 165 11 Long-acting benzodiazepines 87 70 -195 161 165 11 Long-acting benzodiazepines 191 161			areas, British	priysiciaris		(received inte	letters 3-8 mc ervention grou	onths after up)				
23 25 $+8.7$ 27 45 20 10 -50.0 7 9 116 121 $+4.3$ 100 131 7 4 -42.9 7 7 7 4 -42.9 7 7 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 87 191 161 -15.7 161 165 87 70 -19.5 106 89 89 87 70 -19.5 716 89 87 87 87 105 87 87 87 87 70 -19.5 76 89 87 87 87 105 87 <			Canada Canada		L	Before ^d	After ^e	% change	Before ^d	After ^e	% change	Adjusted ^f relative risk
1 20 10 -50.0 7 9 116 121 $+4.3$ 100 131 7 4 -42.9 7 7 7 4 -42.9 7 7 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -56.1 104 69 114 50 -46.2 15 11 16 114 50 -46.2 15.7 60 87 87 70 -19.5 57 60 89 87 70 -21.5 57 60 89 86 10 -46.7 12.5 60 89 87 98 72.5 748 748 748 729 620					Cimetidine	23	25	+8.7	27	45	+66.7	1.5
					Metronidazole (amoxicillin or tetracycline)	20	10	-50.0	7	6	+28.6	2.6
					ASA/buprofen/naproxen	116	121	+4.3	100	131	+31.0	1.3
					Isosorbide dinitrate	7	4	-42.9	7	7	0	1.8
134 -69.2 1511 $*$ 47 69 $+46.8$ 3887 $*$ 191 161 -15.7 161 165 87 70 -19.5 106 89 87 70 -19.5 106 89 87 70 -19.5 106 89 87 70 -19.5 60 89 87 70 -19.5 7106 89 87 70 -19.5 7106 89 87 65 51 -21.5 57 60 40 45 12.5 47 63 40 45 12.5 47 63 66 10 $+66.7$ 13 12 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Thiazide diuretics	114	50	-56.1	104	69	-33.7	1.5
w 47 69 +46.8 38 87 87 ines 191 161 -15.7 161 165 165 87 70 -19.5 106 89 89 87 87 70 -19.5 106 89 89 89 86 51 -21.5 57 60 89 89 90 40 45 12.5 47 63 89 91 66 10 466.7 13 12 12 12 92 739 620 -15.0 682 748 12 12					Inhaled corticosteroids	13	4	-69.2	15	11	-26.7	2.4
ines 191 161 -15.7 161 165 87 70 -19.5 106 89 8 51 -21.5 57 60 9 40 45 12.5 47 63 6 10 +66.7 13 12 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Calcium-channel blockers	47	69	+46.8	38	87	+129.0	1.5
87 70 -19.5 106 89 <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Long-acting benzodiazepines</td><td>191</td><td>161</td><td>-15.7</td><td>161</td><td>165</td><td>+2.5</td><td>1.3</td></th<>					Long-acting benzodiazepines	191	161	-15.7	161	165	+2.5	1.3
5 51 -21.5 57 60 40 45 12.5 47 63 6 10 +66.7 13 12 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Hormones	87	20	-19.5	106	89	-16.0	1.1
40 45 12.5 47 63 6 10 +66.7 13 12 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Calcium-channel blockers	65	51	-21.5	57	60	+5.3	1.4
6 10 +66.7 13 12 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Clonazepam, alprazolam or diazepam	40	45	12.5	47	63	+25.4	1.2
. 729 620 -15.0 682 748					Finasteride	9	10	+66.7	13	12	7.7-	0.6
					Combined effect	729	620	-15.0	682	748	+9.7	1.3 p<0.001

change as a result of exposure to the therapeutic letter, ^d baseline differences were adjusted for; ^e analysis was undertaken by intention-to-treat and generalised estimating equations (GEE) were used to adjust for clustering at the level of the local health area, physician and letter, ^f the relative risk was adjusted for before-patient volume versus after-patient volume in both groups to allow for varying numbers of patients at risk of becoming new patients in the intervention and control groups; ASA = acetylsalicylic acid; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

I able 44. E	I able 42. Ellectiveliess of local collocitous process - Flocess outcollies	וחרמו הטווספווסמי	ه المردوعة – المردي							
Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Intervention		Process outo	comes (practitior	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	l change)		
(Baker et al.,	Level II: cluster		Intervention 1:	Practice adherence to guideline recommendations for asthma, % of patients	line recommendat	ions for asthma,	% of patients			
2003)	RCT Quality: good	practices (n=81) Northern England,	Prioritised review criteria CPGs	Guideline recommendation	Standard CPGs n=27	Review criteria n=27	criteria 27	Review criteria + feedback n=27	a + feedback 27	Effect measure
			Intervention 2: Review criteria enhanced with		% change ≞	% change ª	Relative change	% change ^{ab}	Relative change	p-value
			feedback	Appropriate basis of diagnosis	+1.3	+4.5	3.5	+1.0	0.8	0.82
				Appropriate diagnosis when symptoms equivocal	+2.0	9.0-	0.3	-2.3	1.2	0.70
				Patients prescribed beta-2 agonist	-0.1	-1.5	15.0	1 .1.	14.0	0.89
				Beta-2 agonist compliance checked	-0.3	-5.4	18.0	-0.8	2.7	0.36
				Beta-2 agonist doses checked	+11.3	+1.6	0.1	+5.2	0.5	0.21
				Cheapest beta-2 agonist prescribed	-6.4	+0.3	0.05	-1.9	0.3	0.75
				Cheapest inhaled steroid prescribed	+0.1	+11.2	112.0	+15.9	159.0	0.04
				Patient's inhaler technique checked	9.0+	-2.5	4.2	-3.6	0.9	0.56
				Patients advised on passive smoking	-1.3	+0.3	0.2	+1.9	1.5	0.72
				Patient's smoking status checked	+1.8	+7.6	4.2	<i>T.</i> 7+	4.3	0.74
				Practice adherence to recommendations for angina, % of patients	imendations for a	ngina, % of patie	ents			
				Appropriate basis of diagnosis	+2.7	+1.1	7.0	-7.5	2.8	0.23

Table 42. Effectiveness of local consensus process – Process outcomes

0.26	0.54	0.02	0.27	0.02	0.45	0.76	0.32	<0.001	0.18	0.43	0.29		asure	nange e	g
1.0	0.8	6.8	0.7	2.2	1.0	2.0	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.02		Effect measure	Relative change p-value	0 p=0.69
													S	% change	+15.4
+5.8	+5.2	+8.8	+2.3	+7.5	+13.5	+7.4	+1.0	+2.0	+5.9	+1.0	-0.2		Electronic CPGs n=38	After	15 [12-17]
2.5	0.6	10.6	0.9	0.7	0.4	1.8	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	ans, 1s)	Elec	Before	13 [12-2]
+13.9	+4.2	-13.8	-2.7	-2.5	+5.9	+6.5	-1.0	+2.1	+5.1	+1.1	+4.2	oer of physici /ered questio		% change	0
												nes ^c , numt rectly answ	No CPGs n=34	After	13 [11-15.3]
+5.6	+6.8	+1.3	+3.1	+3.4	+14.0	+3.7	+4.6	+9.7	+13.8	+3.1	+10.1	with guideli entile of cor		Before	13 [10-15.3]
Patients' serum cholesterol checked	Patients' bloody pressure checked	Hypertensive patients managed appropriately	Smoking status recorded at diagnosis	Patient's compliance with angina medication checked	Cheapest beta-blocker prescribed	Aspirin prescribed	Advice on nitrate use	Patient given information on time to use nitrate	Blood pressure tested in past 12 months	Smoking status recorded in past 12 months	Weight recorded in past 12 months	GPs' knowledge consistent with guidelines $^{\rm c}_{\rm s}$ number of physicians, (median [25 th and 75 th] percentile of correctly answered questions)			Knowledge gain
												Computerised CPGs disseminated via	Internet/CD-ROM		
												General Practitioners	(n=72), academic teaching	university of	Witten-Herdecke, North Rhine- Westphalia, Germany
												Level II: RCT Quality: Good			
												(Butzlaff et al., 2004)			

(Silagy et al.,		GPs (n=243)	Locally adapted CPGs	GPs' knowledge consistent with LUTS guidelines, % of physicians	with LUTS g	uidelines, %	of physicial	SL			
2002)	Quality: poor	within 2 Divisions of General Practice, Adelaide	for stroke prevention (SP) and management of Lower Urinary Tract Symmtoms (I ITTS)	Topic addressed by CPG:	C (SF _ C	Control Group Division A ^d (SP CPGs) n=121	p 21	Inte LUT	Intervention Group Division B ^e (LUTS CPGs) n=122	oup =122	Effect measure
			in Men		Before ^f	After	% change [95% CI]	Before ^f	After	% change [95% CI]	Relative change
				Role of prostate size	31.9	40.3	+8.4 [3, 14]	26.2	37.7	+11.5 [5, 17]	1.4
				Use of PSA estimation	52.9	61.3	+8.4 [3, 14]	56.6	62.3	+5.7 [1, 10]	0.7
				Use of Finasteride	39.1	46.0	+6.9 [1, 13]	51.0	33.6	-17.4 [-24, -9]	2.5
				Criteria for surgery	26.0	35.1	+9.1 [4, 19]	34.4	92.6	+58.2 [48, 66]	6.4
				GPs' knowledge consistent with SP guidelines, % of physicians	with SP guic	telines, % of	[†] physicians				
					<u>0</u> – E	Control Group Division B 9 (LUTS CPGs)	Q -	Inte	Intervention Group Division A ^h (SP CPGs)	dno	Effect measure
					Before	After	change ⁱ % [95% CI]	Before	After	% change ⁱ [95% CI]	Relative change
				Use of appropriate screening	59.6	58.8	-0.8 [-3, 2]	67.7	66.1	-1.6 [-5,1]	2.0
				Use of aspirin	81.5	87.4	+5.9 [1, 11]	80.8	81.7	+0.9 [-2, 4]	0.2
				Treatment options	15.3	22.1	6.8 [2, 12]	17.4	23.1	+5.7 [1,11]	0.8
				Criteria for carotid endartectomy	69.8	63.4	-6.4 [-12, 2]	70.2	65.3	-4.9 [-9, 1]	0.8
				Investigations for carotid stenosis	86.4	93.2	+6.8 [2, 13]	92.6	91.8	-0.8 [-4, 3]	0.1
^a pre- and pos	t-intervention scores w	ere not included due to	v space restrictions – avails	^a ore- and post-intervention scores were not included due to space restrictions – available on request: ^b multivariate regression analysis using generalised estimations (GEE) to account for baseline	aression anal	vsis usina ae	neralised esti	imating equat	tions (GEE) t	to account for	baseline

as a control group for Division A: h Division B received locally adapted CPGs for SP; ¹ Newcombe's test for differences in paired proportions was used for within-Division changes in knowledge between the first and second survey; CI = confidence interval; CPG = clinical practice guideline; GPs = general practitioners; LUTS = lower unnary tract symptoms; NS = not significant; PSA = prostate specific antigen; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation; SP = stroke prevention. adapted CPGs for LUTS and acted as a control group for Division A; fauthors stated no significant differences between groups at baseline; 9 Division B received the standard/original version of SP CPGs and acted a pre- and post-intervention scores were not included due to space restrictions – available on request; a multivanate regression analysis using generalised estimating equations (GEE) to account for baseline differences a questionnaire referring to 4 clinical topics covered by the CPGs (dementia, congestive heart failure, urinary tract infection and prevention of colorectal carcinoma) tested the physician's knowledge and determined if it was consistent with the CPGs for each clinical topic; ^a Division A received the standard/original version of LUTS CPGs and acted as a control group for Division B; ^a Division B received locally

Reference	I evel and quality	Tarnet	Intervention			Datient outcom	Patient outcomes (health status)			
	of evidence	population					וכס (ווכמונוו סומותס			
(Baker et al.,	Level II:	General	Intervention 1:	Assessment of patient disease symptoms	t disease symptom	S				
2003)	Cluster RCT Quality: good	practices (n=81) Northern	Prioritised review criteria CPGs		Standard CPGs n=27	Review criteria n=27	criteria 27	Criteria + feedback n=27	eedback 7	Effect Measure
		England, UK	Intervention 2: Review criteria enhanced	Outcome measures	% change ª	% change ª	Relative change	% change ª	Relative change	p-value ^b
			with feedback	Symptoms for asthma, mean score $\pm SD^{c}$	mean score ±SD ^c					
					-5.8	-2.7	0.5	+11.2	1.9	0.02
				Symptoms for angina, mean score \pm SD d	nean score ±SD ∉					
				Physical limitation	+2.5	-4.9	2.0	-3.5	1.4	0.15
				Angina stability	-3.0	+8.7	2.9	+4.1	1.4	0.03
			•	Angina frequency	-2.4	+15.1	6.4	+4.6	2.0	<0.001
				Disease perception	-4.9	+13.0	2.7	+6.8	1.4	<0.001
				Asthma treatment, % of patients satisfied	f patients satisfied					
				Asthma treated satisfactorily	+0.8	-0.3	0.4	-1.4	1.8	0.83
				Satisfactory explanations about asthma	+1.6	2.0+	0.4	-1.4	6:0	0.75
				Angina treatment, % of patients satisfied	patients satisfied					
				Satisfaction with medication	6.0+	-6.1	6.8	-0.3	0.3	0.03
				Satisfactory	+1.8	+3.2	1.8	+3.0	1.7	0.91
				explanations about angina symptoms						
^a nre- and nost	are- and nost-intervention scores were not included due to snace restrictions – available on recurest b multilavel modelling using a random effects model at the practice level s self-report Asthma Symptoms	to not included due t					:		•	

Table 43. Effectiveness of local consensus processes – Patient outcomes

^a pre- and post-intervention scores were not included due to space restrictions – available on request; ^b multilevel modelling using a random effects model at the practice level; ^c self-report Asthma Symptoms Questionnaire, high score indicates severe symptoms; ^d self-report Seattle Angina Questionnaire, low score indicates severe symptoms; CPG = clinical practice guideline; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation.

-											
Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	titioners' beha	vioural chang	()				
(Katz et al.,	Level II: Cluster	Community-	Tutorial enhanced	Proportion of patients receiving recommended counselling activities, % [95% CI] patients	ceiving recom	mended couns	selling activiti	ies, % [95% CI] patients		
2004)	RCT Quality: Good	based primary care clinics (n=8)	with individual feedback, prompts, an offer of free nicotine			Control			Tutorial		Effect measure ^a
		Wisconsin, USA	replacement therapy, proactive telephone counselling		Before n=509	After n=499	% change	Before n=513	After n=642	% change	Relative change p-value
				Counselling by any clinician ^b	q U						
				Asked about smoking status	61 [57, 65]	67 [63, 71]	+6.0	58 [53, 62]	87 [84, 90]	+29.0	4.8 p=0.02
				Asked about willingness to quit	26 [22, 30]	30 [26,34]	+4.0	28 [25, 32]	73 [69, 76]	+45.0	11.3 p<0.001
				Advised to quit	32 [28,36]	38 [34, 43]	+6.0	41 [36, 45]	47 [44, 51]	+6.0	1.0 p=0.29
				Given quit literature	4 [2, 5]	3 [2, 5]	-1.0	3 [1, 4]	38 [34, 42]	+35.0	35.0 p<0.001
				Set quit date	1 [0, 2]	1 [0, 2]	0.0	2 [1, 3]	27 [24, 31]	+25.0	0 p<0.001
				Discussed pharmacotherapy	14 [11, 17]	14 [11, 17]	0.0	15 [12, 18]	39 [35, 43]	+24.0	0 p<0.001
				Counselling by intake clinician $^{\circ}$	cian c						
				Asked about smoking status	34 [30, 38]	46 [41, 50]	+12.0	30 [27, 35]	81 [77, 84]	+51.0	4.3 p<0.001
				Asked about willingness to quit	6 [4, 7]	10 [8, 13]	+4.0	5 [3, 7]]	65 [61, 68]	+60.0	15.0 p<0.001
				Advised to quit	7 [5, 9]	10 [8, 13]	+3.0	4 [3, 6]	31 [28, 35]	+27.0	9.0 p<0.001
				Given quit literature	0 [0, 1]	0 [0, 1]	0.0	0 [0, 1]	36 [32, 40]	+36.0	0
				Set quit date	0 [0, 1]	0 [0, 1]	0.0	0 [0, 1]	23 [20, 26]	+23.0	0

Table 44. Effectiveness of educational meetings (CME) – Process outcomes

Level II: Cluster Gen RCT prac Quality: Good prac from			pharmacotherapy	n [u, i]		0.0 U U		0.62+	0 p<0.001
ity: Good	General	Training (supported	Proportion of nurse consultations where key behaviours occurred, $\%$	Iltations where	key behaviours oc	curred, %			
	practitioners and practice nurses from general	by previous 2-year participation in CME			Control n=32 consultations	ations	Tailored educational training n=36 consultations analysed	onal training Ins analysed	p-value ^d
prac	num generar practices	enhanced with follow-	Patient decides topic to discuss	SSD	72.0		83.0		NS
(n=2 Sou	(n=29), South	up support by a research nurse,	Patient affirms current behaviour	viour	81.0		100.0	0	0.006
Glar	Glamorgan, UK	newsletters, group	Patient initiates discussion of change	of change	25.0		50.0		0.03
	Diabetic patients	meetings	Any target set		41.0		58.0		NS
2	(202)		Patient actually sets target		28.0		36.0		NS
			Patient takes lead in target setting	setting	22.0		28.0		NS
ll: Cluster	General	Training package:	Physicians' skills in the application of brief cognitive behavioural therapy for patients with depression, mean ±SD	plication of br	rief cognitive behav	ioural therapy	or patients with	depression, mea	n ±SD
RCT prac Quality: Average (n=8	practitioners (n=84),	4 half day cognitive behavioural therapy workshors at one-			Control GPs 	Tra	Trained GPs ^e n=42	Effect r Mean differe	Effect measure Mean difference [95% Cl]
	North London, UK	week intervals	Depression Attitude ^f	-		-		-	
			Treatment attitude ^g		48.2±8.8	4	46.3±10.9	-1.6 [-(-1.6 [-6.9, 3.7]
			Professional ease ^h		47.3±13.9	7	42.2±14.0	-5.1 [-1	-5.1 [-11.9, 1.7]
			Depression malleability ⁱ		28.1±12.9		30.8±9.7	2.0 [-2	2.0 [-2.9, 6.8]
			Depression identification j		36.3±14.4	3	36.3±11.4	-0-2 [-1	-0.5 [-7.1, 6.0]
			CBT Knowledge ^k						
			Confidence in treating depression	ssion	29.2±17.4	7	20.9±8.3	-8.2 [-1	-8.2 [-15.4, -1.0]
			Confidence in treating anxiety	ty '	36.5±15.9	3	30.3±14.5	-7.8 [-1	-7.8 [-15.3, -0.2]
il II: Cluster	AIDS service	Technical assistance	Percentage of AIDS Service Organisations offering research-based intervention to clients, $\%$	e Organisation	ns offering researc	h-based interve	ntion to clients, ⁹	%	
RCT orga Quality: Poor (n=7 USA	organisations (n=77) USA	manuals plus Training workshop Training workshop		Manual only n=26		Manual + workshops _{n=22}		Manual + workshops + consultation n=26	+ sdort nc
		with follow-up	6 months follow-up	% change ^m	% change ^m	m Relative change		% change ^m Re	Relative change p-value ⁿ

65 2015	57	516 219	Relative change	29 2405	31	21 p4165		Workshop+ Freedback+ Coaching	S Relative change change		41 12	450 37	4337 0.8		90 99	07 E.#	45 07		k oups Band Dr	p=0.048
+20.4	199	+304	% change *	- 562	1927	+12		*.g	Relative change ch		÷ _ 10	25 +	¥ 60		-	114 20105	5		Feedback Groups A and C vs Groups B and D *	E8 p4
								Workshop + Coaching	afre 4	,	999 19	122	-983 -		Ş	1÷	Ŧ		Groups	
53	12	27	Relative change	19	55	17		Morkshop + Feedback	Relative change		68	26	10		85	80 71005	12		-O pue	
-201	-23	607-	% change *	-36.4	-455	Ξ.	CS1 LSO	Workshop Feedback	r s		502+	5.43	582		Ŷ	7 <u>1</u> 7	ų		Course Groups A and B vs Groups C and D *	p=0.012
			ž	-			(invitering)	Workshop	Relative change		11	20	+23.7 0.8		12	90012d	5		Ds A and B	0.7
TP+	5	151	% change =	482	915+		fiveforel h	Work	* change	a lands for	587	-28		no steel =	+10.3	ą	ŧ	(index)	neg O	
_		ş				<u>ş</u>	ciency in Mo	Self Training Control •	r ⊿	a interview	585	+13.2	7	en formalita	19	60	-22	Service Ref.		estions
(Say men	loner	Any client population	12 months blibe-up	Gey men	linoren	Any client population	Coursellor proficiency in Wotivational Interviewing, mean ±50			Overal Motivational Interviewing spirit?	Prostraining	4 months	12 months	% Midivational Interviewing consistent #	Pust-training	4 months	12 months	Communication skills, RR 9 (p-value)		Use of leading questions
							Training in clinical		-	Revision plus consching	Markshop plus	feedback and	Selftaining (control)					Intensive 3-day		
							Substance	abuse dinciars (loanset n counseling	medicine.	(juoni	New Mexico.	ŝ						Oncologists of	specialist- registrar status for tistil andree	in cancer
							Level III-1: Quasi-	RCT Duality: Good										Level II-1: Ouzsi-	RCT Ouelity Average	
							Marta	6002										Falconfect	etal, 2002 Faloafield	iner an
5	8		~	~	(ar centres	Relative change	2.4 NS	3.0 p<0.001	53.8 p<0.01	1.0 NS		Effect measure	Relative change p-value	0.6 p=0.15	0.9 p=0.92			
---------------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	------------------------	---------------------------------------	--------------------------	---	--	---	-----------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---	---	------------------------------------	---	------------------------	---------------------			
0.9 p=0.075	0.9 p=0.13	0.8 p=0.07	10.0 p=0.73	0.9 p=0.58	0.9 p=0.30		Seminar n=30 health centres	% change ^s	+5.7	-10	-21.5	-0.2			% change	+12.2	-8.1			
0)))		ssion ntres	Relative 9	3.0 NS	5.2 p<0.001	19.5 p<0.01	0.5 NS		Workshop n=25 physicians	Change in mean score n=24	2.0±2.7	-4.5±9.6			
003)20	005	63	63	24		Small-group session n=30 health centres	% change ^s	+7.1	-17	-7.8	-0.1			Before n=25	16.4±1.9	55.3±8.7			
1.3 p=0.003	1.2 p=0.020	1.5 p=0.005	1.1 p=0.63	0.9 p=0.63	0.8 p=0.24		es.	% CI					1 score±SD		% change	+20.7	+9.0			
-	1	1))	escriptions	Control n=30 health centres	% change ^s	+2.4	-3.3	-0.4	-0.2	Management of breast cancer problems, mean score±SD	Home study n=25 physicians	Change in mean score n=19	3.4±3.4	-4.7±9.3			
questions	stions	empathy	ormation	onses to	atients	Prescribing practices, % of prescriptions			IRS	bials ^t	loels ^u	average ase	breast cancer	_	Before n=23	16.4±2.5	52.4±11.2			
Use of focussed questions	Use of open questions	Expressions of empathy	Summarises information	Appropriate responses to patient cues	Interruption of patients	Prescribing pre			Therapy using ORS	Use of antimicrobials $^{\mathrm{t}}$	Use of antidiarrhoels $^{\scriptscriptstyle \sf U}$	Polypharmacy: average number of drugs prescribed per case	Management of			Knowledge ^v	Skills ^w			
followed by course	Course only	written reeapack only				Intervention 1:	Small-group face-to- face intervention	Formal seminar followed by question-	answer time conducted at	Uistrict level * Each intervention	written educational materials		Educational package	implemented via workshop						
centres (n=34),	ЛХ					Physician	prescribers, PHC centres (n=90) within 6	districts, Yogyakarta and	Central Java, Indonesia				Family	physicians (n=50),	2 regions 50- 150km from Toronto, Canada					
						Level III-1: Quasi-	RCT Quality: Average						Level III-1: Quasi-	RCT Quality: Average						
						(Santoso et	al., 1996)						(Young et	al., 1998)						

(Delvaux et	Level III-1: Quasi-	Oncology	Psychological training	Communication skills ^x , mean scores±SD	s ^x , mean score	S±SD					
al., 2004)	RCT Quality: Average	nurses (n=115) with >6 months	program + regular post-training		Contro n=6 or	Control - Delayed training	iining nants	uu y=u	Training n=6 orotins: 57 participants	nants	Effect
		experience in cancer care; Cancer patients			Before	After 6 months	% change	Before	After 6 months	% change	Relative change
		>18 years old		Form of utterance <i>y</i> :							
		(n=115) Belgium or Br		Open directive and screening questions	6.8±5.2	4.7±4.2	-30.9	5.1±4.4	5.6±4.6	+9.8	0.3 NS
		Brance		Function of utterance ^z :							
				Eliciting information, clarification and checking	34.5±13.3	37.7±13.9	+9.3	36.5±15.1	37.9±11.6	+3.8	0.4 NS
				Psychological depth of interview aa:	r interview ^{aa} :						
				Feelings hinted at or mentioned explicitly	24.0±16.5	12.7±13.8	-47.1	22.0±18.3	21.7±17.4	-1.4	0.0
				Blocking behaviours:							
				Blocking, repetition and repetition as blocking	5.2 ± 4.6	3.8±4.5	-26.9	83.5±10.7	85.2±9.6	+2.0	0.1 NS
(Razavi et	Level III-1: Quasi-	Physician	Post-training	Communication skills ^x , mean scores±SD	s ^x , mean score	S±SD					
al., 2003)	RCT Quality: Average	specialists in medical or	consolidation workshops		Cont	Control - Training only n=30	only	Training witl	Training with consolidation workshop n=28	n workshop	Effect measure
		oncology, radiotherapy,			Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change
		haematology,		Form of utterance <i>y</i> :							
		gynaecology ol other cancer- related		Open directive and screening questions	1.7±1.6	1.7±1.0	0	1.4±1.3	2.0±1.6	+42.9	NE
		speciality (n=63)		Function of utterance ^z :							
		Cancer patients >18 years old, France		Eliciting information, clarification and checking	0.5±0.7	1.4±1.9	+180	0.8±1.2	2.4±2.9	+200	1.1 NS

	Emotional level ^{aa} : Hints at feelings	1.9±2.8	2.8±3.5	+47.4	1.9±2.3	3.4±4.5	+78.9	1.7
		0.4-0	0.040.4	r	0.4-0	0.1-1-1-0	0.00	NS
	Feelings stated explicitly	0.7±1.0	1.8±3.1	+157.1	1.0±1.5	1.9±2.5	+90.0	0.6 NS
Distance learning	Physicians' knowledge and skills in providing smoking cessation advice to patients	je and skills in	providing sm	oking cessatio	n advice to pa	Itients		
module vs simple provision of		Ž	Mailed guideline n=27	a	Distan	Distance learning module n=26	odule	Effect measure
		Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change p-value
	Knowledge scores, median ^{bb}	7.0	7.0	0	7.5	8.0	+6.7	0 p=0.5
	Skills cc, %							
	Negotiate a "quit date"	33.0	52.0	+19.0	38.0	42.0	+4.0	0.2 p=0.5
	Give advice about triggers for smoking	81.0	78.0	-3.0	65.0	54.0	-11.0	3.7 p=0.06
	Assess nicotine dependence	70.0	70.0	0.0	0.69	73.0	+4.0	0.0 p=0.8
	Arrange follow-up	56.0	52.0	-4.0	42.0	42.0	0.0	0.0 p=0.5
	Provide written materials with verbal advice	67.0	59.0	-8.0	50.0	50.0	0.0	0.0 p=0.5
	Provide written materials without verbal advice	0.0	11.0	+11.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0 p=0.2
	Assess state of change	56.0	59.0	+3.0	62.0	70.0	+3.0	1.0 p=0.4
	Recommend NRT	74.0	74.0	0.0	77.0	62.0	-15.0	0.0 p=0.3

1.1 p=0.6	1.5 p=0.06	0.0 p=0.7		Effect measure ^{ff}	Relative change p-value	28.1 p=0.001	2.0 p=0.004	3.1 p=0.003	1.8 p=0.007	2.0 p=0.018
+8.0	-23.0	-8.0			% change	+19.7	+6.3	+13.2	+11.7	6.6+
81.0	23.0	88.0		Workshop n=318	After	42.1	70.3	24.2	51.1	63.7
73.0	46.0	96.0	ctice		Before	22.4	64.0	11.0	39.4	53.8
0.7+	-15.0	0.0	eiving best pra		% change	2.0-	-3.2	+4.8	-6.6	-5.0
74.0	48.0	93.0	of clients rece	Control n=105	After	22.0	52.6	8.8	33.8	48.7
67.0	63.0	93.0	ritis care ^{ee} , %		Before	22.7	55.8	4.0	40.4	53.7
Encourage patient to discuss concerns about quitting	Advise patient to cut down ("nicotine fading") ^{dd}	Advise patient to quit completely	Best practice for arthritis care e^{e} , % of clients receiving best practice			Client given information on their type of arthritis	Client given information about arthritis medications & side effects	Client given phone number for Arthritis Society	Client given information about available arthritis services	Client given information about dealing with pain
			Interactive workshop	enhanced with provider rainforcement (audit	and feedback)					
			Community	health centres (n=7) that employ family	physicians, nurse practitioners,	health promoters, occupational	ureraphsis, CHC clients - patients who have difficulty accessing	primary healthcare services,	Ontario, canada	
			Level III-3: CBA	design Quality: Average						
			(Glazier et	al., 2005)						

ω	5	_	~	~		t re	e e	
16.2 p=0.038	3.8 p=0.075	7.9 p=0.11	3.7 p=0.43	0.8 p=0.88		Effect measure	Relative change	0.5 NS
+8.1	6.6+	+13.4	<i>L</i> .e+	+7.9		j package	% change	+13.2
62.5	61.3	57.0	55.7	54.8		Self-instruction learning package n=28	After	71.8
54.4	51.4	43.6	46.0	46.9		Self-instr	Before	63.4
+0.5	+2.6	-1.7	+2.6	9.6+	ean test scores	ence	% change	+25.1
49.4	50.0	46.8	50.6	55.7	macology, me	Traditional conference n=35	After	77.2
48.9	47.4	48.5	48.0	46.1	f geriatric phar	Trad	Before	61.7
Clients received education about arthritis management	Client's need for support and ability to cope with arthritis addressed	Provider discussed how client is coping with arthritis and how to get additional support	Provider discussed nutrition and healthy body weight relating to client's arthritis	Provider recommended client do exercise program for treatment of arthritis	Nurses' knowledge of geriatric pharmacology, mean test scores			Nurses' knowledge
					Multimedia,	self-instruction educational package vs didactic conference		
					Registered	hickory, No.44 Constants	North Carolina and South Carolina	
					Level III-3:	CBA design Quality: Average		
					(Suggs et	al., 1998)		

reflections to questions, % questions that were open, % reflections that were complex, % therapist's in-session talk time; a estimated relative rates were based on a conditional Poisson regression model with doctorsecific rate variables; 12x2 factorial design - Groups A and B had been on a course; Groups C and D had not, Groups A and C received feedback; groups B and D did not. Follow-up was 3 months; spre- and post-^x Eunction of utterance = evaluative, supportive, informing, advising and interpretive functions (21 categories); ^{aa} Psychological depth of interviews = utterances about feelings rather than facts alone; ^{bb} Knowledge ^a comparisons between control and intervention groups are based on hierarchical regression models (adjusted for patient covariates: age, sex, educational level, alcohol use, number of cigarettes smoked per day. using linear regression; f Botega et al 1992 and Kerr et al 1995; 9 high score indicates a preference for biological theories and antidepressants; low score indicates an orientation to psychotherapy. ideal outcome = score = number of correct answers to 10 questions; cc Skills measure = % of physicians who indicated using cessation technique; dd Nicotine fading is an ineffective technique and decrease in recommendations is anticlarrhoeal fixed combinations; " knowledge score ranged from 0-29 (high); " Attitude/skills scores ranged from 25 (very comfortable dealing with breast cancer issues) to 125 (uncomfortable); " Communication clinicians refers to registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, and medical assistants; ^d baseline measures not provided, but reported as similar; ^e scores are post-intervention, baseline scores were adjusted for depression: ideal outcome = low score; high score indicates differentiating depression from unhappiness and little confidence in treatments beyond those usually provided: ideal outcome = low score; questionnaire explored GPs' knowledge of CBT and the extent to which they feel confident in applying it to practice; I high score for confidence outcomes indicates a lack of confidence in treating depression or control = waiting list group received manual and training videotapes; P Motivational Interviewing spirit = global measure of MI proficiency. Measures included overall MI spirit, % MI consistent responses, ratio of arxiety: ideal outcome = low score; m Baseline scores not provided, but reported as similar; n Kruskal-Wallis test for differences from baseline and Student's t-test for differences between groups, °Self-training oractitioners; MI = motivational interviewing; NE = not estimable; NRT = nicotine replacement therapy; ORS = oral dehydration solution; PHC = primary health care; RR = relative rate; SD = standard deviation. scores were not included due to space restrictions - available upon request; t antimicrobials included antibiotics, chemotherapeutics and antiamoebics, " Antidiarrhoels included spasmolytics, adsorbents and an improvement in practice; ee Best practice in arthritis care was assessed using Health Assessment Questionnaire and Medical Outcome Study Short Form-36; ff Chi-square tests were performed to assess health status, and presence of another smoker in household); ^b any clinician refers to intake clinicians or primary care clinicians including physicians, nurse practitioners and assistants; ^c intake differences; ASOs = AIDS service organisations; CBA = controlled before and after study; CBT = cognitive behaviour therapy; CI = confidence interval; CPGs = Clinical Practice Guidelines; GPs = General ow score; high score indicates that GP is uncomfortable in dealing with depression and sees it as unrewarding: ideal outcome = low score; high score indicates pessimism about modifying the course of 8 skills based on rating system for each utterance by health care provider during interviews. Examples of categories are given here: ^y Form of utterance = statements and types of guestions (8 categories)

neasure^a change p-value 7.0 p=0.009 Relative 11.0 p<0.001 p=0.06 13.0 p<0.001 8.0 p<0.001 p<0.001 Effect p=0.30 1.9 p=0.02 p=0.93 p=0.22 p=0.71 1.4 0.5 1.3 5.0 0 0 % change +11.0 +13.0 +15.0 +13.0 +7.0 +4.0 +7.0 +5.0 +8.0 +8.0 +5.0 57 [53, 61] 57 [52, 61] 16 [13, 19] 14 [11, 17] 58 [49, 67] 17 [14, 21] 18] 20 [13, 27] 13 [7, 9] 16] 13 Tutorial After n=642 15 [13, 1 11 [8, · 10 [5, 1 44 [40, 48] 51 [41, 61] 42 [37, 47] 22] 15] 0 **Before** n=513 5 [3, 7] 4 [2, 6] 6 [4, 8] 5 [1, 9] 3 [1.4] Patient outcomes (health status) 9 [3, 1 15 [8, 2 8 [5, % change +15.0 +1.0 +1.0 +9.0 +8.0 +1.0 +1.0 +4.0 -1.0 0.0 0.0 19 [11, 26] 73] 52] 10 [7, 12] 50 [46, 55] 5 [1, 10] Control 15] 8 [5,10] 6 [4, 8] 5 [3, 7] 4 [2, 5] After n=499 63 [53, 47 [42, 9 [3, Smoking cessation outcomes, % of patients 41 [38, 45] 48 [38, 58] 39 [35, 44] 15 [8, 22] 9 [4, 15] 9 [6, 11] 6 [1, 11] Before n=509 5 [3, 7] 4 [2, 6] 7 [5, 10] 4 [2, 5] Continuous abstinence ^c 2-month quit rate b 6-month quit rate ^b Any quit attempt ≥10 cigarettes ≥10 cigarettes ≥10 cigarettes <10 cigarettes <10 cigarettes <10 cigarettes <10 cigarettes smoked/day smoked/day smoked/day smoked/day smoked/day smoked/day smoked/day replacement therapy, offer of free nicotine proactive telephone stamp (prompt), an modified vital signs feedback, use of a Tutorial enhanced Dissemination with individual performance counselling Strategy non-emergency baseline period who smoked at care during the Adult patients cigarette per day and presented for population Wisconsin, least one (n=2163) Southern Target USA Quality: Good Cluster RCT Level and quality of evidence Level II: (Katz et al., 2004) Reference

Table 45. Effectiveness of educational meetings (CME) – Patient outcomes

0 p<0.001		Effect measure Odds ratio [95% CI]	1.07 [0.76, 1.52] p=0.68		Effect measure Mean difference [95% CI]	-0.2 [-2.3, 1.9] p=0.84	0.8 [-2.4, 4.0] p=0.62	0.9 [-2.0, 3.8] p=0.53		2.7 [1.1, 6.4] p=0.03	-3.1 [-9.4, 3.1] p=0.32	0.1 [-4.4, 4.6] p=0.96	-1.0 [-5.7, 3.6] p=0.66	ed per day,
0.6+		Eff	1.0		Me	Ŷ	0	0		5	<u>د</u> -	0	<u>-</u>	ettes smoke
11 [8, 14]		Difference	-0.01 [0.11, 0.09] p=0.85		Trained doctors n=137	17.5±9.6	48.6±13.8	52.3±13.2		47.0	29.7	20.8	21.7	ise, number of cigar month follow-up;
2 [1, 4]	р	+ su			Traine	17	48	52						el, alcohol u at 2- and 6
0.0	re root [95% CI]	Teaching sessions + support n=659	1.5 [1.47, 1.56]											x, educational lev sr the prior 7 days
3 [2, 5]	mean squa		54]	TSD	Control doctors n=135	16.6±11.5	48.2±14.9	50.4±13.7		33.0	29.2	21.0	25.1	iates: age, se ostinence ove
3 [1, 5]	ts with asthma,	Control n=903	1.5 [1.46, 1.54]	ns, mean score	Cont	=	4	Q	nts					for patient covari nts who report at
≥10 cigarettes smoked/day	Quality of life among patients with asthma, mean square root [95% CI] $^{\rm d}$		Quality of life, mean square root	Patients emotional symptoms, mean score±SD		Beck depression inventory	State anxiety	Trait anxiety	SF-36 dimensions, % of patients	% with role limitations (emotional) - all areas	Social function	Mental health	Energy and vitality	^a comparisons between control and intervention groups are based on hierarchical regression models adjusted for patient covariates: age, sex, educational level, alcohol use, number of cigarettes smoked per day, self-reported health status, and presence of another smoker in household; ^b quit rates = the proportion of patients who report abstinence over the prior 7 days at 2- and 6-month follow-up;
	6 teaching sessions	conducted by Nurse specialists in asthma and follow-up support,	practice ruleses in turn educated patients in the management of asthma according to the British Thoracic Society's guidelines	Training package:	4-half day cognitive behavioural therapy workshops at one- week intervals									ups are based on hierarchi smoker in household; ^b qu
	General	practices with a practice nurse (n=41),	All registered patients aged 15-50 years (n=24,000) Greenwich, London, UK	Mental health	patients who scored above the threshold for	psychological distress on the	hospital anxiety and depression	scale (n-z/z) North London, UK						and intervention group presence of another
	Level II: RCT	Quality: Good		Level II:	Cluster RCT Quality: Average									s between control (health status, and ,
	(Premaratn	e et al., 1999)		(King et al.,	2002)									a comparison: self-reported

Γ														
			Effect measure	Relative change p-value	15.8 p=0.007		delines + utreach visit es; 35 GPs	Relative change p-value	2.1 p=0.29	10.0 p=0.009	1.1 p=0.44	0.2 p=0.39	6.2 p=0.10	0.7 p=0.08
		lypertension	:h visit : ^b t GPs	% change	-6.3		Mailed guidelines + Educational outreach visit n=7 practices; 35 GPs	% change ^d	+5.9	+3.0	-5.6	+1.8	8 [.] 8-	-6.2
	change)	ating systolic h	Educational outreach visit: ^b n=9 practices; 34 GPs	After	161.8		ines 6 GPs	Relative change	1.5	5.7	0.8	0.4	0.4	0.5
	oehavioural	old ^a for trea	Educe	Before	172.7		Mailed guidelines n=6 practices; 36 GPs	lge ^d		1	8	2	10	2
	actitioners' l	orted thresh		% change	0.4		M n=6	% change ^d	+4.3	+1.7	+3.8	+3.2	+0.5	+4.5
	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	rly patients, repo	Control ^b n=9 practices; 35 GPs	After %	167.2		Control n=7 practices; 36 GPs	% change ^d	+2.8	+0.3	-4.9	-7.4	+1.4	+8.9
	Proce	tension in elde	0=U	Before	166.6	Ŋ	C n=7 prac	% с						
		GPs' management of hypertension in elderly patients, reported threshold ^a for treating systolic hypertension			GPs' reported threshold for systolic BP (mmHg)	Drug prescribing ⁰, mean ±SD			Recommended 3 NSAIDs, % of total NSAID	Top 5 NSAIDs, % of total NSAID	lbuprofen, DDDs per 1000 STAR-PUs ^e	Ibuprofen, % total DDDs	Total volume, DDDs per 1000 STAR-PUs ^e	Total cost, NIC (${m E}$) per 1000 STAR-PUs $^{ m e}$
	Dissemination Strategy	Practice-based	educational outreach visit: small-group, semi-structured one-	hour session led by trained educational facilitator		Intervention 1:	Mailed guidelines for the use of oral NSAIDs in the management of oral	musculoskeletal disorders	Intervention 2: Mailed guidelines plus	2 one-to-one educational outreach visit from community	pharmacists			
	Target population	PHC practices	(n=18), general practitioners	Elderly patients, aged 70-79 years, with hvpertension	(n=69) UK	General	Practices (n=20), Avon, England							
	Level and quality of evidence	Level II:	Cluster RCT Quality: good			Level II:	Cluster RCT Quality: good							
	Reference	(Cranney et	al., 1999)			(Watson et	al., 2001)							

Table 46. Effectiveness of educational outreach visits – Process outcomes

22 p=0.08		Evidence-based materials + Educational outreach visit # r=46	- Rédrie change prolie	so ting	10 N		Chi-square ¹ p-raise	80 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	110 P074	000 500	200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200	699 140 M D D	utcore	80+05 1015	e Réative
- <u>7</u> 5	's ordered "	Evidence-	% change	507	5		idealing in the second s						appropriate o		% change
12	(median of test	ence-based Is #	Relative change p-value	02 p<1001	2 S		Educational strategy/ npstients=1138	1 <u>5</u>	121	18.7	34	19	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Continuing education n=15	Relative
ų	up of men tasks	Mailout of evidence-based materials # r=0	"s change	ş	-135	pride care							lations, % of pat	Confinuing	% change
	nouđi ađe kis suo			21.0		tis given approx	Control: r patients=1045	13.7	19.2	18.7	23	13.6	ine recommend	l outrach 5	Relative
181	Omale consultab	Control®	% change	212+	-1 2	ment % of paties	Cor n patie	Ŧ	**	**		÷	ceto OTC guidel	Educational outreach I=15	% change
Azepropezone, DOOs per 1000 STAR-Puis *	PSA test-ordering rates per 100 male consultations by age group of men tested, median of tests ordered ¹			All age groups' 0-6 months	6-12 months	Acute lower back pain management, % of patients given appropriate care	CPG clinical action:	Referred for X-ray	Solvers carificates	Prescribed-spicids or muscle releasints	Referred to secondary care	Referred to physiofherapy or educational programme	Community Pharmacy adherence to OTC guideline recommendations, % of patient wishs with appropriate outcome	Control set5	% change
	Intervention 1:	Educational materials and feedback delivered by	outractives	Evidence-based educational materials	and feedback delivered by mail out	Educational strategy	these for ROGP dinical practice multiplese for	province of namegement of acute bower back pain.	pudeline team visit in the form of a	structured manactive discussion, poster reinforcing puddimes	recommendations and a copy of a bet	ROGP for patients	Pustal distribution of	guidelines plus one of the following	1 trancational outreach (EO)
	General	Practices In-145) (Central and Southern Antocho Southern	li ili ili ili ili ili ili ili ili ili			General	Practices (m554) Mathematical	Briterhood Briterhood	primary care Groups,	Nort-west Fingelier	18-64 years with mode	beer back pain (n=2,181)	Comunity	phemaces (n=80),	indexed in
	Level 1: RCT	Quality good				Level 1: RCT	Duality good						lealt	duster RCT Duality groot	
	(Neleret	(1000) 19				Deyeta,	500d						(Natison et	al. 2002)	

9 9 9		Effect	Relative risk IBSK CI		0.08 [0:09, 1.15]		088		0.96 [0:59,134]		15 [880,110]	ile dose	Rédrive change	CI IS	15
ą		ili ili	% change		ą		ą		43		-14G	for ameprato	hist pickins other F.D		
8		Educational outreach visits n=381			88		8		249		46.B	ean prescribin	Educational outneeth visit • mailed dividial practice guidelines % change* North Tyneside rs-18, Newcoste rs-22	4 0	+103
2	att patients	Educa	Before		0.07		19		362		616	dication ", m	Educa • mailed d		
- 96 	on, % of reside		% change		7		•		-15		₽	acter pylori en	pidelines astic r=22		
52 92	hoke prevention	Control In 1991	ų		81		137		231		191	ent of helicolo	Waited clinical practice guidelines % change ⁴ Noth Tyreside n=18, Newcostle n=22	÷	4 55
Ş	duction and s		Before	celons"	8		131		545	- ER	385	s for managem			
20	Appropriate care for fails reduction and stroke prevention, % of resident patients		Semple of outcomes "	Use of any psycholopic medications*	Residents prescribed any psychotropics	Use of Bencodiscripties:	Residents prescribed any beroodsceptines	Use of Antipoychofics	Residents prescribed any antipsychotics	Sood pressure (SP) recording	3P recorded in prior 3 months	Compliance with guidelines for management of helicobacter pylori eradication 1, mean prescribing for omepracele dose units per quarter, per patient		North Tyneside May-Jul 196	Asplot SS
deliveret by a community pharmacist + follow-up phone call 2 Continuing 2 Continuing 2 ED + CE 3 ED + CE		visits (p=2x30 minute duration), delivered by	prove Mon d		area of falls reduction area of falls reduction and stroke prevention	-						EOV conducted by a community	phemexist to encourage implementation of clinical practice	process of the second of the s	8
(fitnesh) Granpian Region Scotland	Physicians	(r=120) working in	care facilities (nostets r=10)	nursing homes	netrodiler Meteoler Meteoler South	Andria	Occeratori patients in resciential case	(51)=0				General practices	(re ¹ %) comprising North Tynesole North Tynesole	district, U.K. Patients with	peptic ultra
	Level II: PCT	Ouality: good / average										Level IL PCT Quelity:	adecare		
	(Cothiet	al, 2009										(Halletal, 2001)			

0.8	0.4	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.3	NSq	1.0	0.9	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.8	zole dose	Relative change	0 NSq	1.0	1.9	0.7	1.0	1.0	1.4	1.8 NS٩	5.2
+12.1	+5.7	+21.3	+19.0	+19.5	+9.5		+15.5	+20.3	+32.4	+32.4	+29.0	+33.1	Compliance with guidelines for management of helicobacter pylori eradication⁰, mean prescribing for metronidazole dose units per quarter, per patient	Educational outreach visit + mailed clinical practice guidelines % change P North Tyneside: n=16; Newcastle: n=22	0	+22.2	+44.4	+22.2	+22.2	+44.4	+66.7	+30.8	+30.8
+15.0	+13.1	+24.2	+21.6	+23.5	+13.0		+15.7	+21.7	+28.7	+36.5	+33.9	+42.6	for management of helicobacter pylori er t	Mailed clinical practice guidelines % change	0	+23.1	+23.1	+30.8	+23.1	+46.2	+46.2	+17.6	+5.9
Nov '96-Jan '97	Feb-Apr '97	May-Jul '97	Aug-Oct '97	Nov '97-Jan '98	Newcastle	May-Jul '96	Aug-Oct '96	Nov '96-Jan '97	Feb-Apr '97	May-Jul '97	Aug-Oct '97	Nov '97-Jan '98	Compliance with guidelines f units per quarter, per patient		North Tyneside <i>May-Jul</i> '96	Aug-Oct '96	Nov '96-Jan '97	Feb-Apr '97	May-Jul '97	Aug-Oct '97	Nov '97-Jan '98	Newcastle <i>May-Jul</i> '96	Aug-Oct '96
to postal distribution of	euucational materials based on the content	of the guidelines																					
receiving ulcer-	who may be	eligible for	helicobacter nulori	eradication																			

6.5	2.0	2.2	2.3	6.5	ber year ^r	Effect measure	Relative change p-value	1.8 p<0.0001	2.4 p<0.0001		t.	Relative change	0.4 NS	0.3 NS	0.8 NS
					ics per person p	би	% change	-18.2	-14.3		24 months follow-up $^{\mathrm{t}}$	Educational outreach % change ^v	-1.0	-1.2	1.7-
+38.5	+23.1	+38.5	+53.8	+38.5	ber of antibiot	Practice meeting	After	1.8	1.2		24 mc	Control ^u E % change ^v	-2.7	-4.5	6.9-
					if age, numb	Δ.	Before ^s	2.2	1.4			Cor % ch	'	'	'
					than 6 years o		% change	-10.3	-5.9	of patients	p t	Relative change	10.0 NS	8.6 NS	2.0 NS
-5.9	-11.8	+17.6	+23.5	+5.9	hildren younger	Control	After	2.6	1.6	ed by patient, %	18 months follow-up $^{\mathrm{t}}$	Educational outreach % change ^v	0.7+	6.9+	+18.1
					dispensed to ch		Before ^s	2.9	1.7	ehaviour report	18	Control ^u % change ^v	-0.7	-0.8	0.6+
Nov '96-Jan '97	Feb-Apr '97	May-Jul' 97	Zet '97 Aug-Oct'	86, ueC-76, voN	Rate of antibiotic courses dispensed to children younger than 6 years of age, number of antibiotics per person per year r			Antimicrobial courses dispensed (per person years) <i>Children 3 years to</i> <36 months of age	Antimicrobial courses dispensed (per person years) <i>Children</i> 36 to <72 <i>months</i> of age	Physicians' counselling behaviour reported by patient, % of patients			Physicians talked about smoking	Physicians advised patients to quit	Physicians arranged follow-up to quit
					90-minute small group	practice meeting led by a trained physician	CDC endorsed summaries of prescribing	recommendations plus feedback; follow- up meeting held 4 months later		4-5 physician-centred	office educational	2 masters-level Office Practice Consultants re NCI counselling	approach and other office-based	cessation, plus patient education resources,	materials to identify and track smokers, referral information, pocket cards and desk prompts
					Primary health	care practices (n=12) affiliated	Marsachusetts and North-west	Washington State Children (n=8,815)	enrolled in the health plans of the MCOs and parents	Primary care	physicians	based PHC practices,	Providence Bristol counties,	Kent county and Newport Washington	counties, Rhode Island, New England
					Level III-1:	Quasi RCT Quality:	avelage			Level III-1:	Quasi- experimental	experimental study Quality: average)		
					(Finkelstein	et al., 2001)				(Goldstein	et al., 2003)				

	Effect measure	Relative change p-value	2.2 p<0.001		p=0.001	p=0.001	NS	SN		Effect measure	p-value	0.73	0.60	0.21	0.22
	S	% change	-35.3							rvice y					
ean ±SD	Practice meetings n=9 services	After×	5.5±2.1		70.0	55.0	14.0	14.0	tion	Visits plus outreach service y	After	25.0	17.2	6.8	13.4
l per service, me	Ā	Before	8.5±7.8						ed new medica	Visits pl					
tics administerec		% change	+15.8						ttients prescrib						
v™ target antibio	Control n=8 services	After×	8.8±2.2		30.0	16.0	14.0	14.0	nagement, % pa	Visits only y	After	23.5	14.8	3.8	8.2
with unnecessary		Before	7.6±4.7	ssary orders, %					or diabetes maı						
Average number of days with unnecessary " target antibiotics administered per service, mean \pm SD			Unnecessary use of antibiotics	Discontinuation of unnecessary orders,	Discontinued orders:	Target antibiotics	All antibiotics	Route changes (intravenous to oral)	New target medication for diabetes management, % patients prescribed new medication	Target medication		Any target medication	Blood pressure lowering	Cholesterol lowering	Glucose lowering
Face-to-face or	telephone practice meetings (approx. 10 minute duration) plus	performance feedback Dissemination of quidelines for first-line	antibiotic therapy as pocket-sized	laminated brochures	hospital's Division of Infectious Diseases				Visits by a Travelling Diabetes Resource	Program plus multi- disciplinary diabetes	outreach service (aroun and one-on-	one academic detailing) vs bimonthlv	visits only		
Physicians,	general medical, oncology and	cardiology services (n=17) Bringham and	Women's Hospital	prescribed	evofloxacin or ceftazidime	Boston,	Massachusetts,	USA	Rural health regions (n=2).	Northern Alberta	Patients with Tvne II diabetes	(n=393), Canada			
Level III-1:	Quasi RCI Quality:	average/poor							Level III-3: CBA design	Quality: good					
(Solomon	et al., 2001)								(Majumdar et al	2003)					

outreach visits; GPs = General practitioners; MCO = managed care organisations; NCI = National Cancer Institute NIC = net ingredient cost; NSAID = Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; OTC = over the counter to orders that fell outside the CPGs; x Baseline scores for prescribing not provided, but multilevel modelling used to adjust for differences in baseline scores duration of the intervention; y Baseline data not provided, antibiotic use; age and MCO; 18 or 24-month follow-up after 6-month intervention; Ucontrol group physicians were aware of their role as controls in the study and had higher rates of talking, advising and following but adjusted for using multivariate regression analysis; BP = blood pressure; CDC = Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; CPGs = Clinical Practice guidelines; DDD = defined daily dose; EOV = educational up on patients compared to an additional control group of non-participating physicians; v Due to space restrictions, pre- and post-intervention data are not provided – available on request; w unnecessary use refers ^d analysis of covariance was used to adjust for baseline differences; • STAR-PUs = standard units for eight major therapeutic classes, including NSAIDs; f"correct" test ordering = decrease in "unnecessary" tests; GPs' reported threshold is the level above which the doctor typically commences treatment for hypertension; ^b Mann-Whitney test was used to determine significant differences between intervention and control baseline data not provided, yet reported as similar, ^k comparisons were made using Chi-square statistics adjusting for the cluster randomised design, ¹analyses adjusted for age, gender, level of care, dementia and baseline values; "Additional similar outcomes available on request;" includes benzodiazepines, anti-psychotics or antidepressants; of H pylori bacterium/infection found to be a major cause of peptic ulcers provided - available on request; a all outcomes are NS; r ideal outcome is a decrease in the rate of antibiotic dispensing; s generalised estimating equations (GEE) were used to adjust for baseline differences in (a sore in the lining of the stomach); ^p percentage change from baseline (Feb-Apr'96 – 3 quarters before the first educational outreach visit), due to space restrictions, pre- and post-intervention scores are not ⁸ Kruskall-Wallis test was used to compare PSA testing rates between study groups; ¹ baseline PSA testing rates were equivalent between the study groups; ¹ Mean data for groups are available on request; groups, c Desired practice was reduction in the volume and cost of total NSAID prescribing and azapropazone prescribing and increase in the volume of prescribing of three recommended NSAIDS; PHC = primary health care; PSA = prostrate specific antigen; RCGP = Royal College of General Practitioners.

		ס כו במתרמווטו	ו מאופ דו . בוופטנוזטוופטט טו פעמטמווטוומו טמוופמטוו זוטווט -									
Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy			Patient	Patient outcomes (health status)	health status	()			
(Crotty et	Level II: RCT	Physicians	Educational outreach	Proportion of patients who fell or were at risk of stroke, % of resident patients	fell or were at	risk of strok	e, % of resid	ent patients				
al., 2004)	Quality: good / average	(n=120) working in residential acod	visits (2x30 minutes), delivered by a			Control n=334		Edu	Educational outreach visits n=381	each visits	Effec	Effect measure ^a
		care facilities (hostels n=10;	priantracts, designed to improve the implementation of		Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change		Relative risk [95% CI]
		nursing homes	Evidence-based	Fall rates								
		n=⊺∪), metropolitan Adelaide, South	cinical practice in the area of falls reduction and stroke prevention	Residents who fell in prior 3 months	19.8	21.9	+3.1	22.0	25.5	+3.5		1.1 [0.86, 1.58] NS
		Australia	-	Risk of stroke								
		Older adult patients in residential care		At risk of stroke	59.0	65.0	+6.0	54.9	57.7	+2.8		0.5 [0.39, 1.08] NS
		(n=715)		On aspirin	38.9	41.0	+2.1	33.4	35.4	+2.0		0.9 [0.89, 1.06] NS
				Residents at risk of stroke on aspirin	50.3	52.5	+2.2	41.6	44.1	+2.5		1.1 [0.29, 1.00] NS
				Residents with atrial fibrillation on warfarin	22.6	17.1	-5.5	8.6	16.7	+8.1		-1.5 [0.23, 3.59] NS
(Goldstein	Level III-1:	Primary care	4-5 educational	Patient quit rates by assessment point per intervention group, %	sment point pe	sr interventio	n group, %					
et al., 2003)	Quasi- experimental study	physicians (n=259)	outreach visits for smoking cessation,		Control	rol	PCS	6	PCS + home intervention ^b	home ntion ^b	Home inte	Home intervention ^b
	ouality: average	based PHC practices,	resources, materials to identify and track		% change	ge	% change	Relative change	% change	Relative change	% change	Relative change
	2	Rhode Island,	smokers, referral	6 months	+7.1	-	+8.4	1.2	+8.9	1.3	+7.6	1.1
		New England	cards; desk prompts	12 months	+16.4	4	+17.0	1.0	+16.9	1.0	+16.5	1.0
				18 months	+20.0	0	+25.2	1.3	+19.2	1.0	+24.8	1.2
				24 months	+22.6	9	+33.3	1.5 p=0.006	+25.7	1.1	+26.3	1.2

Table 47. Effectiveness of educational outreach visits – Patient outcomes

(Majumdar et al.,	Level III-3: CBA design	Rural health regions (n=2),	Visits by a Travelling Diabetes Resource	Proportion of patients achiev	Proportion of patients achieving 10% improvement in quality of diabetes care, $\%$	stes care, %	
2003)	Quality: good	Northem Alberta,	Program plus multi- disciplinary diabetes	Clinical area	Visits only n=183	Visits plus outreach service n=210	Effect measure
		Patients with type II diabetes	outreach service (aroup and one-on-		After c	After c	p-value
		(n=393),	one academic	Blood pressure	25.0	42.0	p=0.004
		Canada	detailing) vs bimonthly	Total cholesterol	17.0	13.0	p=0.33
				HbA (1c)	14.0	18.0	p=0.44
				Patient satisfaction with care p	Patient satisfaction with care provided, adjusted mean change from baseline $^{\circ}$	ne c	
				Satisfaction with general medical care	-11.9	+4.1	p<0.001
				Satisfaction with diabetes care	-3.7	+4.1	p=0.008
^a Analyses a	djusted for age, g	ender, level of care,	, dementia and baseline val	lues; ^b home-based smoking inter	^a Analyses adjusted for age, gender, level of care, dementia and baseline values, ^b home-based smoking intervention developed by a group of collaborating investigators was implemented simultaneously with the	ng investigators was implemented simultane	sously with the

Physicians Counselling Smokers (PCS) Project: ^c Baseline measures not provided, but differences adjusted for using multivariate logistic regression (blood pressure, cholesterol, HbA1c) and ANCOVA (patient satisfaction). No adjustment for potential clustering effects; BP = blood pressure; HbA1c = blood glucose measure.

I able 40. Ellectivelless of local opilion leaders - Floress		·····							
Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy		Process o	utcomes (practitione	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	ge)	
(Finkelstein	Level II:	Primary care	Physician peer leader	Medication controller ^a dispensing, mean absolute change from baseline, 95% Cl	oensing, mean absc	lute change from ba	seline, 95% CI		
et al., 2005)	cluster RCT Quality: good	practices (n=40);	education (PLE)		Distribution of guidelines	Physician peer leader		Planned asthma care	
		Patients: children 5-17 years old with asthma (n=638) Chicago or	Peer leader education enhanced with planned asthma care (PAC)		Mean change ^b	Mean change ^b	Adjusted intervention effect [95% CI]	Mean change ^b	Adjusted intervention effect [95% CI]
		Massachusetts,		Among persistent asthmatics					
		USA		≥1 controller dispensed	0.04 [-0.04, 0.12]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.08]	0.01 [-0.07, 0.08]	0.04 [-0.02, 0.1]	-0.03 [-0.09, 0.02]
				≥3 controllers dispensed	0.01 [-0.09, 0.11]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.10]	0.02 [-0.01, 0.10]	0.11 [0.05, 0.17]	0.03 [-0.04, 0.10]
				≥1 inhaled corticosteroid	0.12 [-0.01, 0.25]	0.02 [-0.11, 0.16]	0.02 [-0.11, 0.16]	0.17 [0.08, 0.26]	-0.02 [-0.13, 0.09]
				≥3 inhaled corticosteroid	0.04 [-0.07, 0.15]	0.07 [0.02, 0.15]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.15]	0.13 [0.08, 0.18]	0.03 [-0.04, 0.10]
				Among all patients with asthma	та				
				≥1 controller dispensed	0.07 [-0.01, 0.15]	0.03 [-0.08, 0.15]	0.03 [-0.08, 0.15]	0.13 [0.07,0.19]	0.04 [-0.06, 0.14]
				≥3 controllers dispensed	0.04 [-0.02, 0.10]	0.02 [-0.05, 0.09]	0.02 [-0.05, 0.09]	0.11 [0.05, 0.17]	0.04 [-0.02, 0.09]
				≥1 inhaled corticosteroid	0.10 [0.00, 0.20]	0.05 [-0.08, 0.17]	0.05 [-0.08, 0.17]	0.17 [0.11, 0.23]	0.04 [-0.06, 0.14]
				≥3 inhaled corticosteroid	0.03 [-0.03, 0.09]	0.04 [-0.02, 0.10]	0.04 [-0.02, 0.10]	0.09 [0.07, 0.11]	0.03 [-0.02, 0.07]
				≥1 oral steroid dispensed	0.02 [-0.01, 0.05]	0.06 [0.00, 0.12]	0.06 [0, 0.12]	0.04 [0.00, 0.08]	0.07 [-0.02, 0.15]
(Gifford et	Level II: RCT	Urban	Educational package:	Neurologists' adherence to practice guidelines for the evaluation and management of dementia, % of neurologists	> practice guideline	s for the evaluation a	and management of d	ementia, % of neuro	logists
al., 1999; Holloway et al 1999)	Quality: good	neurologists (n=417)	mailed CME course; practice-based tools; interactive evidence.		U -	Control n=139	Educati	Educational package n=139	Effect measure
(000- 1:00		Demenua patients New York State, USA	pased seminar led by opinion leaders; follow-up mailings.	6 guideline recommendations ⁰:	Before ^d	After % Change	e Before ^d	After % Change	ge Relative change p-value
				Order neuroimaging only if clinical criteria present	linical criteria presem				

Table 48. Effectiveness of local opinion leaders – Process outcomes

		Scenario 1	5.6	5.9	+0.3	5.6	20.2	+14.6	48.7 p<0.01
		Scenario 3	47.6	42.3	-5.3	47.6	60.7	+13.1	2.5 p<0.01
		Order electroencephalography if clinical criteria present Scenario 1 & 3	64.4	67.0	+2.6	64.4	72.3	6.7+	3.0 p>0.2
		Screen for and treat depression Scenario 2	80.6	84.3	+43.7	80.6	86.2	+5.6	0.1 p>0.2
		Do not order apolipoprotein E genotype testing to predict or diagnose Alzheimer disease At least 1 of 3 scenarios	87.9	95.0	+7.1	87.9	94.6	+6.7	0.9 p>0.2
		Refer all patients and families to the Alzheimer's Association At least 1 of 3 scenarios	20.4	23.2	+2.8	20.4	44.1	+23.7	8.5 p≤0.01
		Encourage all patients and families to enrol in Safe Return Program At least 1 of 3 scenarios	1.0	3.2	+2.2	1.0	18.3	+17.3	7.9 p≤0.01
^a Controller medications included inhaled corticosteroids, cromolyn/nedocromil, long-acting ß-agonists and theophylline. >3 dispensings indicated chronic controller use; ^b Mean absolute change was calculated for baseline proportion in each practice. Baseline scores were reported as similar. Clustering by practice was adjusted for using generalised estimating equations (GEE) method. Possible imbalances among treatment	icosteroids, cromolyn/nedocrom s scores were reported as simila	iii, long-acting ß-agonists and theophylline. ≥3 dispensings indicated chronic controller use; ^b Mean absolute change was calculated from rr. Clustering by practice was adjusted for using generalised estimating equations (GEE) method. Possible imbalances among treatment adiobetermine outcomes and evolveice of consistence (ANOVA) for adjustive controller or outcollers accommendations and bood	ljusted for using	dispensings ind generalised e	licated chronic stimating equat	controller use; ^t ions (GEE) met	^b Mean absolute thod. Possible ii to to cuidolino r	e change was c mbalances amo	alculated from ing treatment

on Neurologists' written responses to three clinical scenarios depicting a typical patient with dementia presenting for an initial evaluation. Scenario 1 and 3 depicted patients with characteristics typical of Alzheimer's disease who did not meet any of the recommended criteria for ordering either a neuro-imaging study or electroencephalography, scenario 2 depicted a patient with established Alzheimer's disease and symptoms of major depression: ^d External baseline group (n=139) used for both intervention and control group comparisons; selection and characteristics of the baseline group was equivalent to the intervention and control groups; CI = confidence interval; RCT = randomised controlled trial. arms were identified by logistic regression (accounting for over-dispersion) for dichotomous outcomes and analysis of variance (ANUVA) for ordinal variables; ^v Adherence to guideline recommendations was based

Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy			Patient outcomes (health status)	health status)		
(Finkelstein	Level II:	Primary care	Intervention 1:	Health care utilisation, 95% CI	35% CI				
et al., 2005)	cluster RCT Quality: good	practices (n=40); Patiants:	Physician peer leader education (PLE)		Distribution of guidelines	Physician	Physician peer leader	Planned asthma care	thma care
		children 5-17 years old with asthma (n=638) Chicado or	Intervention 2: Peer leader education enhanced with planned asthma care		Mean change ^a	Mean change ^a	Adjusted intervention effect [95% CI]	Mean change ^a	Adjusted intervention effect [95% CI]
		Massachusetts,	(PAC)	≥1 ED/hospitalisation	-0.01[0-0.04, 0.02]	-0.01[0-0.04, 0.02] -0.01 [-0.05, 0.03]	0 [-0.06, 0.06]	0 [-0.01, 0.01]	0.03 [-0.003, 0.06]
		USA		Ambulatory visits	-0.01 [-0.23, 0.21]	0.17 [-0.01, 0.35]	-0.01 [-0.23, 0.21] 0.17 [-0.01, 0.35] 0.06 [-0.002, 0.14] 0.21 [0.03, 0.39]	0.21 [0.03, 0.39]	0.08 [-0.01, 0.18]
a Mean chan	ne was calculated	from baseline prop	3 Mean chance was calculated from haceline incondition in each martice. Baseline scores were renorded as similar Clustering hy martice was adjusted for using another activations (CEE) wethout	eline scores were reported	as similar Oustoring b	w practice was adjuiste	od for using generalised	d octimating agriations	(GEE) mathod

Table 49. Effectiveness of local opinion leaders – Patient outcomes

^a Mean change was calculated from baseline proportion in each practice. Baseline scores were reported as similar. Clustering by practice was adjusted for using generalised estimating equations (GEE) method. Possible imbalances among treatment arms were identified by logistic regression (accounting for over-dispersion) for dichotomous outcomes and analysis of variance (ANOVA) for ordinal variables; CI = confidence interval; ED = emergency department.

Table 50. Effectiveness of patient-mediated interventions – Process outcomes

	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy			Patient	Patient outcomes (health status)	alth status)			
t	Level II:	Primary health	Prompts + GP-	Documentation of seizure frequency, % of patients	requency, % o	of patients					
al., 2002)	Cluster RCT Quality: good	care practices (n=82) treating aduits with	completed reminder card providing evidence-based			Control ª n=392		Pa	Patient-held card ^a n=368	d a	
		active epilepsy (n=1275),	information, used opportunistically		Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change p-values ^b
		Manchester, UK		Recorded seizure frequency	37.8	42.8	+5.0	36.5	44.6	+8.0	1.6 p=0.49
				Reported seizure frequency	48.3	51.5	+3.2	51.6	26.0	4'7+	1.4 p=0.238
				Documentation of phenytoin serum levels in previous year, % of patients	serum levels in	previous year	r, % of patients				
				Phenytoin serum levels checked	31.2	31.5	+0.3	32.6	39.2	9.9+	22.0 p=0.447

Table 51. Effectiveness of patient-mediated interventions – Patient outcomes

Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Dissemination Strategy			Patient of	Patient outcomes (health status)	alth status)			
(Thapar et	Level II:	PHC practices	Prompts + GP-	Medication use and side effects, % of patients	ffects, % of pat	tients					
al., 2002)	Cluster RCT Quality: good	Adults with active epilepsy,	completed reminder card providing			Control ª n=392		Ра	Patient-held card ^a n=368	a D	Effect measure
		Manchester, UK	information, used opportunistically		Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change p-value
				Patient on more than one epilepsy drug	28.8	28.9	+0.1	32.1	29.9	-2.2	22.0 p=0.253
				Medication side effects reported by patient	52.8	43.6	-9.2	53.2	50.8	-2.4	0.3 p=0.016
				Satisfaction with care provided, % of patients	ed, % of patient	ţs					
				Satisfaction with information provided	67.7	76.1	+8.4	65.1	76.2	1.11+	1.3 p=0.943
				GP's care of epilepsy rated as high	77.2	0.67	+1.8	77.5	83.6	+6.1	3.4 p=0.27
a CEE motho	ad used to adjust f	ior oluctoring GD = 7	acerci ersetitioner: DHC -	3 CEE method used to adjust for clustering. CB = acceral practitioner: DHC = mimary health care. DCT = randomised controlled trial	indomicod contr	rollod trial					

^a GEE method used to adjust for clustering. GP = general practitioner; PHC = primary health care; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

			e.	9 0 0	Ţ	9 °.			Ð	an				e	ge	
			Effect measure	Relative change p-value	P<0.001	Relative change ^c	1.1 NS	th, mean±SD	Effect measure	Absolute mean reduction ^e p-value	1.10 p=0.001	1.12 p=0.001		Effect measure	Relative change p-value	4.2 p=0.003
		er eligible)	ompts dents	% change	NE	% change	+5.2	tice per mont	ces s					-	% F	+20.8
ande)	6	umber/numb	Encounter-based prompts 298 visits; n=22 residents	After %	11.4 (34/298)	After n=16	80.7	als and pract	Educational reminders knee n=41 practices lumbar spine n=40 practices	After	920±1.87	847±1.76		Doctor-held card ^f n=515	After ch	57.4 4
ehavioural ch		nisation, % (n	Encour 298 vii	Before	Not provided ^a	Before n=22	75.5	nber of referra	Educatio knee n: lumbar spir		36	8		Doctor- n	Before /	36.6
Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)		ties for immun	Its	% change	NE	% change	+4.8	ractice ^d , nun	ses						% Bi	+5.0
outcomes (pr		ed opportunit	Control 328 visits; n=30 residents	After %	21.6 (71/328)	After n=22	81.3	phs per GP p	Control knee n=40 practices lumbar spine n=39 practices	After	1424±2.97	1349±2.88	Itients	Control f n=392	After ch	42.8
Process		sits with miss	328 visits	Before	Not provided ^a	Before n=30	76.5	spine radiogra	knee n lumbar spi		71	1	uency, % of pa	ŏ -	Before	37.8
		hild care vi						nd lumbar s				aphs	eizure frequ			
Process outcomes (prac		Proportion of well child care visits with missed opportunities for immunisation, $\%$ (number/number eligible)		Performance	≥1 missed opportunity/vaccine administration error ^b	Knowledge	Immunisation lecture exam score	Referrals for knee and lumbar spine radiographs per GP practice ^d , number of referrals and practice per month, mean±SD			Knee radiographs	Lumbar spine radiographs	Documentation of seizure frequency, % of patients			Recording seizure frequency
Reference Level and Target Dissemination	Strategy	sed	immunisation prompting system	I	I	<u> </u>	L	er	messages for knee and lumber spine radiographs		L	L		completed reminder card providing evidence-based	information, used opportunistically	
Taraet	population	Paediatric	resident practitioners (n=52)	Children <5 Vears old attending clinic	for a well-child care visit (n=495),	Boston, USA		GPs	6 radiology departments in North-East	England Scotland			Primary health	care practices (n=82) treating acture with	active epilepsy (n=1275),	Manchester, UK
Level and	quality of evidence	Level II: RCT	Quality: good					Level II:	Cluster RCT Quality: good				Level II:	Cluster RCT Quality: good		
Reference		(Shaw et	al., 2000)					(Ramsay et	al., 2003)				(Eccles et	al., 2001) (Thapar et	al., 2002)	

Table 52. Effectiveness of prompts and reminders (including decision support) – Process outcomes

				Reported seizure frequency	48.3	51.5	+3.2	51.6	56.0	+4.4	1.4 p=0.238
				Documentation of phenytoin serum levels in previous year, % of patients	serum levels in pi	revious year, 9	% of patients	2			
				Phenytoin serum levels checked	31.2	31.5	+0.3	28.1	28.7	9.0+	2.0 p=0.851
(Bahrami et	Level II:	Dental practices	Guidelines and post-	Dentists' compliance with guidelines, mean %	uidelines, mear	۰ %					
al., 2004)	Cluster RCT Quality: good	across Scotland selected from	graduate education course plus:	Control n=11	Audit an	Audit and Feedback n=12	ŭ	Computer Aided Learning n=11	ed Learning 1	A&F n	A&F + CAL n=13
		Dental Practice Board list	audit and reedback (A&F)	% change	% change	Relative change		% change	Relative change	% change	Relative change
		(n=51) 16-24-year old patients	computer aided learning (CAL) package A&F nlus CAI	+4.0	+1.0	0.3 NS		+3.0	0.8 NS	0'2+	1.8 NS
			package								
(Sanders &	Level II: RCT	Physicians	Chart reminder	Patients with hypertensive medication adjusted according to BP level 9, % patients with medication adjusted	nedication adju	isted accordi	ng to BP lev	vel ^g , % patie	ents with medic	cation adjusted	
Satyvavolu,	Quality:	(n=22)	attached to outpatient			Control			Reminders	ſS	Effect
	average	Primary nealth care group				n=135 % (n)			n=126 % (n)		measure Odds ratio
		practices (n=2)				(11) 0/			(11) 0/		0000 1400 [95% CI]
		Veterans with a variety of chronic diseases		High normal (systolic 130-139mm Hg; diastolic 85-89 mm Hg)		1.8 (1/21)			14.3 (3/21)	1)	0.32 [0.01,3.79]
		including hypertension, diabetes & with		Stage 1 (systolic 140-159mm Hg; diastolic 90-99 mm Hg)		28.1 (20/71)			33.3 28/84)	4)	1.19 [0.54, 2.61]
		high blood pressure levels=320; 160		Stage 2 (systolic 160-179mm Hg; diastolic 100-109 mm Hg)		75.0 (12/16)			57.7 (15/26)	56)	2.2 [0.47, 10.93]
		virginia, USA		Stage 3 (systolic 180-209mm Hg; diastolic 110-119 mm Hg)		100.0 (3/3)			100.0 (1/1)	()	
				Stage 4 (systolic >210, diastolic >120)		100.0 (3/3)			100.0 (1/1)	1)	
(Goldberg	Level III-1:	Primary health	Alcohol screening	Patient referred for counselling, %	ling, %						

Effect measure	Relative change p-value	p=0.006		r + prompts ⁱ	Difference p-value	+20.2 p<0.001	+21.1 p=0.001	+9.6 p=0.109	+11.4 p=0.077	+10.9 p=0.030		+10.8 p=0.053	+19.1 p=0.001	+4.1 p=0.353	+17.4 p=0.007		+32.7 p<0.001
Physician referral n=508	After ^h	9.1		Email reminder + prompts ⁱ	After	23.9	48.7	34.4	59.6	23.6		28.9	39.7	15.9	59.5		48.7
			s, %	Email reminder ⁱ	Difference p-value	+10.1 p=0.006	+10.6 p=0.076	+6.3 p=0.285	+14.5 p=0.024	+2.6 p=0.558		+13.0 p=0.021	+9.3 p=0.097	-1.3 p=0.752	+11.8 p=0.070	its, %	+21.2 p<0.001
Nurse referral n=418	After ^h	12.8	eart failure patient	Email re	After	13.3	38.2	31.1	62.7	15.3	heart failure, %	31.1	29.9	10.5	53.9	tions given to patier	37.2
Control group n=402	After ^h	2.3	ing assessment items for h	Control	After ^j	3.7	27.6	24.8	48.2	12.7	bout signs and symptoms of t	18.1	20.6	11.8	42.1	rt failure management instruc	16.0
		Patients referred for counselling	Proportion of nurses recording assessment items for heart failure patients, $\%$			Heart failure status	Diet	Medication knowledge	Medication adherence	Medication side-effects	Nurses instruction to patient about signs and symptoms of heart failure,	Shortness of breath	Fluid weight gain	Fatigue	Global instructions about heart failure symptoms	Nurses recording of other heart failure management instructions given to patients,	Weighing self
instrument (decision support)			Email reminders:	Basic intervention:	one-urne ernall reminder highlighting 6 clinical	recommendations Augmented	<i>intervention:</i> email reminder	supplemented with provider prompts, patient education	material, clinical nurse specialist outreach								
care practices (n=3)	English- speaking adults visiting practice	Washington, USA	Home care	nurses (n=354)													
Quasi RCT Quality:	Average		Level III-1:	Quasi RCT	Average												
et al., 1991)			(Murtaugh	et al.,	(0004												

22.7 40.4	
51.2 57.0	Medication management
15.0 26.5	
27.3 36.2	
10.5 17.6	
Proportion of patients prescribed appropriate medication, % eligible patients $^{\mathrm{k}}$	s pre
Control ¹ n=354	
After	
19.8	Receiving beta-blocker (% of patients)
31.9	Receiving cholesterol- lowering agent (% of patients)
73.2	
Proportion of patients undergoing appropriate tests in 5 study areas,	ts une
Control n=1989	
Before ⁿ After % change	
84.4 84.3 -0.1	
78.4 82.3 +3.9	

				Diabetes	61.4	67.0	+5.6	35.3	93.2	+57.9	10.3 p<0.05
				B-12 deficiency	20.3	20.2	-0.1	11.1	94.7	+83.6	836.0 p<0.05
				Hypothyroidism	33.5	32.4	1.1-	21.8	92.9	+71.1	64.6 p<0.05
(Goldberg	Level III-2:	PHC Physicians	Computer-generated	Proportion of eligible patients screened, % patients $^{\circ}$	ants screened,	% patients °					
et al., 2000)	CTS	Washington	preventive reminders for mammorranby			Control		Computer-	Computer-generated reminders	ninders	Effect measure
(0000	Quality: average		colorectal cancer screening and cholesterol testing		Before ^p	After	% change	Before ^p	After	% change	Relative change p-value
				Mammogram: (annual - women aged 50-60; bi-annual - women aged 60-75)	31.0	21.0	-10 p=0.44	24.0	61.0	+37.0 p=0.03	3.7 p=0.02
				Colorectal cancer screening with faecal occult blood cards (men and women aged 50-75 every 2 vears)	16.0	18.0	+2 p=0.73	20.0	25.0	+5 p=0.33	2.5 p=0.77
				Cholesterol determinations every 5 years (men and women aged 18-65)	13.0	7.0	-6 p=0.03	18.0	11.0	-7 p=0.02	1.2 p=0.75
(McMullin	Level III-2:	Primary health	CDSS that provided	Mean prescription costs, mean US\$ \pm SE	nean US\$ ± SE						
et al., 2004)	Cohort study Quality:	care physicians, nurse	diagnosis-specific, evidence-based information about the		0	Control group n=19		Int	Intervention group n=19	dn	Effect measure
	avelage	physicians' assistants in community-	relative efficacy, safety and cost of different therapeutic		Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change p-value
		based, ambulatory	options during the electronic	New prescriptions	38.5±1.60	41.4±1.61	<u>9'</u> 2+	38.5±1.63	37.3±1.62	-3.2	0.4 p=0.02
		seuing at Affinity Health Svstem	prescribing process	New and refilled prescriptions	44.1±1.59	45.9±1.59	+4.1	43.7±1.60	40.6±1.59	-7.3	1.7 p=0.01
		network of 17		Prescription costs for 10 high-cost drug categories:	h-cost drug cate	gories:					
		primary care clinic		Antibiotics	29.92±2.18	28.88±2.26	-3.5	27.19±2.27	25.04±2.29	6.7-	2.2 p=0.69

	Wisconsin, USA		Antidepressants	62.05±2.85	60.22±2.93	-2.9	60.37±2.87	50.59±2.83	-16.2	5.5 p=0.06
			Rhinitis medications	62.27±2.85	64.48±2.10	3.5	69.11±2.21	66.58±2.07	-3.7	-1.0 p=0.24
			GERD medications	104.73±6.25	108.83±5.93	3.9	96.08±6.21	84.38±6.04	-12.2	-3.1 p=0.10
			Asthma medications	64.84±4.47	61.73±4.58	-4.8	62.65±4.54	49.92±4.55	-20.3	4.2 p=0.25
			Diabetes medication	59.95±4.55	48.22±4.83	-19.6	53.15±4.75	42.09±5.14	-20.8	1.0 p=0.94
			Antihypertension medications, diuretics	25.83±1.18	22.65±1.15	-12.3	23.52±1.19	18.36±1.16	-22.0	1.8 p=0.30
			Lipid lowering agents	74.85±3.76	62.98±3.85	-15.8	73.06±4.07	66.55±3.95	-28.2	1.8 p=0.49
			Triptans and headache medications	69.26±9.69	88.95±9.64	28.4	94.81±9.60	67.02±9.22	-29.3	-1.0 p=0.01
			COX-2 inhibitors and NSAIDS	33.00±4.63	40.53±4.54	22.8	25.51±4.69	29.53±4.64	15.7	0.6 p=0.59
^a baseline data not provided, but reported as similar, ^b missed opportunity' refers to of missed opportunities between the intervention and control groups was calculated whether audit and feedback and educational messages reduced GPs requests for ri effect for educational reminder messages, (Eccles et al., 2001) investigated sustain 2002); ^a absolute mean reduction in the number of monthly referrals and change in t were renoted as comparated at baseline usion binary locistic recreasion: 9 Hymerie	but reported as simila een the intervention a and educational mess: ar messages, (Eccles zion in the number of et hasaline utsion bir	r; ^b missed opportunity' re nd control groups was calt ages reduced GPs reques et al., 2001) investigated (monthly referrals and chal monthly referrals and chal	^a baseline data not provided, but reported as similar; ^b missed opportunity' refers to 1 or more failures to immunise at a visit; 'no variance' was defined as complete administration of the vaccines due, the comparison of missed opportunities between the intervention and control groups was calculated using the Chi-square test; ^c Chi-square test; ^d study was assessed in conjunction with (Eccles et al., 2001), which assessed whether audit and feedback and educational messages reduced GPs requests for radiological tests in accordance with Radiologists' Guidelines, (Ramsay et al., 2003) provided evidence of a statistically significant effect for educational reminder messages. (Eccles et al., 2001) investigated sustainability of the statistically significant effect over a 12-month follow-up period, baseline measures were reported in (Thapar et al., 2002); ^a absolute mean reduction in the number of monthly referrals and change in the number of monthly referrals over 12-month period was determined using poisson regression; ^f intervention and control groups were reported as comparated at baseline using huart-hension was catenorised according to the Joint National Committee on Prevation Evaluation and control groups were reported as comparated at baseline using huart-hension was catenorised according to the Joint National Committee on Prevation Evaluation and Treatment of Hich	mmunise at a visit test; °Chi-square cordance with Rac ly significant effec ' referrals over 12.	; 'no variance' wa test; ^d study was diologists' Guidelli tt over a 12-month -month period wa	is defined as assessed in nes, (Ramsay n follow-up pe is determined	complete admit conjunction with r et al., 2003) p riod, baseline i using poisson	inistration of the h (Eccles et al., rovided evidenc measures were regression; ^f int ection Evaluation	vaccines due, 2001), which a e of a statistic reported in (Th tervention and	the comparison ssessed ally significant apar et al., control groups

highlighting 6 clinical recommendations; 'augmented' intervention: email reminder enhanced with provider prompts, patient education material and clinical nurse specialist outreach; i Baseline differences reported as similar or adjusted for using multivariate analysis; ^k Eligible patients were those who did not have the diagnosis in question or corresponding medication recorded before the study and would have had screening test undertake a preventive screening procedure was 'converted' if the procedure was performed on a patient due for the procedure within 10 days of the index visit for cholesterol and faecal occult blood tests, and 60 series study design; GERD = gatroesophageal reflux disease; GP = General practitioner; LDL = low density lipoprotein; NSAIDS = nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; NS = not significant; PHC = primary health percentage of opportunities converted. BP = blood pressure; CDSS = clinical decision support software; CI = confidence interval; COX-2 inhibitors = selective cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitors; CTS = controlled time Blood Pressure (USA), study population was stratified by stage of blood pressure; ⁿ Baseline data not provided, but adjusted for using logistic regression analysis; ⁿ Basic' intervention: one-time email reminder recommended; Sample size adjusted to account for clustering. Baseline differences adjusted for; " Chi-square and *t*-tests; " baseline data not adjusted for; " Mean weekly conversion rates: an 'opportunity' to days for mammogram; P Logistic regression analysis was used to adjust for baseline differences and to test for statistical significance. Opportunity conversion rates for each reminder are represented as the care; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation; SE = standard error.

	quality of evidence	l arget population	Dissemination Strategy			Patient (Patient outcomes (health status)	lth status)			
(Eccles et	Level II:	PHC practices	Prompts + GP-	Medication use and side effects, % of patients	ffects, % of pat	tients					
al., 2001)	Cluster RCT Quality: good	Adults with active epilepsy,	completed reminder card providing			Control n=392		ă	Doctor-held card n=515	a	Effect measure
		Manchester, UK	evidence-based information, used opportunistically		Before ^a	After	% change	Before ^a	After	% change	Relative change p-value
				Patient on more than one epilepsy drug	28.8	28.9	+0.1	28.1	30.3	+2.2	22.0 p=0.40
				Medication side effects reported by patient	52.8	43.6	-9.2	50.8	49.3	-1.5	0.2 p=0.013
				Satisfaction with care provided, % of patients	led, % of patient.	Ş					
				Satisfaction with information provided	67.7	76.1	+8.4	64.4	66.0	+1.6	0.2 p=0.006
				GPs' care of epilepsy rated as high	77.2	79.0	+1.8	76.7	73.6	+3.1	1.7 p=0.10
(Goldberg	Level III-1:	PHC practices	Alcohol screening	Patients referred to counselling, % patients who show	elling, % patier	nts who show					
et al., 1991)	Quasi RCT Quality:	(n=3) English-	instrument (decision support)		Control n=402	trol 02	Nurse Referral n=418	eferral 8	Physician Referral n=508	Referral 8	Effect measure
	Average	speaking adults visiting practice			After ^b	ir b	After ^b	۹.	After ^b	q	p-value
		(n=1,328) Washington, USA		Referred patients showing for counselling	66.7	.7	61.1		50.0		p=0.772
(Frances et	Level III-1:	PHC	Combination of a	Proportion of patients prescribed appropriate medication, % of patients	scribed approp	riate medication	on, % of patien	ts			
al., 2001)	Quasi-RCT Quality: average	Physicians Patients with coronary heart	computer-generated and written reminder system provided			Control ∘ n=354			Reminders ⁰ n=376		Effect measure ^d p-values
		disease San Francisco	auring paueric visits	Receiving aspirin		37.9			35.1		p=0.440
		USA		Receiving beta-blocker		19.8			16.0		p=0.168
				Receiving cholesterol- lowering agent		31.9			36.7		p=0.159
				LDL level 100mg/dL		73.2			71.0		p=0.512

Table 53. Effectiveness of prompts and reminders (including decision support) – Patient outcomes

Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	After n=60 n=60 6:3±4.0 6:3±4.0 ieving benchm n=35 After 70 70 70 65 65 144	% Before 6 40 6 40 3 35 33 46 40 a 3 66 33 66 40	46 45 65 69 69 60 87 14 Aspirin feedback ^d	40 32 33 66 65 Aspiri	Influenza vaccination (benchmark 82%) Foot examination (benchmark 86%) Long-term glucose control (benchmark 97%) Serum cholesterol (benchmark 99%) Serum triglycerides (benchmark 98%)
		% Before	n=14 After	Before	
	-		-		
	n=14		n=14		
	HRT feedback n=14		in feedback ^d n=14	Aspiri	
					nmark 98%)
			60	57	iglycerides
			69	66	olesterol rk 99%)
				30	glucose control rk 97%)
e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e				32	nation k 86%)
			46	40	accination k 82%)
9 0 0					
9 0 N	Δftar				
	Audit + feedback • n=35		After ch	Before	diabetic patients:
% change -10.0 -16.7	ichieving benchmark ^b		U		easures for care of diabetic patients:
change -10.0	6.0±4.2	of physicians a	measures, % c Control ∘ n=35 After ch	ality of care I C Before	erformance of { assures for care of diabetic patients:
change	0.	9.3 7.2±4 of physicians a	6.8±4.3 - measures, % c ∩=35 After ch	7.5±4.1 Lality of care L C Before	e aferrals erformance of { asures for care of diabetic patients:
% ***	62+40		6.8±4.3 6.8±4.3 measures, % c ∩=35 After ch	7.5±4.1	aprinerana eferrals erformance of (asures for care of diabetic patients:
	After	4.5 7.0±5.1 -9.3 7.2±4.8 of physicians act	7.0±3.6 / 1 6.8±4.3 - 6.8±4.3 - 1 measures, % c n=35 After ch	6.7±3.9 7.5±4.1 Iality of care I Before	rraph referrals ne referrals performance of (easures for care of diabetic patients:
-	n=60	% Before change 8.5 4.5 7.0±5.1 -9.3 7.2±4.8 % of physicians act	After ch 7.0±3.6 ch 6.8±4.3 - 6.8±4.3 - measures, % c n=35 n=35 After ch	Before 6.7±3.9 7.5±4.1 iality of care i C Before	delines graph referrals ine referrals performance of t heasures for s care of diabetic patients:
	Eachack	% Befor ange 24.5 7.0±5 9.3 7.2±4 of physicians a	Guideline only n=61 After ch 7.0±3.6 4 6.8±4.3 - 6.8±4.3 - are measures, % c - n=35 - After ch	Guid Before 6.7±3.9 7.5±4.1 7.5±4.1 Iality of care Before	Outcome measures Physicians' compliance with referral guidelines Knee radiograph referrals Lumbar spine radiograph referrals Physician performance of t 5 quality measures for appropriate care of ambulatory diabetic patients:
(In ± SD ª Eoodhoot	practices, mee % Befoi ange 7.0±5 9.3 7.2±4 of physicians a	mmed across deline only n=61 After ch 7.0 ± 3.6 6.8 ± 4.3 6.8 ± 4.3 6.8 ± 4.3 - 7.0 ± 3.6 After ch n=35 After ch	D patients, su Before Before 6.7±3.9 6.7±3.9 1.5±4.1 7.5±4.1 1ality of care Lality of care Before	Radiograph requests per 1,000 patients, summed across practices, mean ± SD Outcome measures Guideline only Fei Outcome measures Guideline only Fei Physicians' compliance with Before After % Before I Physicians' compliance with Before After % Before I Rinee radiograph referrals 6.7±3.9 7.0±3.6 4.5 7.0±5.1 6 Kinee radiograph referrals 7.5±4.1 6.8±4.3 -9.3 7.2±4.8 6 Lumbar spine 7.5±4.1 6.8±4.3 -9.3 7.2±4.8 6 Cadiograph referrals 7.5±4.1 6.8±4.3 -9.3 7.2±4.8 6 Physician performance of 5 quality of care 7.5±4.8 6 7 1 F quality measures for 7.5±4.8 6 7 1 F quality measures for n=35 1 1 1 ambulatory diabetic patients: Before After % 6 1

Table 54. Effectiveness of audit and feedback – Process outcomes

	women with hysterectomy	Women aged 30-49 with a hysterectomy on HRT	34.5	36.2	1.7	35.2	43.0	8.7	4.6 p<0.05
		All women with a hysterectomy on HRT	33.3	33.5	0.2	31.0	36.7	5.7	28.5 p<0.01
		Inappropriate HRT prescribing, % on inappropriate HRT	% on inappro	priate HRT					
		Women with a hysterectomy	4.6	3.7	-0.9	4.0	3.1	-0.9	0
		on combined oestroaen/proaesterone							
		Inappropriate prescribing of	11.3	8.9	-2.4	12.2	6.3	-5.9	2.5
		(no hysterectomy)							
^a multi-level modelling – variation between practices and between years was analysed using a random effects model, treatment effects were analysed using a fixed effects model, and practice list size was weighted	between years was analysed using	g a random effects model, treatme	ent effects we	re analysed	using a fixe	d effects moc	tel, and prac	tice list size	vas weighted

were used to evaluate the statistical significance and magnitude of the intervention effect – these models contained baseline performance as a covariate to adjust for any pre-intervention performance differences; paired t tests were used to compare the mean baseline and follow-up performance of achievable benchmark intervention physicians - analysis was repeated for comparison physicians, generalised linear models using the least-squares procedure; ^b the achievable benchmark represents the average performance for the top 10% of the physicians being assessed; ^c differences at baseline were reported as adjusted for and ^d Aspirin feedback group, which was the control group in this study, was the intervention group for management of heart disease in a study published previously and assessed in Jamtvedt et al. (2003); ACQIP = Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project; HRT = hormone replacement therapy; NS = not significant; SD = standard deviation.

Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Intervention	<u>م</u>	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	' behavioural change)	
(Hillman et	Level: III-1 Quasi-	Primary health	Financial incentives	Physician compliance with gui	Physician compliance with guidelines, mean physician compliance scores per indicator a	ance scores per indicator ^a	
al., 1998)	RCT Quality: Good	care practices (n=25 audit 1; 26 audit 2,3,4)	 semi-annual feedback on physicians' compliance with cancer screening with financial boouccef for 'ocoo'' or for boouccef 		Control group % change ^b	Intervention group % change ^b	Effect measure Relative change p-value ^c
		Philadelphia, USA		Pap smear <i>Audit</i> 2	+100.6	+68.1	0.68
				Audit 3	+206.1	+113.4	0.55
				Audit 4	+172.1	+108.7	0.63
				Colorectal screening Audit 2	+246.3	+149.7	0.61
				Audit 3	+328.7	+260.4	0.79
				Audit 4	+246.3	+193.3	0.78
				Mammography <i>Audit</i> 2	+23.9	+12.5	0.52
				Audit 3	+72.4	+48.4	0.67
				Audit 4	+70.3	+55.5	0.79
				Breast exam Audit 2	+76.4	+43.0	0.56
				Audit 3	+205.4	+131.3	0.64
				Audit 4	+128.4	+104.8	0.82
				Total compliance score <i>Audit 2</i>	+87.4	+60.0	0.69
				Audit 3	+152.4	+107.4	0.70
				Audit 4	+128.2	+97.0	0.76

Table 55. Effectiveness of financial incentives – Process outcomes

	net 9	Relative change p-value		1.8	2.6		1.7	2.2		0.0	12.5 p<0.05		0.3	0.9 NS		0.3	1.0 p<0.05		0.5	-3.4 p<0.05	
hange)	Internet	% change		-6.8	-6.8		-17.6	-14.1		0.0	-13.7	-	-4.5	-26.4		-1.0	-14.7		-2.6	-21.9	
ners' behavioural c	0M	Relative change p-value	SD	0.6	1.3		2.4	3.5		3.9 p<0.05	-19.9 p<0.05	ms, mean ±SD	0.1	0.1	ns, mean ±SD	3.4 p<0.05	1.3 p<0.05	rograms, mean ±SD	1.7	0.3	an ±SD
Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	CD-ROM n=64	% change	information, mean ±	+3.3	-3.3	opulation, mean ±SI	+25.6	+22.2	mean ±SD	-3.1	-21.9	ility to identify progra	6.0-	-3.6	ility to obtain prograr	-12.0	-19.7	ility to recommend p	+9.2	+1.7	uesting program, me
Process	Pamphlet n=55	% change	Accessibility: Frequency of searching for information, mean ±SD	-3.8	+2.6	Accessibility: Relevance of materials to population, mean ±SD	-10.6	+6.4	Accessibility: Accessibility of information, mean \pm SD	-0.8	+1.1	Perceived self efficacy: Confidence in ability to identify programs, mean \pm SD	-15.2	-29.6	Perceived self efficacy. Confidence in ability to obtain programs, mean ±SD	-3.5	-14.7	Perceived self efficacy: Confidence in ability to recommend programs, mean ±SD	+5.5	+6.4	Behavioural intentions: Likelihood of requesting program, mean \pm SD
			Accessibility: Frequ	6 months	12 months	Accessibility: Relev	6 months	12 months	Accessibility: Acces	6 months	12 months	Perceived self effice	6 months	12 months	Perceived self effice	6 months	12 months	Perceived self effice	6 months	12 months	Behavioural intentic
•	Substance use prevention program materials	disseminated via CD-ROM and the Internet																			
Target	population Professionals emploved in	schools, community agencies and	bodies	providing youth	services (n=188),	New York,	ASU														
Reference Level and quality Target Intervention	or evidence Level III-1: Quasi- RCT	Quality: average																			
Reference	(Di Noia et al 2003)																				

Table 56. Effectiveness of electronic educational sources – Process outcomes

	0			0.0+	
0.7	0.0-	0.9	+9.8	+11.0	12 months
		nean ±SD	Behavioural intentions: Likelihood of implementing program, mean \pm SD	ons: Likelihood of imp	ehavioural intentio
1.2	-7.5	1.2	-7.4	-6.3	6 months
0.1	+2.2	1.3	+25.9	+20.5	12 months
		mean ±SD	Behavioural intentions: Likelihood of recommending program, mean ±SD	ons: Likelihood of reco	sehavioural intentio
1.2	-15.9	0.3	-4.0	-13.7	6 months
4.8	-29.8	3.0	-18.5	+6.2	12 months
c0.0 <d< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></d<>					

RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation

Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Intervention	Process outs	omes (charge i	Process outcomes (change in organisational structure or efficiency)	structure or e	[Geno]	
Boekeloo et	Level IL: RCT	Primary health	Intervention 1:	Type of patient-provider communication, OR (36% CI)	ation, OR [SFk (5			
al, 2003, Boekelooret al, 2004)	Quality Good	corre providers (In:26), Washington DC and Mandand	Addescertpriming" on adortolinsi behaviours with addescert self-accessment	Type of commication	Control vs p 0	Control vs patient-priming only ^a OR (95% CI)		Control vs patient-priming + provider prompts * OR (96% CI)	priming *
		and marginand. USA Patients aged	Intervention 2: Addiescent priming on alcohol	Provider taked about alcohol-related topics	61	196/188-104 NS		110[104-11]	맨
		12 to 17 years (pr.444)	addressent self-eccenter addressent self-eccessment and educational bruchura +	Provider asked about patient's alcohol use	61	193 (185-102) NS		1.09/0.09/1.19 NS	胡
			provide prompting	Patient asket provider about slochol	10	103/047-110		1.06[1.00-1.16] politic	άĩ.
				Patient asked provider any questions	11	113/102-124		900124 2011021	চন
				Patient responded to questions and initiated discussion	11	1.15(1103-127) p<0.05		115[103-130]	lix
				Length of patient-provider communication, minutes, meant-SD	for, minutes, me	antSD			
					Control In 151	Nucleo contro International	Bfed Messure ¹	Audio + Prompt	Effect Messure ⁶
				Minutes therapper and provider sperit tace-to-face without parent	86680	5(F)	42 p0.15	10.8±7.6	10
				Total minutes teerager and provider spert tace-to-tace	192471	210473	18 p90.04	213-57.8	25 p=0.004
(McBride et al. 2000)	Level II: RCT Quality: Good	Comunity primary care	Intervention 1: Conterence + OI consultations	Proportion of medical records with cardiovascular disease screening and management information a documented, % patient medical records	cardiovascular. ords	disease screenin	agenem bre gr	ment information	
		practices (p=45) Medicion and Erau Clainer Misconselt	(p=11) Intervention 2: Continence + prevention coordination (p=11)	Conference only s=12	Conference + quality improvement consultations s=11	fyg	Conference + prevention coordinator s=11	Confee Imp cons preventio	Conference + quality impovement consultations + prevention coordinator s=11

Table 57. Effectiveness of record and/or office systems – Process outcomes

	Minneapolis;	Intervention 3:	Screening ^d in re	Screening ^d in recommended location, all patients	tion, all pati	ents						
	Minnesota; Iowa City, USA	Conference + QI consultations + prevention coordinator		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	% .		Relative	%	Relative			Relative
	Adult patients	(n=11)		change ^{pe}	change	e	change	change ^e	change	change	e	change
	(n=20 medical	For prevention of	12 months	+5.0	+11.0	0.	2.2	+33.0	6.6	+50.0		10.0
	records audited)	cardiovascular disease	18 months	+5.0	+16.0	0.0	3.2	+25.0	5.0	+44.0		8.8
			Screening in rec	Screening in recommended location, at risk patients ^f	on, at risk på	atients ^f						
			12 months	+1.0	+10.0	0.0	10.0	+30.0	30.0	+53.0		53.0
			18 months	+2.0	+16.0	0.0	8.0	+23.0	11.5	+47.0		23.5
			Risk managemer	Risk management ${}^{\mathfrak{g}}$ information on medical record, at risk patients	n medical re	cord, at ris	k patients ^f					
			12 months	-1.0	+3.0	0	3.0	+4.0	4.0	+7.0		7.0
			18 months	+6.0	+29.0	0.0	4.8	+29.0	4.8	+23.0		3.8
			Presence of cardiovascul physician, % per location	Presence of cardiovascular disease information on recommended tools in the medical record of each physician, % per location	ease inform	ation on r	scommen	ded tools in	the medica	Il record of	each	
			Patient questionnaire	naire								
			12 months	+13.0	+15.0	0.0	1.2	+22.0	1.7	+24.0	0	1.8
			18 months	+21.0	+20.0	0.0	1.0	+25.0	1.2	+21.0		1.0
			Problem list									
			12 months	-8.0	+4.0	0	0.5	+13.0	1.6	+35.0		4.4
			18 months	-6.0	0.0	0	0.0	+10.0	1.7	+31.0		5.2
			Flow chart									
			12 months	+3.0	+14.0	0.	4.7	+22.0	7.3	+20.0		6.7
			18 months	+3.0	+27.0	0.	9.0	+22.0	7.3	+20.0		6.7
r et		Office system (tailored to	Performance of	Performance of breast cancer screening for women age 50 years and older, % practices	creening fo	r women a	ıge 50 yea	rs and olde	r, % practic	es		
al., 1998) Quality: 6000	a pnysicians and general	practice) + attendance at end- of-intervention conference				Control		Office-sy	Office-system intervention		Effect measure ^h	sure ^h
	internists,				Before	After	%	Before	After	%	S	
	community primary care				n=30	n=27	change	n=32		change	[95% CI] p-value	e e
	practices (n=62) Female		Mammogram mention ⁱ		40.5	44.0	+3.5	38.7	51.4	+12.7	1.5 [1.1, 2.0] p=0.01	2.0] 1

1.1. [0.8, 1.4] p=0.56	1.3 [1.0, 1.6] p=0.06	1.4 [1.1, 1.9] p=0.01		stem + ional ntion 16	Relative change p-values	21.6 p<0.01	2.7 p<0.05	3.7 p<0.05	2.1	lean	19.0 p<0.01	1.5
1.1. 	1.3 [p:	1.4 [p:		Office system + Educational intervention n=26	% change	+36.8	+15.9	+19.6	+6.6	, practice m	+41.9	+8.6
+4.7	+5.3	+10.5		u	Relative change p-values	17.9 p<0.01	2.2 p<0.05	3.2	7.0 p<0.05	n services	13.3 p<0.01	2.1
32.7	46.4	38.7		Office system n=24		,– ∧	v ⊅	63	∠ ⊳d	detection	t A	
28.0	41.1	28.2	vention	Offi	% change	+30.5	+12.9	+16.7	+22.4	n and early	+29.2	+11.9
+3.4	-0.7	+2.3	d cancer pre	tional ention 26	Relative change p-values	20.0 p<0.01	1.0	1.5	1.0	er preventior	0.6	0.0
34.0	43.9	32.6	who receive mean ^j	Educational intervention n=26	% change	+34.0	+6.0	7.7+	+3.3	eived cance	+12.5	0.0
30.6	44.6	30.3	ale patients ces, practice	Control n=26	% change	-1.7	-5.8	-5.3	-3.2	ients who red	+2.2	+5.6
Mammogram report	Clinical breast examination	Mammogram mention + clinical breast examination	Proportion of eligible female patients who received cancer prevention and early detection services, practice mean $^{\rm J}$	Service	6	Mammogram (age >50 years)	Clinical breast examination	Recommendation for breast self examination	Cervical cytology	Proportion of eligible patients who received cancer prevention and early detection services, practice mean	Faecal occult blood test (age >50 years)	Rectal examination
			Intervention 1: Office system (tailored	to practice) Intervention 2: Educational intervention Intervention 3:	Office system (tailored to practice) + educational intervention							
Female patients ≥50	years with no previous diagnosis of	cancer (n=2,887), (n=40-200 charts audited per practice) Rural North Carolina, USA	Family physicians and	general internists within ambulatory care practices	Patients aged 42+ years New	Hampshire & Vermont, USA						
			Level III-1: Quasi RCT	Quality: Good								
			(Dietrich et al., 1992)									

		Sigmoidoscopy (age >50 years)	+20.0	+7.1	0.4	+24.0	1.2	+12.5	9.0
		Recommendation to decrease dietary fat	-4.1	+11.6	2.8	+14.3	3.5 p<0.05	+8.5	-2.0
		Recommendation to increase fibre intake	+11.8	+18.8	1.6	+20.0	1.7	-17.1	-1.4
		Recommendation for smokers to guit	-8.2	+8.2	1.0	+1.2	0.1 p<0.05	+2.6	0.3
^a Priming involved 15-minute audio-taped "patient-priming" program on alcohol risk behaviours; ^b baseline scores not provided, but adjusted for using generalized estimating equations (GEE) method; ^c General linear mixed model regression; ^d Screening information included cholesterol level, diagnosis of hypertension or smoking status information; ^e Baseline scores not included due to space restrictions and were reported	" " program on alcohol risk behaviour cluded cholesterol level, diagnosis c	ehaviours; ^b baseline scores not pro gnosis of hypertension or smoking	rovided, but adju g status informa	usted for using tion; ^e Baselin	generalized scores not i	d, but adjusted for using generalized estimating equations (GEE) meth us information; ^e Baseline scores not included due to space restrictions	ations (GEE) space restrict	nethod; ^c Gene ions and were	eral reported

mammography was considered even if the patient didn't follow though; ¹ Two-way ANCOVA arcsin transformed proportions with baseline as covariates; CBE = clinical breast examination; Cl = confidence intervals; NS = not significant; OR = odds ratio; Ql = quality improvement RCT = randomised controlled trial. as adjusted for using GEE method; fAt risk patients have at least one of the following characteristics: self-identified smoker, a medical record diagnosis of hypertension, a cholesterol level of >200; 9 Risk management includes counselling or pharmaceutical treatment for at least one risk factor, ^h Logistic regression models used in analysis, ¹ Mention' includes all cases of 'reported' mammography or where
			iming ^{ab} pts	After 12 months	1.04 [0.60, 1.81]	1.50 [0.91, 2.46]	1.25 [0.76, 2.06]	1.22 [0.79, 1.89]	2.86 [1.13, 7.26] p<0.05		p-value ^e	,	0.01	<0.001	0.10	0.11	0.07	0.09	0.03	
			Control vs patient-priming ^{ab} + provider prompts OR [95% CI]	After 6 months Afte	1.74 [0.90, 3.35] 1.04	2.08 [1.29, 3.35] 1.50 p<0.01	1.49 [0.80, 2.80] 1.2	1.65 [0.98, 2.79] 1.2	4.71 [1.55, 14.30] 2.86 p<0.01	t means ^c	Mean difference	between 1 and 2 ^d	-1.1	-2.3	-0.10	1.6	-0.12	0.03	-0.13	
	alth status)									/-up, least squares	2 - Counselling	_	-1.1	-2.3	-0.11	-2.3	-0.10	0.01	-0.01	
	Patient outcomes (health status)	ents	ol vs patient-priming ^{ab} only OR [95% CI]	Control vs patient-priming ^{ab} only OR [95% CI]	s After 12 months	0] 1.03 [0.63, 1.69]	3] 1.19 [0.74, 1.92]	9] 2.31 [1.31, 4.07] p<0.01	0] 1.76 [1.12, 2.77] p<0.05	1] 3.00 [1.44, 6.24] p<0.05	12 months follow	1 - Counselling 2 -		-0.4	-1.0	0.02	-1.0	0.05	0.01	-0.06
	Patier	ed, % of adolesc	Control vs p OI	After 6 months	1.17 [0.57, 2.40]	1.27 [0.76, 2.13]	1.29 [0.67, 2.49]	1.87 [0.81, 4.30]	3.44 [1.07, 11.01] p<0.01	from baseline to	Control 1 - C		0.0	0.0	-0.01	-0.7	0.03	-0.02	0.12	
SD		Alcohol use outcomes reported, % of adolescents	Alcohol use outcome		Hung around with friends while they drank	Refused to drink when asked by others	Drank last 30 days	Drank last 3 months	Binged last 3 months	Change in patient outcomes from baseline to 12 months follow-up, least squares means $^{\rm c}$		utcome				Total fat, % energy				
		Alcohol u	Alcohol us		Hung around wit while they drank	Refused to drink asked by others	Drank last	Drank last	Binged las	Change i		Patient outcome	SFA, % energy	Weight, kg	LDL cholesterol,	Total fat, ⁶	Total cholesterol, mmol/L (mg/dL)	HDL cholesterol, mmol/L (mg/dL)	Triglycerides, mmol/L (mg/dL)	
ו מטופ סט. בוופניועפוופסט טו ופנטוע מוומיטו טווונפ סאסופוווט – ר מוופוון טמונטווופט	Intervention	Intervention 1:	Adolescent priming ^a on alcohol risk behaviours with adolescent self-assessment	Adolescent priming ^a on	alcohol risk behaviours with adolescent self-assessment	and educational procritice + provider prompting				Intervention 1:	Training program for	priysician-uenvered nutrition counselling	Training program + office -	support program (including office prompts.	algorithms, simple dietary					
	Target population	Primary health	care providers (n=26), Washington DC and Marvland	USA	Patients aged 12 to 17 years (n=444)					Primary care	internists	Massachusetts, USA								
	Level and quality of evidence	Level II: RCT	Quality: Good							Level III-1: quasi-	RCT	Quality: average								
	Reference	(Boekeloo et	al., 2003; Boekeloo et al., 2004)							(Ockene et	al., 1999)									

Table 58. Effectiveness of record and/or office systems – Patient outcomes

	Total-cholesterol - HDL ratio	0.1	0.1	-0.1	-0.2	0.004
^a Priming involved 15-minute audio-taped "patient-priming" program on alcohol risk behaviour adjusted for age, gender and education; ^d Post-intervention (after scores) data not reported, o	behaviours; ^b Controlling for cohort, physician sex, office location, adolescent age, sex, ethnicity etc; ^c Mixed effe eported, only baseline and change scores reported; ^e T-test compared least squares means for intervention grou	rt, physician sex, offic je scores reported; ^e T	office location, adolesce l; ^e T-test compared leas	tolescent age, sex, ethnicity ed least squares means for	ethnicity etc; $^{\circ}$ Mixed effects model , sans for intervention group 1 and 2;	el ANOVA 2;

CI = confidence intervals; HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; NS = not significant; OR = odds ratio; SFA = saturated fatty acids; RCT = randomised controlled trial.

atient outcomes
L L
ventions
nter
care) ii
(integrated
inary (
scipli
ti-dis
mult
of
ectiveness
. Eff
59
Table

Reference	Level and quality Target of evidence popula	Target population	Intervention	Patient outcomes (health status)	ealth status)						
(Diabetes	Level III-1: quasi-	Hospital	Computer-coordinated	Patients' metabolic control, mean \pm SD	ontrol, mean ±	: SD					
Integrated Care Evaluation	RCT Quality: average	diabetic clinic, general practice	integrated care (general practice plus hospital diabetes clinic)	Metabolic control indicators	3	Conventional care	e	_	Integrated care		Effect measure
Team, 1994)		groups (n=3), Adult diabetic			Before n≥103	After n≥106	% change	Before n≥117	After n≥120	% change	Relative change
		patients (n=274) attending a		Glycated haemoglobin ^a (%)	5.3±1.4	5.3±1.7	0	5.3±1.4	5.3±1.7	0	0
		hospital clinic		Body mass index	28.3±5.6	27.9±4.5	-1.4	27.6±8.5	28.7±7.6	0'7+	2.9
		and registered		Creatinine (mol/l)	90.4±26.3	100.6±29.8	+11.3	88.9±19.1	102.2±28.8	+15.0	1.3
		general practices		Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	153.9±24.8	156.4±25.7	+1.6	155.9±27.1	161.5±25.1	+3.6	2.2
		Grampian, Scotland		Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	84.8±11.5	83.5±9.9	-1.5	85.6±15.6	84.3±11.1	9.0+	0.4
^a The compari	ison between the study	arouns on alveated	^a The commarison between the study grouns on glycated haemorlohin for which we had t	had haseline information on a different scale from that collected at final review was nerformed by analysis of covariance the	a different scale	e from that colle	icted at final rev	iew was nerfon	med hv analvsis	s of covariance	the

^a The comparison between the study groups on glycated haemoglobin for which we had baseline information on a different scale from that collected at final review, was performed by analysis of covariance, the means reported were adjusted at the mean level of the baseline scale; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation.

Reference	Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Intervention	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	nes (practitio	ners' beha	ivioural ch	ange)				
(Sikka et al.,	Level II: RCT		Nurse case management	Renal assessment rates, % of patients	ent rates, % o	of patients						
1999)	Quality: average	ls betic	conducted by a registered nurse / certified diabetes educetor trained to			Us	Usual care n=50		Nurse C	Nurse Case Management n=51	ement	Effect measure p-value
		pauerus (n=133) Jacksonville	follow diabetes management algorithms		Be	Before	After	% change	Before	After	% change	Relative change
		Health Care Group, Florida,		Quantitative protein/microalbumin		18.0	32.0	+14.0	25.6	52.9	+27.3	1.95 p<0.05
		USA		Dipstick test	71	70.0	58.0	-12.0	68.6	51.0	-17.6	1.6
				Follow-up test in eligible patients ^a		28.1	51.9	+23.8	33.3	80.7	+47.4	2.0 p<0.05
(Campbell et	Level II: RCT	General	Nurse-run clinics implemented	Effect of nurse-run clinics compared to control, OR [95% CI]	run clinics co	ompared to	o control, C	JR [95% CI]				
al., 1998; Raftery, Yao, Murchio	Quality: average	practices (n=19) Dotionte <80	in general practice that promote medical and lifestyle	Appropriate ^b secondary prevention	ntion			Nurse-run clinic OR [95% CI]	linic OR [95	% cı]		p-value °
Mulchie, Campbell, &		years	coronary heart disease	Aspirin management	nent			3.22 [3.22 [2.15, 4.80]			<0.001
Ritchie,		diagnosed with		Blood pressure management	nanagement			5.32 [5.32 [3.02, 9.41]			<0.001
(cnnz		coronary neart disease,		Lipids management	ent			3.19 [3.19 [2.39, 4.26]			<0.001
		(n=1,265)		Moderate physical activity	al activity			1.67 [1.67 [1.23, 2.26]			0.001
		Grampian, Northeast		Low fat diet				1.47	1.47 [1.10, 1.96]			0.009
		Scotland		Non-smoking				0.78 [0.78 [0.47, 1.28]			0.322
				Cumulative score of secondary prevention for nurse-run clinic	re of seconds	ary preven	ition for nu	ırse-run clin	ic			
				Before	After	% ch	% change	Before	After		% change	Relative change p-value
				3.23	3.29	1	1.9	3.31	3.89	6	17.5	9.2 p<0.001

Table 60. Effectiveness of alternative care approach – Process outcomes

			feedback plus nsultation 36	Relative change p-value	1.0	3.8 p≤0.1	0.4 p≤0.1	0.7	5.1	0.3	1.9	1.0	0.2	5.0	2.2 p≤0.1	3.7 p≤0.1
			QI workshop + feedback plus Clinical Consultation n=36	% change ^a	-35.3	-10.0	-3.6	+14.4	-15.2	+13.0	-43.5	+9.3	-5.1	-9.5	-17.4	+4.1
			+ feedback 37	Relative change	1.2	0.6	1.0	1.1	5.5	0.8	0.4	2.4	1.6	11.7	3.4	26.0
ange)			QI workshop + feedback n=37	% change ^a	-43.3	+1.5	-9.4	-20.9	-16.6	-33.3	-10.0	-23.1	-39.1	-22.2	-27.3	-28.6
' behavioural ch			Control n=33	% change ^a	-35.5	-2.6	0.6+	+20.0	-3.0	+41.2	+22.6	-9.5	+23.9	-1.9	-8.0	-1.1
Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	-	Quality indicator scores, mean	Quality indicator outcome measures		Incidence of new fracture	Prevalence of falls	Prevalence of behavioural symptoms affecting others	Use of 9 or more different medications	Prevalence of occasional or frequent bladder or bowl incontinence without a toileting plan	Prevalence of indwelling catheters	Prevalence of fecal impaction	Prevalence of weight loss	Prevalence of bedfast residents	Prevalence of daily physical restraints	Prevalence of little or no activity	Prevalence of stage 1-4 pressure ulcers
Reference Level and quality Target Intervention		Assessed 2 quality improvement (OI)	interventions: Interventions: teach staff about QI and how	to use QI report (feedback) that receive quarterly throughout study	Intervention 2: workshop and QI feedback reports plus	additional consultation support by clinical nurse specialist to assist facilities in interpreting	Ql report									
Target	population	Nursing facilities	(n=113), nursing home residents,	Missouri, USA												
Level and quality	of evidence	Level: III-1: quasi- RCT	Quality: Average													
Reference		(Rantz et al., 2001)														

Table 61. Effectiveness of continuous quality improvement – Process outcomes

				Prevalence of stage 1-4 pressure ulcers (low risk)	stage 1-4 (low risk)	6.9-	-6.1	6.0	+8.0	1.2 p≤0.1
(Irvine Doran	Level III-1: quasi-	Health care	CQI intervention: CQI	Change in beh	Change in behaviour and CQI knowledge, mean±SD	nowledge, mean:	ŦSD			
et al., 2002)	RCI Quality: poor	protessionals (n=149) in 25 COI health care	education, patient care training, conflict management, annlication of COI in	Contro	Control (delayed intervention) n=10 teams	ention)		CQI intervention n=15 teams		Effect measure °
		teams, Ontario,	clinical practice	Before	After ^b	% change	Before	After ^b	% change	Relative change
		Canada		CQI knowledge scores d	scores ^d					
				49.6±7.2	62.3±6.0	+25.6	52.6±9.3	64.1±7.6	+21.9	0.0
				Functional grou	Functional group interaction scores ^e	e St				
				3.3±0.2	3.3±0.2	0	3.2±0.4	3.4±0.3	+6.3	NE
				Dysfunctional g	Dysfunctional group interactions scores	scores				
				3.9±0.2	4.0±0.2	+2.6	3.9±0.2	3.9±0.2	0	0
				Team success (Team success at improving patient outcomes and processes of care $^{\rm f}$	nt outcomes and p	processes of care	f		
							Succes	Success rating		
						Improved mean	Improved outcome mean±SD	No improv∉ mean	No improved outcome mean±SD	p-value ^g
				Change in CQI knowledge	knowledge	10.6±6.3	±6.3	13.0±7.7	±7.7	NS
				Change in functional group interaction ^h	tional in ^h	0.1±0.1	-0.1	0.1±0.2	±0.2	NS
				Change in dysfunctional group interaction	ันnctional เก	0.0±0.2	-0.2	0.1±0.2	±0.2	NS
^a before and al measures AN(^a before and after scores not provided due to space restrictions; analysis by logistic r measures ANOVA – differences compared to baseline for CQI knowledge and MAN	due to space restriction ared to baseline for C	^a before and after scores not provided due to space restrictions; analysis by logistic regression and adjustments using GEE method; ^b 3 months after intervention, before delayed intervention (control); ^c Repeated measures ANOVA – differences compared to baseline for CQI knowledge and MANOVA for group interactions; ^d CQI knowledge measured using newly-developed 36-item instrument; ^e measured using scale of a state of the	roup interactions;	regression and adjustments using GEE method; ^b 3 months after intervention, before delayed intervention (control); ^c Repeated OVA for group interactions; ^d CQI knowledge measured using newly-developed 36-item instrument; ^e measured using scale of	d; ^b 3 months afte measured using m	er intervention, befi ewly-developed 3	ore delayed interv 6-item instrument;	ention (control); ^c e measured using	Repeated scale of
effective group	o Interactions (vvatson at	na iviicnaeisen); ' Ette	errective group interactions (watson and Michaelsen). Effect of changes in UQI knowledge, functional group interactions and team proplem-solving effectiveness on improvement in patient outcomes and	unctional group in	teractions and tear	m problem-solving	T effectiveness on	Improvement in p	atient outcomes a	pL

errective group interactions (watson and Michaelsen); "Effect of changes in CQI knowledge, functional group interactions and team problem-solving effectiveness on improvement in patient outcomes and processes of care – rated by independent reviewers; ⁹ independent samples t-test between successful and unsuccessful teams; ^h groups differed significantly at baseline, therefore statistical analysis of between-group differences in 'change from baseline' are not provided (potentially misleading); CQI = continuous quality improvement; NE = not estimable; NS = not statistically significant (p>0.05); RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard deviation.

(Matowe et Le al., 2002) Ini se	of evidence	r arget population		Process outcomes (change in organisational structure or efficiency)	or efficiency)
	Level III-3:	376 general	Postal dissemination of Royal	Change in radiography referrals per month after guidelines, absolute change [95% Cl]	nes, absolute change [95% Cl]
ž Õ	interrupted unite series with no control Quality: Good	practitoriers, o <i>r</i> Grampian, Scotland	соледе от каиолодых (къск) Guidelines on general practitioner referrals for radiography	Radiology examinations	Effect measure ^a Absolute change [95% CI]
			- - -	Total examinations	-32.0 [-226.8, 291.5]
				Abdominal ultrasound	3.8 [-28.3, 58.9]
				Ankle x-rays	4.0[-5.8, 13.9]
				Barium meals	13.5 [23.1, 50.2]
				Chest x-rays	35.0 [-62.1, 132.1]
				Cervical spine x-ray	-5.1 [-31.8, 20.9]
				Foot and toe x-ray	1.2 [-10.8, 13.1]
				Hand and finger x-rays	1.7 [-10.7, 14.1]
				Hip x-rays	-9.3 [-25.8, 7.2]
				Kidney, ureters and bladder	27.0 [-70.9, 64.8]
				Knee x-rays	2.8 [-22.1, 27.8]
				Lumbar spine x-rays	-7.7 [-24.7, 40.2]
				Pelvic ultrasound	4.9 [-14.4, 24.3]
				Pelvis x-rays	30.6 [0,61.2]
				Shoulder x-rays	-4.6 [-15.9, 6.7]
				Sinus x-rays	-3.1 [-11.4, 5.2]
				Testicular ultrasound	-6.8 [-19.8, 6.1]
				Thoracic spine x-rays	-5.8 [-16.0, 4.4]

Table 62. Effectiveness of mail outs – Process outcomes

^a time series regressions were used to estimate effects; CI = confidence intervals.

Level and quality of evidence	Target population	Intervention			Process outc	omes (practitic	Process outcomes (practitioners' behavioural change)	al change)		
Level II: Cluster	17 general	Information:	Recorded risk factors, % of patients	ctors, % of patie	ints					
RCT Good quality	practices London UK	training and support for organisation of		Control n=254	Informat n=′	Information only n=257	Evidence only n=240	e only 40	Information & evidence n=223	& evidence 23
		Evidence:		Mean %	Mean %	Relative	Mean %	Relative	Mean %	Relative
		training and support for accessing and		change ^a [95% CI]	change ^a [95% Cl]	change	change ^a [95% CI]	change	change ^a [95% CI]	change
		interpreting evidence Information and evidence	Smoking status	-5.4 [-25.7, 15.0]	-5.2 [-16.0, 5.6]	1.0	-1.2 [-14.1, 12.1]	0.2	+13.7 [-6.5, 34.0]	2.5
			Blood pressure	-16.2 [-30.7, -1.7]	-1.1 [-23.1, 20.8]	14.7	-14.1 [-48.7, 20.5]	0.9	+0.7 [-33.0, 34.3]	0.0
			Cholesterol	+12.3 [-9.1, 33.8]	+11.5 [5.3, 17.8]	1.1	+7.2 [-8.1, 22.4]	0.6	+22.5 [7.9, 37.2]	1.8
			All risk factors	+6.5 [-8.1, 21.3]	+6.6 [-14.5, 27.7]	1.0	+7.2 [-19.4, 33.9]	1.1	+19.9 [0.5, 39.3]	3.1
			Prescribing behaviour, % of patients receiving medication	aviour, % of pati	ents receiving n	nedication				
			Aspirin	+3.4 [-0.5, 7.3]	-8.7 [-23.8, 6.4]	2.6	-2.2 [-10.5, 6.1]	0.6	+2.0 [-11.3, 15.3]	0.6
			Anti- hypertensives	-16.7 [-61.0, 27.6]	-22.5 [-70.8, 25.8]	1.4	-9.3 [-24.6, 13.2]	0.6	-27.3 [-48.6, -5.9]	1.6
			Lipid-lowering agents	+3.0 [-1.7, 7.7]	+6.0 [-0.5, 12.5]	2.0	+4.0 [-30.4, 11.8]	1.3	+4.4 [1.3, 7.5]	1.5
uster	Family	Academic detailing; audit	Changes in smoking cessation advice, posttest v baseline OR [95% CI] ^b	king cessation a	dvice, posttest	v baseline OR	[95% CI] ^b			
RCT Good quality	Physicians (n=60), in practices	and feedback; resources (patient and practice-based)				Control n=982	-	Mul	Multifaceted Intervention n=745	ıtion
	n=39), Patients	 Educational outreach (core) 	Asked about smoking status (all patients)	king status		1.67 [1.60, 1.75]	1.75]		1.74 [1.31, 2.31]	
	attenuing family practices	2. Audit and feedback	Advise smoker to quit	quit		1.76 [0.78, 3.98]	3.98]		1.92 [1.06, 3.49]	
	(n=1,241)	o. raiterit education materials	Discuss health risks of smoking	ks of smoking		1.73 [0.80, 3.72]	3.72]		2.60 [1.43, 4.74]	
	Australia		Discuss passive smoking	moking		2.17 [0.94, 1.61]	1.61]		2.49 [0.90, 6.88]	
			Provide practical advice	advice		1.19 [0.55, 2.58]	2.58]		2.81 [1.46, 5.41]	

Table 63. Effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions – Process outcomes

Provide written materials Recommend nicotine gum
Recommend nicotine patches Arrange follow-up appointment
Refer to a smoking clinic
Document smoking status (all patients) ^d
Document smoking cessation advice
Proportion of patients for whom each and all recommendations of the CPGs were fulfilled, $\%$
Recommendation
Limit number of sessions in normal course
Set functional treatment goals
Use mainly active ingredients
Give adequate information
All four recommendations
Gynaecologists' compliance with CPG recommendations, $\%$ mean unit compliance \pm SD
Recommendation (total number eligible cases)
Appointment with gynaecologist within 5 days of referral (n=1430)
Ascertainment of cervical cytology history (n=1074)
Offer of contraceptive supplies if required prior to discharge (n=1474)
Antibiotic prophylaxis or screening for lower genital tract organisms (n=1474)

1.00 [0.27, 1.77]		p-value ⁱ	0.154	0.063		Effect Measure Chi-square	6.3 p=0.01	0.1 p=0.74		Mean difference [95% CI]	0.4 [0.2, 0.6]	0.2 [0.0, 0.3]		Effect	measure	Relative change OR [95% CI] ^j	2.4 1.7 [1.2, 2.4] p=0.004	4.5 1.5 [1.1, 2.2] p=0.02	
1.00											0	0		tion		% change	+19.0	0.6+	
100 (86.5-100) ^f		Multifaceted intervention ^h _{n=73}	2.1±1.3	2.2±1.4		Multifaceted intervention ^h n=55	61.8	56.4		Multifaceted intervention ^h n=58	1.1±0.6	1.3±0.4	of decisions	Multi-faceted intervention	n=61	After	62.0	0.67	
100 (FSD ^g	Multifacet			S	Multifacet				Multifacet	,		ed on number	Multi		Before	43.0	70.0	
100 (97.3-100) ^f	ice, mean score:	Access to library services ^h n=75	1.8±1.2	1.7±1.0	e, % of physiciar	Access to library services ^h n=60	38.3	53.3		Access to library services ^h n=61	0.7±0.5	1.1±0.4	iance rate % bas			% change	+8.0	-2.0	
100 (97.	mation in pract	Access to libr n=	1.8	1.7=	ane and Medlin	Access to libr n=	36	20		Access to libr n=	0.7=	1.1=	dations, compli	Control	n=62	After	48.0	65.0	
ective rost	research infor		nent		hing of Cochra				ge, mean ±SD				ith recommen			Before	39.0	67.0	
Misoprostol cost effective alternative to gemeprost (n=1472)	Physicians' use of research information in practice, mean score $\pm SD^g$		Hypothetical assignment n=50	Additional questions n=46	Self-reported searching of Cochrane and Medline, % of physicians		Searched Cochrane	Searched Medline	Change in knowledge, mean ±SD		Source knowledge	Concept knowledge	GPs' compliance with recommendations, compliance rate % based on number of decisions				Foot exam Eye exam		
	Workshop + newsletter +	access to information service, databases and electronic discussion list	Multifaceted intervention: 1. Educational materials	 Educational meetings Behavioural training 	4 Discussion list	o 1ailored services <i>Control group:</i> Access to librarv	services only						Education	Feedback	Feedback and support,	including education and guidance from a facilitator			
	Public health	priysiciaris working municipalities	with more than 3000 inhobitorio	Norway									General General Netherlands in in						
	Level II: RCT	bood quality											Level II: RCT	Good quality					
	(Forsetlund	et al., ∠000)											(Frijling et	al., 2002)					

1.6 1.5 [1.0, 2.3] p<0.05	1.0 1.3 [0.7, -2.5] p=37	1.1 1.1 [0.7, 1.9] p=0.61	0.8 1.0 [0.7, 1.5] p=0.81	0.8 1.0 [0.7, 1.5] p=0.96		Effect measure Relative change OR [95% CI] ^m		NE 1.1 [0.8, 1.5]	5.0 1.3 [0.9, 1.9]		1.7 1.6 [1.4, 1.8]	2.0 0.9 [0.6, 1.2]	NE 1.0 [0.8, 1.2]		2.5 2.0 [1.4, 2.9]
+8.0	+3.0	+11.0	-4.0	+4.0		G Rel		t.	1		L	0	-		2
73.0	0.79	44.0	66.0	66.0		ntion ge [95% CI] ^I		0, 5.0]	, 16.0]		, 10.0]	, 16.0]), 6.0]		, 8.0]
65.0	94.0	33.0	70.0	62.0		Intervention Mean % change [95% Cl] ¹		-2.0 [-9.0, 5.0]	5.0 [-6.0, 16.0]		5.0 [-1.0, 10.0]	8.0 [-1.0, 16.0]	1.0 [-4.0, 6.0]		5.0 [2.0, 8.0]
+5.0	+3.0	+10.0	-5.0	+5.0		ol e [95% CI]		6.0]	, 8.0]		2.0]	11.0]	5.0]		5.0]
66.0	95.0	47.0	65.0	64.0		Control Mean % change [95% CI]		0.0 [-6.0, 6.0]	-1.0 [-10.0, 8.0]		-3.0 [-8.0, 2.0]	4.0 [-3.0, 11.0]	0 [-5.0, 5.0]		2.0 [-2.0, 5.0]
61.0	92.0	37.0	0.07	59.0	ince rates ^k , %		nypertension		'advice	ion	'advice	ensive		mia	
Medication review	BP measurement	Medication change	Schedule follow- up	BMI review	Change in compliance rates ^k , % Newly diagnosed hypertension Assess risk factors Provide information/advice Provide information/advice Increase anti-hypertensive medication Schedule follow-up Schedule follow-up Assess risk factors										
					Educational outreach	Feedback									
					124 general	practices Netherlands									
					Level II: RCT	Good quality									
					(Frijling et	al., 2003)									

				Provide information/advice		0.0 [-6.0, 6.0]		7.0 [1.0, 13.0]	[0]	1.	NE 1.6 [1.2, 2.1]
				Angina pectoris							
				Assess risk factors		0.0 [-7.0, 6.0]		8.0 [2.0, 15.0]	[0]	С	NE 3.1 [1.1, 8.8]
				Provide information/advice		-9.0 [-23.0, 4.0]		-7.0 [-18.0, 4.0]	4.0]	1.	0.8 1.0 [0.6, 1.7]
				Prescribe aspirin and sublingual nitrate		1.0 [-14.0, 17.0]		10.0 [-1.0, 21.0]	1.0]		10.0 1.4 [0.9, 2.4]
				Heart failure							
				Monitor clinical signs of deterioration		-7.0 [-17.0, 2.0]		12.0 [0.0, 25.0]	5.0]	4.	1.7 4.1 [2.2, 7.8]
				Provide information/advice		6.0 [-2.0, 15.0]		0.0 [-8.0, 8.0]	[0]	0.0	0.0 [0.9 [0.4, 1.7]
(Margolis et	Level II: RCT	Private	Continuing education	Proportion of patier	Proportion of patients receiving all age appropriate preventive services $^{\mathrm{n}},\%$	appropriate pre	ventive serv	ices ⁿ , %			
al., ∠004)	പ്പാരർ quality	paeciatric and family practices in 2 regions	(academic detailing; mini- lectures) + process improvement (PSDA cycle)		Control	Control practices n=22	Z	Multifaceted intervention practices n=22	tervention pr a n=22	actices	Effect measure
		North Carolina	methods to implement office systems including audit & feedback, tools including flow sheets	Time from baseline	% children with all services	Ratio of change from baseline		% children with all services	Ratio of change from baseline	change aseline	Ratio of intervention v control ^o [95% CI]
			1 Educational maatings	12 months	6			7			
			(interactive CME) (core)	18 months	10	1.0		17	2.	5	2.4 [0.9, 6.5]
			2. Educational outreach	24 months	10	1.1		28	4.2	2	4.1 [1.4, 10.7]
			3. Audit and feedback	30 months	10	1.1		34	5.1	1	4.6 [1.6, 13.2]
(Schectman	Level II: RCT	14 group	Educational session with	Use of clinical servi	Use of clinical services, % patients based on episode of care	ed on episode o	f care				
et al., 2003)	Good quality	practices 106 clinicians	local opinion leader Audit and feedback			Control n=20 clinicians		Multiface n=2	Multifaceted intervention n=20 clinicians	tion	Effect measure
		Washington		Total use of services							
					Before	After	%	Before	After	%	Relative change
							change			change	
				Lumbosacral spine x-ray	-ray 21.0	18.0	-3.0	31.0	19.0	-12.0	4.0
				Physical therapy referral	erral 13.0	13.0	0.0	12.0	10.0	-2.0	NE
				Lumbosacral CT or MRI	ARI 5.6	7.1	+1.5	7.6	5.6	-2.0	1.3

28	12.0	24000		150	0.7	12	15	31	540 (M2		Effect measure	Réditive change	0.2 NIS		Relative change	0 NS		Reistive change	0 N		
-34	-100			-54	19	22	-24	18-				S change	5		Scharge	0		S change	503		dhadi
23	31.0			10	25	35	11	212			Multitacted Intervention In-16 specielss	ų	88		ų	1 [0-2]	(adue) uey	an a	26.12		Opinion leader & feedback
12.0	41.0			145	10.0	21	56	562		north perio	Multitaceter In File 9	*		1	*	**	inctor, med	*	24		Opinion
+12	-10			4	ŧ	61+	91+	428		ber across 54			306	s median (ran	Belor	103	ed D&Cs per d	Béána	lerod or		_
11	20			10	120	24	56	243		sformed, num		s change	665	ELECTRESS SCOLE	S change	0	teroscopies a	5 change	0	atients	78
29	88		10	82	62	35	4.0	215		nd DBCs pr		-	_	Statios, 24	-				<i>a</i> r	ina. S of p	E Sta
	e	100	with guideline	ile real	ieferal	or life!		8	n guidelines	a reigioosone	Educational material Infil specialists	4	142	din clinical sca	4	103	El Buixpoque	14 14	25 (10:45)	unstable ang	
Specially referral	1 ar more of above	Overali change in use	Ube inconsistent with guidelines	Lumbosacral spine r-ray	Physical therapy referral	Lundesseral CT or MR	Sector Interest	1 ar more of above	Overali change in consistency with guidelines	Number of hysteroscopies and D&Os performed, number across 6-month period		Before	R	Performance with clinical scenarios, avaraness scores median (range) ⁷	Before	1(0-3)	Perceised referral booking rates for hysteroscopies and DBOs per doctor, median (range)?	Before	25(8-100)	Banagement of unstable angina, % of patients	
										CPGs protien-based	interactive workship; opinion leader: printed	(aminated algorithm and guidelines)	Multi-facetert intervention: 1. Educetional	7 Educational materials	3 Opinion Landers 4 Local consensas	processes Control	Educational materials alone			Local opinion leader	Freedback
										Specificiti and	trainees providing	public teaching hospital	gynaecology units with +2 mm +3 mm	released	production per	patients 440 years diage				36 hospitals	Patients
										Level 1: RCT	Average quality									Level II-t	ques-RCT
										Seafest	al, 2002)									Februar	al, 2001)

Relative change OR [95% CI] ^q	3.0 1.1 [0.7, 1.8]	1.0 0.5 [0.3, 1.2]	1.0 0.6 [0.3, 1.3]	5.5 1.3 [0.9, 2.0]	2.2 0.8 [0.6, 1.0]	0.9 [0.6, 1.4]	0.8 [0.3, 2.3	0.7 [0.3, 1.5]	1.3 [0.6, 2.6]		Effect measure	Relative change p-value ^r		4.1 p<0.05	2.0 NS	0.2 p<0.01
% change OR [95% CI]	+3.0 [1.2 [0.9, 1.5]	-8.0 0.7 [0.2, 2.0]	-6.0 0.8 [0.4, 1.6]	+11.0 1.6 [1.1, 2.2]	-13.0 0.6 [0.4, 0.8]	0.6 [0.4, 0.9]	1.2 [0.9, 1.6]	1.0 [0.7, 1.4]	0.9 [0.5, 1.8]		/ention	% change		+14.7	+3.6	-2.5
After	85.0	64.0	57.0	57.0	41.0	NA	AN	NA	NA	s	Facilitated intervention	After		21.6	41.2	79.7
Before	82.0	72.0	63.0	46.0	54.0	NA	NA	NA	NA	eligible patient	Fa	Before		6.9	37.6	82.2
% change OR [95% CI]	-1.0 0.9 [0.6, 1.3]	+8.0 1.6 [1.1, 2.4]	+6.0 1.3 [1.0, 1.8]	+2.0 1.1 [0.9, 1.4]	-6.0 0.7 [0.7, 0.9]	0.8 [0.6, 1.1]	1.5 [0.8, 2.6]	1.0 [0.5, 1.9]	0.8 [0.4, 1.4]	hart, mean % e		% change		+3.6	-1.8	+15.8
% c OR [1.6 [1.3	1.1	0.7 [0.8 [1.5 [1.0 [0.8 [n patient cl	Control	After		12.9	38.7	81.7
After	83.0	0.77	68.0	51.0	47.0	ΝA	NA	NA	NA	tracted fror		Before		9.3	40.5	65.9
Before	84.0	69.0	62.0	49.0	53.0	NA	NA	NA	NA	Reported preventive care abstracted from patient chart, mean % eligible patients			practice ^s		tion	
	Aspirin	Heparin	Aspirin + heparin	Beta- blockers	Calcium channel blockers	Nitrates	Coronary angiography	Echo- cardiography	Rehabilitation	Reported prev			Recommended practice ^s	Folic acid supplementation	Smoking cessation counselling	Hypertension management
										Facilitated intervention	Facilitators visited practices, using 7 interventions (audit	and feedback; consensus processes; opinion leaders; educational outreach; educational materials:	reminders; patient-mediated	preventive care		
admitted with unstable angina										46 primary care	practices Ontario	Canada				
Good quality										Level III-1:	quasi-RCT Good quality					
										(Lemelin et	al., 2001)					

2.6 NS	6.7 NS	4.5 NS	4.7 p<0.05	2.6 NS	3.6 p<0.01		79.0 p<0.01	0.3 p<0.05	2.9 NS	7.5 NS	0.1 NS	0.5 p<0.05	56.5 p<0.001		Effect measure	Relative change Intervention effect [95% CI] ^u	3.5 10.0 [-7.0, 26.0]
+13.9	+7.4	+5.4	+18.7	+6.5	+10.0		-7.9	+2.5	+11.7	+1.5	-0.3	-1.4	+11.3		ntion	% I change	+7.0
67.5	21.6	66.2	64.8	75.1	62.3		13.5	27.9	28.4	3.9	12.0	19.1	43.2		Multifaceted intervention	After n=840	76.0
53.6	14.2	60.8	46.1	68.6	52.3		21.4	25.4	16.7	2.4	12.3	20.5	31.9	tients	Multifa	Before n=762	0.69
+5.3	-1.1	+1.2	+4.0	+2.5	+2.8		-0.1	9.7+	+4.1	-0.2	+4.4	+3.0	-0.2	tions, % of pa		% change	-2.0
58.7	20.6	59.1	53.4	72.4	57.4		24.7	33.7	24.6	2.0	6.6	25.5	31.9	entation of ac	Control	After n=664	73.0
53.4	21.7	57.9	49.4	6.69	54.6		24.8	26.1	20.5	5.2	5.5	22.5	32.1	way – docume		Before n=640	75.0
Mammography (women 50-69 years)	STD screening	Pap smear	Influenza vaccination	Blood pressure measurement	Overall up-to-datedness	Inappropriate practices ^t	Proteinurea screening	Blood glucose screening	Prostate-specific antigen testing	Chest radiography	Mammography (women 40-49 years)	Overall inappropriateness	Overall preventive performance	Compliance with care pathway – documentation of actions, % of patients			Primary aetiology of heart failure
														Interdisciplinary team	approach	CME Patient educational material Feedback	
														10 hospitals	Patients	diagnosed with heart failure New York	
														Level III-1:	quasi-RCT		
														(Philbin et	al., 2000)		

012	Tion Dial
140 150	
640 660	N/77
002 05 <u>1</u>	- 1973 - L
Change in skills, competency and knowledge, mean [85% C]	e.fo
Control	
Before Difference after 7 months	
518 (459, 57.4)	89
533 [BEA 51.2]	85
711[64,754]	-
81,523,639	65
511 ¥18 655	65
S21[445,597]	69
566[527, 605]	65
उठा हिम ६ उठ व	103
mean % of prescribed defined daily doses (p00s) [55% CI	5
Control	
Before Ather Jack of Jack of	1 1

0.1 [-2.2, 8]	2.7 [-1.3, 5.9]	1.7 [-6.3, 1.6]	0.1 [-6.8, 0] p=0.047		1.1 [-36.3, 3.7]	1.0 [-7.8, 35.3]		0 [-13.7, 9.2]	0.2 [-8.8, 15.7]			Effect measure	Relative change p-value ^z	3.3 p=0.03	1.2 p=0.64	0.3 p=0.13		
-0.3	1.6	-1.5	-0.2		-8.4	7.1		+0.1	+0.5			ntion	% change	-4.3	-2.6	+0.4		ntion
43.2 [39.8, 46.6]	25.8 [21.0, 30.6]	15.4 [13.0, 17.9]	14.8 [11.3, 18.3]		52.6 [28.6, 76.6]	44.9 [20.2, 69.6]		15.4 [8.4, 22.4]	82.6 [76.2, 89.1]			Multifaceted intervention	After	43.8	42.0	12.9		Multifaceted intervention
43.5 [40.4, 46.6]	24.2 [20.8, 27.5]	16.9 [13.8, 20.0]	15.0 [11.4, 18.6]		61.0 [24.3, 79.8]	37.8 [19.6, 55.9]		15.3 [5.7, 24.9]	82.1 [71.5, 92.7]			Multi	Before	48.1	44.6	12.5		Multi
-3.2	9.0-	+0.9	+3.1		6'.2+	-6.8		+2.3	-2.9			nfection)	% change	-1.3	-2.2	+1.6		oat)
45.5 [41.0, 50.0]	26.5 [23.5, 29.6]	13.5 [10.8, 16.3]	14.1 [10.5, 17.8]		76.0 [70.5,81.6}	23.3 [17.8, 28.9]		18.1 [12.8, 23.4]	78.8 [72.3, 85.3]			Control (Urinary Tract Infection)	After	49.5	39.7	14.1		Control (Sore throat)
48.7 [44.6, 52.8]	27.2 [23.2, 31.2]	12.6 [9.4, 15.9]	10.9 [8.2,13.6]		68.1 [62.2, 74.0]	30.2 [23.7, 36.7]		15.8 [12.6, 18.9]	81.7 [78.1, 85.3]	% of practices		Control (Before	50.8	41.9	12.5		Col
Diuretics	Beta-blocking agents	Calcium channel blockers	Agents acting on rennin-angiotensin system	Peptic ulcer/dyspepsia ^x	Proton-pump inhibitors	H2-receptor antagonists	Depression ^y	Tricyclic antidepressants	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors	Physicians' practices, % of practices	Sore throat			Use of antibiotics	Use of lab tests	Use of telephone consultations	Urinary tract infection	
4. Opinion leaders										Electronic and printed	educational materials	Decision support system reminders Interactive course	Financial incentive					
District, Stockholm	Sweden									142 general	practices	Norway						
										Level III-1:	quasi-RCT							
										(Flottorp et	al., 2003)							

10 p=0.64	24 p40.05	0.3 p=0.67		Bleet	Relative change OR (95% O) p-rative	13 15[08,14] p=0.71	32 12[0.7,24] p=0.6	23 1304.21 p=0.22	3.7 1.3[0.8, 2.2] p=0.24	12 13[06,26] p=0.57	47 P\$1001	13.0 p=0.11		Effect
42	-16	63		téon	% charge	77	77	6 5	+10.0	çç	413	0121+		tion.
463	49.8	19.8		Multifaceted Intervention In-2753	Ahe	720	6EL	612	285	147	87.0	5 10	5 0	Multifaceted Intervention n practices=413
46.5	115	20.1		No. of the second se	Before	316	68.7	517	49.2	84	192	689	reliations (301	Ser.
-02	45	-12	fion services, 1	dis only	Scharge	ş	루	ş	-27	ş	-24	ŧ	f diagnostic ev	87
131	89	591	moking pessat	Smoking persurfion CPGs only arCSE5	Ne.	52	318	ŝ	8	691	603	199	dementía, % o	Control n practices=122
432	535	20.1	who received s	Smoking	Before	308	705	88	306	129	81	573	evaluations of	
Use of antibiotics	Use of lab tests	Use of telephone consultations	Proportion of patients who received smoking cessation services, %		Services	Asied about smoking status (all patients)	Counselled to quit at last visit	Provided help at least visit	Behavioural	Medication	Documented smoking status	Documented counselling (smokers)	Physicians' diagnostic evaluations of dementia, % of diagnostic evaluations [50% CI]	
			Smoking cessation CPGs+	arganicational support - training meeting, study	detaing detaing Multi-faceted intervention: 1 Local consensus processes	 Educational meetings Educational outreach Contrait 	Smoking cessation CPCs only						Mail out of CPCs for	dementia, seminars, putresch visitis, reminders,
			Vieteran Affairs	(M) medical centres (1=20)	presenting to care (r=56/3) Minnecki, UGA								BHC	physicians and patients with
			Level II-1:	Quass RCT Poor quality									Level III-3: CBA	Agent afeany
			(Joseph et	al, 2004)									(Nation Fet.	al, 2003)

Relative change	0 NN	0.3 NS		Effect measure ^{aa}	Relative change [95% CI]		1.3 [-14, 0]	1.2 [-2, 6]		0.6 [15, 27]	1.0 [-13, -1]	1.6 [-16, -4]	1.2 [-5, 1]
% change	0	3.0		ntion	% change		+16.0	+20.0		0'.2+	+22.0	+11.0	-6.0
After n=230	0.2 [0.2, 0.2]	47.0 [40.0,60.0]		Multifaceted Intervention n practices=89	After		75.0	47.0		73.0	0:36	78.0	54.0
Before n=225	0.2 [0.2, 0.2]	44.0 [38.0,51.0]		Multi	Before		29.0	27.0		0.99	73.0	67.0	48.0
% change	0	9.0	ents		% change		+12.0	+17.0		+12.0	+21.0	0.7+	+5.0
After n=69	0.1 [0.1, 0.2]	49.0 [38.0,61.0]	tions, % of pati	Control n practices=99	After		86.0	50.0		83.0	92.0	76.0	49.0
Before n=62	0.1 [0.1, 0.2]	40.0 [29.0,53.0]	s recommendat		Before		74.0	33.0		71.0	71.0	0.69	44.0
	Diagnostic evaluations relative to population aged 65 years	Diagnostic evaluations leading to specialist referral	Compliance with CPGs recommendations, % of patients		CPG recommendations °	Asthma	Smoking status	Inhaler technique	Angina	Smoking status	Blood pressure	Aspirin prescribed / contraindicated / self-medicating	Beta-blocker prescribed / contraindicated
small group training	9 porg ning and with hma				 Educational outleadure 4. Patient medicated interventions 5. Reminders 	6. Marketing strategies							
dementia (n=727)													
			(Wright et	al., 2003)									

adjusted for patient's smoking status; ^e Logistic multilevel analysis to adjust for clustering and baseline scores; ^f Median (interquartile range) and median difference for skewed data; ^g Scores on guidelines recommend an increase in these activities, ¹ guidelines recommend a decrease in these activities; ^u linear regression model used to adjust for baseline differences; ^v Goal was for GPs to prescribe betatuberculosis, anaemia and lead; ^o Ratio of intervention vs control using logistic random regression model and Taylor series approximations; ^p Two-sample t-tests with 95% confidence levels for mean differences to equivalent baseline measures between groups; aa Analysed using ANOVA and regression models; ACE = angiotensin-converting enzyme; BMI = body mass index; BP = blood pressure; CI = confidence intervals; Before/after scores not provided due to space restrictions. Available on request; ^b logistic regression analysis conducted using generalised estimating equations (GEE), differences between groups assessed by Chi-square and Wilcoxon's rank sum tests; McNemar's test used for paired proportions. Fisher's exact test used where expected frequencies were less than 5, ^c adjusted for patient's age and stage of change for compare changes in study groups; ^q Chi-square test, corrected for cluster sampling using 2nd-order correction of Rao and Scott, was used to determine differences between intervention and control and between ndicator;¹ mean % change = mean percent change from baseline values;^m multi-level logistic regression analysis adjusted for baseline compliance rates and practice type;ⁿ immunisations and screening for and follow-up patients. Significance of changes was assessed using multivariate logistic regression to adjust for hospital type and patient characteristics, ^r general linear model – repeated measures; scales ranged from 1-5 (high); ^h values are post-test; baseline scores adjusted for using multiple regression (covariance) analysis; ⁱ tested by Mann-Whitney; ¹OR adjusted in multi-level analysis for baseline compliance, practice characteristics, patients' age and gender; ^k compliance rates = number of decisions concordant with guideline recommendations for an indicator/total number of decisions made for that MRI = magnetic resonance imaging; NE = not estimable; NS = not significant; OR = odds ratios; PHC = primary health care; PSDA = Plan, Study, Do, Act; RCT = randomised controlled trial; SD = standard Bradford and Airedale were allocated asthma guideline for active implementation; Huddersfield and Dewsbury were allocated the stable angina guideline; ² hierarchical logistic regression. Authors reported prescribing of H2-receptor antagonists; ^x Goal was for GPs to focus more on depression and to increase prescribing overall rather than to influence choice of drugs; ^y Study groups allocated geographically olocking agents and diuretics rather than calcium channel blockers and agents acting on the rennin-angiotensin system; "Goal was to decrease prescribing in general and per prescription and to increase CME = continuing medical education; CPG = clinical practice guideline; CME = continuing medical education; CT = computer tomography; D & C = Dilatation and Curettage; GP = general practitioner; deviation; STD = sexually transmitted disease

		Information & evidence	Relative	change		16.3	0.9	0.1		0.3	7.0		0.1			Effect measure	Relative change p-value	1.1 p>0.3		Effect measure	Relative change intervention effect [96% CI] ^b
		Information	Mean %	change	[95% CI] ^a	+6.5 [0.8.12.2]	+1.5 - +1.5 	-0.3	[-3.5, 2.8]	-3.2 [-19.6, 13.2]	-0.7	[-1.3, 0.0]	+0.9	[-7.9, 9.7]			% change	-3.4		Effe	
		nly	Relative	change		1.3	0.1	0.6		0.6	2.0		0.0			ervention	° °			/ention	% change
th status)		Evidence only	Mean %	change	[95% CI] ^a	+0.5 1-6.6.7.61	-0.1 -13.6 13.31	+1.5	[-3.9, 6.9]	-6.5 [-19.7, 6.7]	-0.2	[-0.2, 0.0]	-0.3	[-9.9, 9.4]		Multifaceted intervention	After	35.6		Multifaceted intervention	After n=840
Patient outcomes (health status)		n only	Relative	change	_	2.5	1.5	0.7		0.7	2.0		0.2			Ā	Before	39.0		Mul	Before n=762
Patient o		Information only	Mean %	change	[95% CI] ^a	-1.0 [-9.3.7.3]	-2.5 -2.5 L8 3 3 31	-2.0	[-5.6, 0.0]	-6.8 [-21.9, 8.3]	-0.2	[-0.5, 0.0]	+1.2	[-6.2, 8.6]	ents		% change	-3.3			% change
	f patients	Control	Mean %	change	[95% CI] ^a	+0.4 [-11.7, 12.6]		-2.7	[-7.3, 1.8]	-10.2 [-19.0, 1.4]	-0.1	[-0.8, 0.6]	9.9+	[-2.3, 15.4]	glucose, % pati	Control	After	33.8	tay, mean days	Control	After n=664
	Control of risk, % of patients					Current smokers	BP: mean systolic	BP: mean diastolic	(mmHg)	BP < 160/95	Total cholesterol	(mmol/l), mean	Total	cholesterol <5.5	Uncontrolled blood glucose, % patients		Before	37.1	Length of hospital stay, mean days		Before n=640
Intervention	Information: training and	support for organisation of nation	Evidence: training and	support for accessing and	interpreting evidence	Information and evidence									Education	Feedback Feedback and support,	including education and guidance from a facilitator		Interdisciplinary team	CME	Patient educational material Feedback
Target population								10 hospitals	Patients with	ulagrioseu heart failure New York											
Level and quality of evidence	Good quality Level II: cluster Good quality Good quality					Level III-1: quasi-	RCT Good guality	finge boo													
Reference	(Langham et														(Frijling et	al., 2002)			(Philbin et		

Table 64. Effectiveness of multi-faceted interventions – Patient outcomes

				7.7 7	7.0 -9.1	8.0	6.2	-22.5	2.5 -1.1 [-2.9, 0.7]
				Mortality, % of patients	S				
				5.4 3	3.7 -1.7	5.9	5.2	2.0-	0.4 1.0 [-3.0, 5.0]
				Patient quality of life, mean Ladder of Life score	nean Ladder of Life	score			
				6.3	6.5 +3.2	6.6	6.5	-1.5	0.5 -0.3 [-1.6, 1.0]
(Sanci et al.,	Level III-1: quasi-	105 general	Educational strategies	Change in rapport, satisfaction and confidentiality, mean [95% Cl]	isfaction and confidu	əntiality, mean [95%	[]		
2000)	RCT Good quality	practitioners Melbourne	(workshop, materials, feedback, opinion leaders,		ŭ	Control n=51	Multifacete n	Multifaceted intervention n=54	
					Before	Difference after 7 months	Before	Difference after 7 months	p-value ^b
				Standardised patients' rapport and satisfaction	57.9 [61.4, 74.5]	-0.5 [-6.1, 5.0]	57.9 [64.9, 70.9]	6.0 [2.6, 9.5]	p=0.12
				Standardised patients' confidentiality	35.2 [29.3, 41.1]	4.0 [-10.3, 18.3]	42.2 [31.0, 53.4]	53.5 [49.3, 57.8]	p<0.01
(Joseph et	Level III-1: Quasi	Veteran Affairs	Smoking cessation CPGs +	Smoking cessation services received, %	rvices received, %				
al., 2004)	RCT Poor quality	(VA) medical centres (n=20) and all patients	organisational support – training meeting; study meetings: academic detailing		Smoking ces n	Smoking cessation CPGs only n=2925	Multifacete n⁼	Multifaceted intervention n=2753	Effect measure
		presenting for care (n=5678), Minnesota	1. Local consensus processes	Services	Before	After % change	Before	After % change	Relative change OR [95% CI]
		USA	2. Educational meetings 3. Educational outreach	Used medications in last year	33.8	41.1 +7.3	31.2	26.1 -5.1	0.7 0.6 [0.3, 1.0]
				Plan to quit in next 30 days	40.1	44.1 +4.0	40.2	41.4 +1.2	0.3 0.9 [0.5, 1.5]
^a Before/after scores not	scores not provided due	e to space restrictions	s. Available on request; ^b li	inear regression model used to adjust for baseline differences; BP = blood pressure; CI = confidence intervals; CME = Continuing	djust for baseline diffe	rences; BP = blood p	ressure; CI = confid	ence intervals; CME	= Continuing

Medical Education; CPG = clinical practice guideline; OR = odds ratios; RCT = randomised controlled trial.